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D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated 
(PSE: DMW) is an integrated property 
developer with expertise in land reclamation, 
construction and real estate development. It 
is the master developer and primary owner 
of Aseana City, a development project with a 
total land area of 107.5 hectares located along 
the coastal waters of Manila Bay. Since 1965, 
DMW has reclaimed more than 2.4 million 
sq.m. of land, leased or developed 260,000 
sq.m. of land and buildings, and completed 
over 140 construction and infrastructure 
projects including large, complex government 
developments throughout the Philippines.

About Us

Mission
To initiate and create sustainable city-scale real 
estate products which will complement and 
contribute to the local community and national 
development

Vision
To be the leading city-developer in the country
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Financial Highlights

RECURRING INCOME 
CONTRIBUTION 

(in PHP million)

2018 2019 2020

1,901
(88%)

1,959
(56%)

1,960
(72%)

2018 2019 2020

155,418

158,079 158,079

LEASED LAND AREA  
(in sq.m.)

2018 2019 2020

89,914 89,914

90,712

LEASABLE FLOOR AREA 
 (in sq.m.)

REVENUES
36% 

(P978,480,504)
Land Lease

30%
(P809,094,738)
Building Lease

6%
(P172,690,275)

Other revenues related to leasing

1%
(P24,802,115)
Construction

27%
(P749,297,294)

Sale of condominium units

P2.73B
TOTAL REVENUE

P2.13B
NET INCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITY HOLDERS 
OF THE PARENT COMPANY

FINANCIAL RATIOS
2020 2019 2018

Net Profit Margin 79% 64% 89%

Recurring Income Contribution 72% 56% 88%

Return on Equity 10% 11% 14%

Earnings Per Share P0.627 P0.699 P0.625

Current Ratio 1.47x 1.61x 1.62x

Debt-to-Equity Ratio 6% 3% 11%
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Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.
Chairman

commitment to continued growth and maximization 
of shareholder value amid this pandemic. Despite this 
pandemic, I am pleased to announce that we retained 
our dividend level at P0.047 per share. 

On the sustainability side, we continued to be guided 
by the pillars of our sustainability framework in 
addressing topics material to our organization. While 
this pandemic might have temporarily shifted the 
world’s collective focus from other global threats, we 
recognize that issues on sustainability will remain 
relevant and impactful even in the post-pandemic 
world. In 2020, I am pleased to report that we have 
significantly reduced our emissions per square meter by 
13%, and will continue to do our part in diminishing our 
carbon footprint. Alongside our financial performance, 
we remain committed to delivering non-financial 
performance that is meaningful and purposeful, as we 
recognize that sustainability and business resilience 
always go hand-in-hand.

To date, we are still constantly monitoring the 
developments of the pandemic, assessing risks and 
ensuring appropriate measures are in place to safeguard 
the welfare of our employees and to minimize the 
pandemic’s impact to our company. And while this 
scourge has brought about a darkness that we have 
never seen in our lifetimes, we are now finally seeing 
some light at the end of the tunnel with the introduction 
of vaccines against COVID-19. We have secured several 
types of vaccines and hope to protect most if not all of 
our employees and partners within the year. While 2020 
defined a period of social and economic disruptions on a 
global scale, I am hopeful that 2021 will usher in a period 
of recovery and renewal for everyone across the world. 

As I end this message, I would like to recognize the 
contributions and dedication of our employees during 
these unprecedented times. Our team adapted well to 
the changing circumstances even in the face of adversity 
and for that, I am extremely proud and grateful for 
their efforts and commitment to the company. Finally, I 
would also like to extend my gratitude to you, my fellow 
shareholders, for the unwavering support and trust over 
the years.  Looking ahead, I am confident that our team’s 
execution capabilities coupled with our 55-year heritage 
as an integrated construction and property development 
company will allow us to continue to weather the external 
headwinds we face and ultimately execute our vision for 
the company and our flagship project, Aseana City.

To my fellow shareholders,

We are presently living through one of the most notable 
events in human history. The COVID-19 pandemic 
has left no one untouched as it continues to disrupt 
economies and claim human lives on a global scale. 
At D.M. Wenceslao, resiliency has been the guiding 
principle of our company in navigating this time of great 
uncertainty. 

At an early stage, we responded to the then-looming 
situation with a well-prepared contingency plan that has 
been proven effective in ensuring not only the continuity 
of our business but also the health and safety of our 
stakeholders. As such, we implemented steps to ensure 
the wellness of our stakeholders and the properties that 
they utilize including but not limited to: the embedding 
of regular deep disinfection to our standard sanitation 
procedures in our properties; strategic placement of 
sanitizers, social distancing guidelines and measures, 
and other disinfection facilities within our buildings; the 
introduction of flexible working arrangements for our 
employees; and finally, the allotment of a P100-million 
contingency fund for our employees and tenants. We 
have also responded to calls of support from our tenants 
and the community in general – rent concessions and 
discounts were granted to our tenants and support 
through the form of COVID-19 relief aid was extended to 
the City of Parañaque. 

As the pandemic continues to change the way we do 
things and how we engage with our clients, we have also 
started our pivot to a more digital approach in the way 
we conduct our business. We have adopted the use of 
remote work and shifted to online meetings within our 
company, invested in VR technology for our planning 
and construction spaces, introduced asset management 
technology for our office portfolio,  deployed cloud-
based applications for our marketing solutions and 
initiated the use of online payment portals for our 
residential development payment and collection options. 

In the previous year, I wrote that we were accelerating 
our efforts to ensure excellence in our governance 
practices. This year, I am pleased to announce that 

Message to our
 STOCKHOLDERS

we have published our Risk Manual which 
formally institutionalizes our risk management 
procedures and integrates risk management 
practices across all of our business processes 
and operations. Now more than ever, we 
believe that the importance of sound 
enterprise risk management has risen to the 
forefront, as the current environment calls for 
the continuous evaluation and reassessment 
of our various processes and controls. 

Generating long-term value for our 
shareholders remains of great importance 
to us. The value enhancement strategies we 
employ in Aseana City are reflective of our 
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to P1.96 billion or 72% of our total revenues from 56% 
in the previous year. Our building leasing portfolio 
remained resilient amid the observed volatility in the 
business environment, maintaining a healthy occupancy 
of 93% by the end of the year. 

Our residential segment also delivered outstanding 
results for the year. The sale of condominium units 
increased to P749.3 million, up by 37% from the P547.7 
million recorded in the same period last year. By end of 
2020, we have successfully turned over 91% of our total 
inventory and recognized revenues amounting to P1.24 
billion for our first residential project, Pixel Residences. 
MidPark Towers, which is currently undergoing pre-
selling for its first three (3) towers, recorded presales 
totaling P6.2 billion for the year. Cancellations have been 
minimal in 2020, further highlighting the quality of the 
buyers of our residential projects. 

Our balance sheet also reflected a healthy financial 
position. We remain a cash generative business with low 
leverage and high level of liquidity. To put this in context, 
our total liquidity was nearly P15.8 billion, consisting of 

2020 proved to be one of the most challenging 
years in the history of D.M. Wenceslao. While it has 
brought significant challenges throughout the year, 
our Company’s growth and profitability fundamentals 
remain robust and stable. This year underpinned the 
resilience of our diversified business portfolio and 
adaptability capabilities of our team, evident in the 
steady performance we delivered for 2020. 

From risk to resilience
Despite the uncertainties brought upon by the 
pandemic, the risks that it posed upon our business 
have been minimal. In 2020, we recorded consolidated 
revenues of P2.73 billion while our net income 
attributable to equity holders ended at P2.13 billion in 
2020. Our recurring income, composed of revenues 
from rentals of land, building, and other revenues such 
as common use service area fees, continued to account 
for a substantial portion of our consolidated revenues. 
In 2020, total recurring income from rentals amounted 

Report of the
 CHIEF EXECUTIVE
      OFFICER
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Notwithstanding the delays caused by the pandemic 
during a period when no construction was allowed, 
we remain optimistic that we could accomplish our 
targeted completion dates for several projects in our 
pipeline. In fact, we have successfully deployed P5.04 
billion or 66% of our total net proceeds from our initial 
public offering for the development of our pipeline 
projects by the year-end. 8912 Asean Ave., our 69,000 
sq.m. office development and our largest one to date, 
is currently slated for completion in the second quarter 
of 2021. The construction of Parqal, our 78,000 sq.m. 
mixed-used development, is well underway and is 
scheduled for completion by the first quarter of 2022. 
The completion of these developments is expected to 
significantly boost our gross leasable area by 147,000 
sq.m. to 237,000, further strengthening our recurring 
income streams.

We are also opening our commercial project in Makati 
City, 58 Jupiter, by the middle of the year. 2020 also 
saw the acquisition of Erlag Building in Legazpi Village, 
Makati, bringing about our total leasable floor area to 
90,712 sq.m. from 89,914 sq.m. in the previous year.

We are still firmly 
committed to 
strengthening our 
current business 
models and seizing 
opportunities within the 
property sector...

Delfin Angelo C. Wenceslao
Chief Executive Officer

P5.0 billion cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
placements and P10.8 billion under our available credit 
facilities. This compares to our total outstanding loan 
which stood at only P1.4 billion, with almost 20% as 
non-current borrowings. And on top of it all, we are able 
to maintain dividends to shareholders at P0.047/share, 
marking the third consecutive year of dividend payout 
since the company went public.

Building for what’s next
Amid these challenging times, we are still firmly 
committed to our mission of creating sustainable 
city-scale real estate products. During the stringent 
lockdown period when mobility was restricted, our 
estate’s residents and office workers were still able to 
conveniently shop for their essential needs as retail 
shops and essential businesses can be found within the 
neighborhood. With the decrease in vehicular traffic, 
retail establishments were also able to serve captive 
office and residential developments in the vicinity. 
With that, this pandemic just further highlighted the 
importance and advantage of living in walkable mixed-
use master-planned communities.

79%
NET PROFIT RATIO

P2.73BCONSOLIDATED  
REVENUES

76%
GROSS PROFIT RATIO

This recent acquisition, alongside our Jupiter 
development, is indicative of our diversification strategy 
to enrich the quality of our current development 
pipeline, supporting our commitment to continued 
growth. To date the company is still actively looking for 
opportunities in the market which it believes may be able 
to add value. 

As of this writing, our residential and commercial 
projects are currently at 100% construction capacity 
while still in compliance with the government-mandated 
guidelines on physical/social distancing on site. 

Appreciation and thanks
As we move into 2021, we are still firmly committed to 
strengthening our current business models and seizing 
opportunities within the property sector to deliver the 
best offerings and services to our clients. As always, I 
thank you – our shareholders – for your support as we 
navigate through these uncertain times. Through the 
guidance of our Board of Directors and the concerted 
efforts of our team, we will continue to demonstrate the 
highest level of resilience and take strategic actions to 
position us for stronger growth in the future. 
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Aseana City – our land holdings
Our land holdings in Aseana City is one of the largest 
and most contiguous mixed-use land banks in Metro 
Manila, with 569,359 sq.m. of land conveniently located 
around other prime locations in the Metro. Strategically 
located next to the Philippine Amusement and Gaming 
Corporation’s (PAGCOR) Entertainment City and the 
Mall of Asia complex in the Manila Bay area, Aseana City 
is positioned to be the next generation CBD in Metro 
Manila. 

One essential quality of our land holdings is its rapidly 
increasing value compared to its neighboring locations. 
As our landbank has been secured through our own 
land reclamation services in 1993, its value has since 
exponentially appreciated due to the relatively low costs 
associated with its consolidation and the increasing 

prime quality of its location over time. Our strategic 
location has attracted a multitude of local and 
international companies including leading recreational 
and property development players, allowing us to 
benefit from certain sectors including BPOs, gaming, 
“MICE”, and tourism due to our proximity to existing 
developments in the Bay Area. Adding on to this, our 
extensive master plan has proven to be beneficial 
for the residents and office workers of Aseana City. 
As evident during the pandemic, being in Aseana 
City has made things easier for people as shops and 
establishments catering to their essential needs can 
be found nearby. Additionally, the soon to be built St. 
Luke’s Medical Center in Aseana City accelerates our 
ability to deliver a complete community in our next 
generation development.

As such, our 569,359 sq.m. landbank including all 
improvements done to our developments in Aseana City 
was valued at P203.68 billion according to the recent 
valuation conducted by Colliers International in 2020. 
This valuation has been carried out in accordance with 
the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) 
Global Valuation Professional Standards, incorporating 
the International Valuation Standards of the International 
Valuation Standards Council (IVSC), and the Philippine 
Valuation Standards (PVS). 47% of our entire land 
holdings have been allocated for development, 
comprising 38,420 sq.m. for completed properties, 
158,079 sq.m. for our land leases, and 55,008 sq.m. for 
our ongoing pipeline properties. This leaves us with 
almost 30 hectares of unallocated land, providing us 
with sufficient land for our future developments in the 
succeeding years.

BUSINESS
          Review

P203.68B
VALUATION

18% 
COMPOUND ANNUAL GROWTH 

RATE OF LAND VALUES PER SQ.M. 
FROM 2006 TO 2020

Scan QR code with your phone camera for 
an interactive tour of Aseana City. 
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Commercial Leasing
We continued to show good progress against our 
strategic priorities of enhancing our earnings base and 
profitability by developing and maintaining a portfolio 
of high-quality real estate projects. In general, our lease 
agreements for our commercial properties stipulate a 
term of five (5) to ten (10) years with escalation rates 
ranging from 5% to 10%. The lease rates we provide are 
based on our market studies of the property landscape 
and rental prices in Aseana City and surrounding areas. 
In 2020, revenues from our commercial leasing business 
amounted to P809.1 million and represented 30% of 
our total revenues. We concluded the year with a total 
of eight (8) existing developed properties and one 
(1) newly-acquired property for development, which 
brings about our total leasable floor area to 90,712 
sq.m. from the 89,914 sq.m. reported in the prior year. 
Demonstrating the highest level of resilience during this 

pandemic, we maintained a healthy building occupancy 
of 93% in our commercial leasing segment with average 
lease expiries of our existing buildings reaching up to 5.8 
years. Additionally, we ended the year with average office 
lease rates expanding to P854 per sq.m. per month.

2021 will see the completion of three (3) of our ongoing 
commercial projects in our pipeline – 8912 Asean Ave., 
our fifth and largest office building to date; Parqal, our 
mixed-use four-storey development; and 58 Jupiter, our 
first commercial project in Makati. The completion of 
these will augment our existing total leasable floor areas 
by 149,000 sq.m. and further strengthen our recurring 
income base. 

In February 2021, we successfully closed our first office 
lease transaction in 8912 Asean Ave. building for 4,000 
sq.m. 

30%
OFFICE LEASE REVENUE 

CONTRIBUTION

93%
OCCUPANCY RATE

Land Leasing
For our land leases, we generally enter into mid to 
long-term leases ranging from 10 to 20 years, and yearly 
escalation rates ranging from 5% to 10%. 

In 2020, our total leased area amounted to 158,079 
sq.m. generating revenues of P978.48 million and 
representing 36% of our total consolidated revenues 
for the year. Our land lease with Ayala Land, which 
was used as the site for its highly-anticipated mixed-
use mall and hotel development Ayala Malls Manila 
Bay, continued to provide for a minimum guaranteed 
rent or, if higher, an agreed percentage of the income 
derived from the site. In the same year, we also signed 
a memorandum of understanding (MOU) with St. Luke’s 
Medical Center to enter into a 50-year lease agreement 
for a 13,896 sq.m. parcel of land in Aseana City. 

Considering the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on 
our lessees, we provided rental concessions on a case-
to-case basis averaging from 3-6 months in deferment. 
The concessions we provided did not adversely impact 
our top-line revenues in 2020.158,079

SQ.M. LEASED LAND AREA

36%
LAND LEASE REVENUE 

CONTRIBUTION

72% 
RECURRING INCOME 

CONTRIBUTION
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MidPark Towers, our second residential development, 
is situated between two of our upcoming developments 
Parqal and 8912 Asean Ave. and in close proximity to 
Ayala’s biggest mall, Ayala Malls Manila Bay. Slated for 
completion in 2023, we are currently undertaking pre-
selling activities for this project and we have seen total 
pre-sales hit of P6.2 billion by December 2020.

Despite the uncertainties brought by the pandemic, we 
have seen minimal cancellations for both of our projects 
which is a testament to the quality of the buyers of our 
residential segment.

Land Sales
Land sales contribute to the balanced development 
of Aseana City and is a key source of internal funds 
to finance our existing and future construction and 
development activities. 

Our strategy in our land holdings is to retain prime 
land areas for long-term investment through the 
development of our own real estate projects or strategic 
land leases. As such, we limit our land sales to non-core 
land plots.

We did not have any land sale transaction in 2020. 
Nevertheless, we still have an allocation of 7,798 sq.m. 
of land for future sales.

Construction
Founded in 1965, we started as a construction company 
whose infrastructure projects include ports, bridges, 
and expressways. Our construction heritage and project 
management expertise have given us the execution 
capability to take on all real estate uses with regard to 
the local and national building standards and regulation 
as well as supervise the full range of construction 
specialties required to bring any development or project 
to completion. We also recognize that mixed-use 
products present a number of unique challenges, many 
of which must be addressed on the construction site by 
dedicated and experienced project managers. That is 
why, at this stage of our development, our construction 
teams are focused on ensuring the execution and 
completion of our ongoing internal development pipeline. 

In 2020, total construction revenues decreased to P24.8 
million from P71.1 million as we shifted our construction 
capabilities to our ongoing pipeline developments. 

Residential Sales
Our residential offerings complement the speed of 
development in Aseana City. 

Our residential business is a continuously growing 
revenue source for the company, registering a 
significant increase of 37% to P749.3 million in 2020, 
of which P629.2 million is from Pixel Residences and 
the remaining P120.1 million is from MidPark Towers. 
This increase is primarily attributable to the increase 
in the percentage of completion for our residential 
projects, as we continuously ramp up the construction 
of our developments. In terms of its share to the total 
consolidated revenues of the company, the sale of our 
condominium units accounted for 27% of our total 
revenues versus 16% in the prior year.  

Completed in 2019, Pixel Residences, our first 
residential project which was sold out since June 2017, 
was conceptualized to meet the demand for quality 
and generous living spaces in Aseana City. Handover 
commenced in late 2019, and as of year-end 2020, 
we were able to turn over 91% of our inventory to our 
clients. 

P1.48B
TOTAL COLLECTION FOR 

PIXEL RESIDENCES

P1.52B
TOTAL COLLECTION FOR 

MIDPARK TOWERS

37%
INCREASE IN SALE OF 

CONDOMINIUM UNITS REVENUE
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PXXXB
VALUATION

2020 marked a period of unprecedented turmoil – 
from the Taal Volcano eruption in early January to 
the continuously evolving situation that is the current 
COVID-19 pandemic. On a global scale, nothing was left 
unscathed as countries were put in an immense strain in 
containing the outbreak while keeping their respective 
economies afloat. By the middle of the year, we have 
seen the majority of the countries closing their borders 
and imposing tighter safety measures as the human 
toll welled up to 500,000. A crisis like no other – the 
COVID-19 virus caused an economic shock not seen 
since the Great Depression. In the Philippines alone, the 
pandemic tested the resilience of the country and saw 
the economy contracting by 9.5% at the end of 2020. 

Albeit the economic decline we have observed during 
this period, early recovery signs point to the kick-start of 
the Philippines’ economy in 2021, and in turn, contribute 
to the soft recovery of the real estate sector. As of this 
writing, the promising developments concerning the 
COVID-19 vaccines contributed to the general optimism 
within the country.

On the Philippine property sector front, while the office 
and residential markets experienced stagnant demand 
and supply from what was initially forecasted in 2020, the 
Bay Area continues to be one of the dominant business 
districts in Metro Manila’s property market. Based on 
a report by property specialist, Colliers International 
Philippines, the Bay Area accounted for 16% of the 
office sector’s new supply in 2020. In terms of residential 
condo take-up, the Bay Area remains the strongest 
among the other major CBDs in Metro Manila. 

As we venture into 2021, we are still firmly committed to 
strengthening our current business models and seizing 
opportunities within the property sector to deliver the 
best offerings and services to the stakeholders of DMW. 
We will continue to demonstrate the highest level of 
resilience as we continuously navigate the waves of 
uncertainty in 2021.  

Livability in the face of a pandemic: building a safer 
and more resilient city in Metro Manila 
Now more than ever, we believe in the mission of 
transforming Aseana City into the Next Generation CBD. 
Historically, large-scale developments have an advantage 
in adapting and solving problems. While the pandemic 
will surely be solved in the near future, the way people 
live will also change. Thus, the livability of masterplanned 
cities will have a new sub-definition in the context of 
pandemic resilience. 

299,484 sq.m.
LAND RESERVES IN ASEANA CITY

   BUSINESS 
Overview &
       Outlook



16   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  17

within Aseana City, we put great emphasis on the 
augmentation and diversification of our income streams. 
We currently have six (6) projects in our pipeline, of 
which three (3) are slated for completion within 2021 – 
2022. Out of these three (3) upcoming developments, 
two (2) are located within Aseana City and are 
strategically positioned within the city’s vast network 
of office buildings, retail establishments, hotel and 
gaming facilities, and transport terminals. In total, these 
developments will boost our available leasable area by 
147,000 sq.m. and enhance our diversified recurring 
income base.

8912 Asean Ave., our largest office project to date with 
around 69,000 sq.m. of leasable floor area, is projected 
to be completed by the second quarter of 2021. This 
15-storey development boasts of close proximity to key 
establishments and is accessible to different modes 
of transportation. In February 2021, we successfully 
closed a 4,000 sq.m. office transaction in 8912 Asean 
Ave. building.  

Parqal, our five-hectare mixed-use development found 
between Diokno Avenue and Macapagal Boulevard, is 
our response to the need for green and public spaces 
in Aseana City. With a gross floor area of 78,000 sq.m., 
office and retail spaces will be spread out across the 
nine independent 4-storey buildings of this development. 
This greenway pedestrian park and retail street is 
scheduled for completion in the first quarter of 2022. 

In our residential business, we are in the final turnover 
stage for our first residential business, Pixel Residences. 
With only 9% of our inventory remaining for handover, 
we are also on track to recognizing the outstanding 
unbooked revenues of P265 million in 2021. For 
MidPark Towers, construction is in full swing and pre-
selling is ongoing for the first three (3) towers. As of 
2020, total pre-sales reached P6.2 billion for the first 
three (3) towers of this development. Its fourth and final 
tower is expected to be launched soon. 

A part of our value enhancement strategies to our 
landbank, we have also diversified to other prime 
locations in the metro. 58 Jupiter, our first commercial 
building in Makati City, is also due for completion 
in the second quarter of 2021. Concurrently, we are 
also starting our preparations for financial and space 
planning for a residential development on our newly 
acquired property on Esteban St., Legazpi Village, 
Makati City.

Due to the increasing health and wellness concerns 
that are continuing in 2021, we have started the addition 
of new features in our upcoming projects to better 
protect the well-being of our occupants. With respect to 
ensuring the resilience and taking into consideration the 
health concerns in our ongoing developments, we have 
started looking at innovations for our commercial and 
residential offerings to ensure health and wellness of our 
tenants and residents – equipment to improve air quality 
in our office buildings, automation system in our condos 
to lessen the amount of handheld switches, and even 
disinfection anterooms in our commercial and residential 
projects as a workaround to ensure that people 
who enter our buildings are sanitized. We have also 
integrated regular deep disinfection into our standard 
sanitation procedures to lessen risk and increase 
confidence in the sanitation qualities of our properties.

We’re also considering all public spaces and common 
areas between our developments. Currently, we 
are using our integrated operations center which 
tracks the CCTVs of all the roads and public spaces 
of our developments. We realize that they can be 
effective in contact-tracing and monitoring social 
distancing. Ensuring that all our developments have 
retail establishments on the ground floor and having 
a walkable masterplan will help deliveries for future 
pandemic situations and lessen travel and walking time 
for people to access basic essentials.

On the topic of infrastructure and utilities in Aseana 
City, our commitment to providing world-class 
infrastructure and amenities for the people in Aseana 
City remains steadfast. In January 2021, we entered 
into a collaborative real estate agreement with the 
Manila Electric Company (MERALCO) for the Aseana-1 
Substation Project which is set to break ground in the 
first quarter of 2021. This is part of our progressive plan 
to build critical power facilities within our area to provide 
quality, reliable and sustainable electric service to our 
residents, office workers, and visitors.  

Sustained long-term growth driven by strategic 
competence 
The blueprint that we laid out during our initial public 
offering remains relevant and enables us to weather 
and respond to the market uncertainties of today. This 
strategy allows us to ensure the smooth development 
of Aseana City consistent with its master concept and 
planning guidelines amid the pandemic and realize the 
full revenue potential of our business investments. As 
we continue to develop high-quality real estate projects 

20% 
COMPOUNDED ANNUAL 

GROWTH OF NET INCOME 
FROM 2015 TO 2020
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About Us
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated (“DMW or 
the Company”) is an integrated property developer with 
expertise in land reclamation, construction, and real 
estate development. Since 1965, we have reclaimed 
more than 2.4 million sq.m. of land, leased or developed 
250,000 sq.m. of land and buildings, and completed over 
140 construction and infrastructure projects including 
large, complex government developments throughout 
the Philippines.

Licensed as an “AAAA” contractor, we are the master 
developer and primary owner of Aseana City—our 
flagship development project with a total land area 
of 107.5 hectares located along the coastal waters 
of Manila Bay bordering the City of Pasay and the 
City of Parañaque. We are developing Aseana City as 
a “Next Generation” central business district (CBD) 
in Metro Manila, anchored by holistic development, 
mixed-use masterplan, and global infrastructure 
standards. Aseana City is home to a growing number of 
recreational and entertainment outlets, commercial and 
retail developments, prime office space, and residential 
condominiums.

Reporting Period and Scope
Covering the reporting period between January 1 to 
December 31, 2020, this chapter covers the baseline 
key performance indicators for the company's materials 
ESG topics. Highlights of the Company's year-over-year 
(YoY) performance on various ESG categories and key 
sustainability activities and performance are highlighted 
in this report. 

Specific to this year, this chapter explores the impacts, 
challenges, and opportunities presented by the 
COVID-19 pandemic in relation to our material ESG 
topics.

 SUSTAINABILITY   Report About this Report
Tenets of sustainability have been embedded 
throughout the operations, building practices, and overall 
business philosophy of D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, 
Inc. (PSE: DMW) since long before we published our 
first Corporate Social Responsibility and Governance 
Report in 2017. This year, we continue to report on the 
progress of our sustainability journey as we shift our 
corporate outlook from risk to resilience in response to 
the challenges of the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. 

This chapter has been written in accordance with 
the Philippine Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC)'s annual sustainability reporting requirements. It 
showcases how environmental, social, and governance 
(ESG) impacts, risks, and opportunities are managed 
across our operations, in alignment with the company's 
material ESG topics and United Nations Sustainable 
Development Goals (SDG) commitments. 
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Stakeholder Engagement
As in 2019, our key stakeholders include brokers, customers, employees, shareholders, investors, regulatory 
bodies, business partners, suppliers, and local community groups. We engage regularly, and extensively with these 
stakeholder groups to promote understanding and dialogue regarding the management of our material ESG topics. 

Summary of Key Stakeholder Engagement Activities

ENGAGEMENT CHANNELS 
AND FREQUENCY

OBJECTIVE OF 
ENGAGEMENT

MATERIAL TOPICS
COMPANY’S 
RESPONSE

BROKERS

Broker’s Day Communicate the latest 
developments within the city

Customer experience

CUSTOMERS

• Press releases (regular)
• Corporate sponsorships
• Media placements 
• Distribution of collaterals
• Open houses (monthly)
• Corporate sponsorships 

(occasional)
• Company hotlines

• Market the project 
developments 

• Promote products and 
services

• Build relationships with 
existing and potential 
customers

• Understand market 
requirements

• Develop projects 
according to market 
needs

• Address customer-
related concerns

• Safe, secure 
and clean 
environment 

• Quick turnaround 
time 

• Complaints 
resolution 

• Customer 
experience 

• Better 
connectivity 

• 24/7 building 
management

• Planned 
infrastructure 
development

• Resolution of 
customer complaints

EMPLOYEES

• Employee Consultations 
(quarterly)

• Extracurricular events/
activities (occasional)

• Training Sessions   
(as planned)

• New Employee Orientation

• Raise concerns on 
the current work 
environment

• Provide opportunities for 
skills upgrading

• Create an efficient 
and productive work 
environment

• Equip newly hired 
employees on the 
company’s objective, 
policies and procedures

• Work-life balance
• Misalignment of 

legal practices in 
the organization

• Employee 
retention, 
employee skills 
development, 
empowerment

• Policies and 
procedures 
alignment and 
awareness

• Enforcement of 
company policies, as 
necessary

• Social events
• Employee 

engagement 
activities

• Skills and 
competency 
development 
through trainings 
and seminars

• Orientation and 
property tour

The information contained in this chapter applies to 
seven (7) legal entities and seven (7) properties within 
these entities, as indicated below:
• Aseana Residential Holdings Corp. (ARHC) – our 

wholly-owned subsidiary and exclusive residential 
arm. ARHC currently has two low-density residential 
projects within its portfolio: Pixel Residences, a 170-
unit development currently on ready-for-occupancy 
(RFO) status and MidPark Towers, a 4-tower 
development with 669 large format units (currently 
under construction and not included in this report).

• Aseana Holdings, Inc. (AHI) - our 100% owned 
subsidiary that caters to the development 
potential of Aseana City. Under its portfolio are 
our completed office and commercial properties: 
Aseana One, Aseana Two, Aseana Three, Aseana 
Powerstation, and Aseana Square.

• U-City Technologies Philippines, Inc. – operates the 
smart city, public city, and surveillance services for 
Aseana City.

• Aseana City Transport and Travel Corporation 
– established to operate public utility transport 
services for Aseana City. 

• Fabricom, Inc. – operates the importation of heavy 
equipment and machinery for our Group. Our 
DMW Field Office serves as the main office for 
Fabricom, Inc. 

• Aseana Real Estate Services and Management 
Corporation – operates the property management 
services of our Group.

Materiality 

1. Energy Management/Efficiency
2. Health and Safety
3. Product Quality and Responsibility
4. Water Consumption and Recycling
5. Employee Training and Competency
6. Ethical Business Operations
7. Customer Satisfaction
8. Impact on Community/ Contribution to Society
9. Employee Turnover, Attrition, and Retention
10. Financial Sustainability/ Profitability
11. Impact on Biodiversity
12. Information Security/ Data Privacy
13. Responsible Supply Chain (Envi/Social)
14. Local Sourcing/ Procurement
15. GHG Emissions/ Climate Change
16. Corruption/ Fraud
17. Innovation in Operations/ Products and Services
18. Waste Disposal and Recycling
19. Human Rights (Child Labor/ Forced Labor/ Discrimination) 

Im
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In accordance with the SEC Guidelines, the content of 
this chapter is informed by the principle of materiality 
and focuses on the economic, environmental, and 
social impacts of our operations and activities in the 
Philippines, and the Company's approaches to the 
material ESG topics listed below. 

The material ESG topics established in 2019 remain 
the same for 2020. The process of selecting these 
material ESG topics included conducting a stakeholder 
engagement and employee engagement surveys, 
hosting senior leadership workshops, and holding 
two-way conversations within DMW's workforce. The 
resulting list incorporates the company's core values, 
mission, and vision in an articulated set of ESG priorities. 
The materiality matrix below reflects our perception of 
the impacts that these topics may have on our business 
and stakeholders.

This chapter addresses our management approach 
and performance within each of these areas. Some 
disclosures on management approaches differ from 
our 2019 report in consideration of the 2020 COVID-19 
pandemic.
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Approach to Sustainability 
At DMW, we aim to build a better nation by creating sustainable city-scale real estate products, policies, processes, 
and programs for our leasing, construction, property development, and land sale businesses. DMW's sustainability 
framework guides this ambition while taking into account the Company’s rich history, culture, values, mission, and 
vision. The framework’s four (4) pillars provide an integrated approach to addressing our material ESG topics as well as 
our commitments to the UN SDGs:

BUILDING DREAMS BRIDGING 
RELATIONSHIPS

CROSSING 
BOUNDARIES

HOUSING INNOVATIVE 
MINDS

The projects we build 
are more than just 
infrastructure. 

Each relationship that we 
enter into is a partnership.  
 

We took on the challenge 
of creating something 
out of nothing with the 
Aseana City Project. We 
aim to continue to create 
innovative developments 
while acting as stewards 
of the environment. 

We believe in our 
people. We recognize 
the importance of 
having a strong team 
of management and 
technical personnel to 
meet and surpass our 
growth plan. 

FOCUS: economic 
sustainability, 
business growth, risk 
management, and 
customer satisfaction

FOCUS: creating 
sustainable value 
through our supply 
chain and community 
relations

FOCUS: Manage 
energy consumption, 
water consumption, 
waste management, 
and overall ecological 
footprint 

FOCUS: Employee 
retention, training 
competency, health 
and safety, good 
governance, and ethical 
operations

OUR VISION
Create sustainable city-scale 
real estate products 

OUR SERVICES
Property development
Leasing 
Construction

OUR OBJECTIVE
Develop “Next Generation” 
Business District. Creating more 
opportunities and less impact.

BUILDING DREAMS

• Economic Sustainability
• Business Growth 
• Managing Risks
• Customer Satisfaction

CROSSING 
BOUNDARIES

• Energy Efficiency 
• Water Conservation
• Waste Management
• Ecological Footprint

BRIDGING 
RELATIONSHIPS

• Community Relations
• Supply Chain Management

HOUSING 
INNOVATIVE MINDS

• Employee Retention 
• Training and Competency 
• Health and Safety 
• Good Governance 
• Ethical Operations

OUR FOCUS

ENGAGEMENT CHANNELS 
AND FREQUENCY

OBJECTIVE OF 
ENGAGEMENT

MATERIAL TOPICS
COMPANY’S 
RESPONSE

SHAREHOLDERS/INVESTORS

• Stockholder meeting 
(annual)

• Investor briefings (quarterly)
• Non-deal roadshows (at 

least 2x/ year)
• Investor conferences/ 

Corporate access events (at 
least once a year)

• One-on-one meetings, 
emails and Conference calls 
(regular)

• Site tours  
(at least 4x/year)

• Philippine Stock Exchange 
(regular)

• Company website (regular)

Provide the public adequate, 
fair, timely and accurate 
information about the 
company’s to enable them to 
make informed investment 
decisions

• Financial and 
operating 
performance 

• Business outlook
• Effective risk 

management
• Good governance 
• ESG related 

Performance

• Submission of 
structured and 
unstructured 
continuing 
disclosures 

• Regular investor 
and analyst access 
to management 
through multiple 
communication 
channels and events  

REGULATORY BODIES

Review of compliance 
requirements (as needed)

Ensure compliance of project 
developments with regulatory 
requirements

Compliance to 
regulation

Acquisition of proper 
permits
Monitoring of activities

BUSINESS PARTNERS/SUPPLIERS

Contractual agreements Work with best in class 
partners

Compliance 
to contractual 
obligations

Procurement through 
proper channels

LOCAL COMMUNIITIES

• Nutrition assistance
• Scholarship (annual)
• Medical and funeral 

assistance (as needed)
• Livelihood programs (as 

planned)

Promote and advance the 
general welfare of Filipinos
Assist members to be self-
sufficient

Programs intended 
for food, education, 
general welfare, and 
livelihood

Enforcement of mission 
of the foundation
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projected to increase our total leasable floor area by 149,000 sq.m. at the same time expand our recurring income 
base in 2021. 

In addition to providing residential, office, and retail spaces, our developments generate economic benefits for our 
various stakeholders. New jobs on-site and throughout the related supply chain are created, increased revenues for 
local businesses during construction are observed, and the convenience and benefits brought by our infrastructure 
and amenities are enjoyed by Aseana City's residents and workers throughout this pandemic.

Overall, despite a global downturn of economic activity and productivity, our business model is well-positioned to 
weather the impact of COVID-19 and we project a strong economic rebound in the property space in the coming years.

Direct Economic Value Generated and Distributed
Direct Economic Value Amounts (in PHP)

Generated (Revenues) 2,734,364,926.00
Distributed Operating costs 850,394,544.00

Employee wages & benefits 156,690,816.00
Dividends to stockholders 185,664,130.94
Taxes to government 637,849,282.00
Payments to suppliers 3,433,841,046.93
Community investments 82,361,694.00

Sustainability Performance
Performance at a glance

Year-over-year performance

 
 
 

*Decrease in revenue is attributed to an absence of a land sale in 2020
**2021 Sustainability Report will reflect the first increase/decrease for DMW water intensity

P2,734,364,926
 22%*

Economic value generated

0.18tCO2e
13%

Tonnes CO2 emitted per sq.m.

1.40GJ
9%

Energy per sq.m.

3.51CBM
N/A for 2020**

Water per sq.m.

2:1Male:Female
No change

Gender diversity ratio

Building Dreams
The Building Dreams pillar of DMW's sustainability framework focuses on economic performance, customer 
satisfaction, customer privacy, and data privacy as a measure of its growth and contribution towards an urban 
forward Philippines.

With services that range from construction, land reclamation, land sales and leasing, property development, and 
commercial building leasing, DMW has 55 years of managing 569,359 sqm land holdings, 90,712 sqm leasable 
floor area, and over 2.4 million sqm of reclaimed land. Holistic and systematic risk management is integral to the 
Company's financial sustainability, innovation in operational systems, product quality, and customer satisfaction.  

Material topics Relevant SDGs

Financial Sustainability and Profitability 
Innovation in Operations, Products and Services 
Product Quality and Responsibility 
Customer Satisfaction 

SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth 
SDG 9: Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure
SDG 11: Sustainable Cities and Communities 
SDG 16: Peace, Justice and Strong Institutions 

Financial Sustainability
Our Annual Report outlines a more comprehensive 
review of the Company's financial performance in 2020. 
As a background, DMW maintained a stable financial 
performance in 2020, registering revenues amounting to 
P2.73 billion. From the total economic value generated 
in 2020, P3.43 billion was paid to our suppliers and 
subcontractors, P850 million was allocated for the 
operating expenses of the Company, P637 million was 
paid to the government in the form of business and 
property taxes, permits, and licenses, P185 million was 
distributed to our stockholders via dividends, P156 
million for our employees' continued wages and benefits, 
and P82 million was appropriated as infrastructure and 
amenities investments in Aseana City.

DMW's approach to financial sustainability ensures the 
timely delivery of our developments in key locations 

Risk Management 
We realize that the nature of our activities and 
the environment in which we operate exposes us 
to potential risks, which occur in many ways and 
can impact our stakeholders, reputation, finances, 
operations, and the sustainability of our company. Such 
business risks cover all aspects of our operations, 
including but not limited to ESG issues.

We began an engagement with Punongbayan & 
Araullo to assist us in strengthening our Enterprise 
Risk Management system in late 2019. The 
recommendations we have implemented in 2020 
have allowed us to quickly identify and assess high 
priority risks, and better position the company to 
mitigate the adverse impacts of such risks. In the same 
year, we published our Risk Management Manual, 
which includes a set of policies that emphasize the 
importance of risk management by integrating it with 
our organizational structure objectives, strategic 
management, business planning, review of internal 
controls, and other management practices to protect 
and promote the interest of our stakeholders. 

Our full manual can be accessed in the Enterprise Risk 
Management section of the DMW website. 

Sustainability Risk Management
From our Board of Directors down to our staff, we are 
firmly committed to effective risk management by 
integrating risk management practices into all of our 
business processes and operations. 

Our risk framework guides our Board of Directors 
in identifying business line and enterprise-level 
risk exposures and assessing the effectiveness of 
DMW's risk management strategies, with our Audit 
and Risk Committee overseeing the functionality and 
effectiveness of the entire system. In addition, a Chief 
Risk Officer was appointed to act as the champion of the 
enterprise risk management process and is responsible 
for the continuous improvement of the said process.  

When identifying the risks, we also consider the 
environmental, social, and governance (ESG)-related 
factors that could affect DMW’s ability to achieve its 
strategy or objectives. As such, we incorporated ESG 
risks into our corporate enterprise risk management 
framework to manage ESG-related risks that we face, 
such as health-related regulations, the cascading effects 
of climate change, shortages in resources, and intense 
competition for talent, and changing labor dynamics.

We also acknowledge acute and chronic risks that 
climate change poses on our operations, including the 
rising cost of natural resources, increased regulation, 
potential fines and/or litigation, and the ability to 
continue operations under regulatory license. In the 
coming years, motivated by the SEC’s sustainability 
reporting requirements, we aim to start assessing 
climate-related risks and opportunities concerning our 
operations, governance, and operational impacts.

and continued acceleration of our recurring income 
streams to ensure adequate cash flow for our ongoing 
capital requirements. We employ a prudent approach to 
financial management and cost control with emphasis 
on close monitoring of our capital and cash positions, 
and maintain discipline in our capital commitments. 
This includes the continued use of financial leverage to 
enhance our return on equity and to enable us to lower 
risk exposure yet remain poised to capture strategic 
market opportunities as they arise.

The infrastructure and world-class facilities we 
construct in Aseana City not only contribute to the 
holistic development of Aseana City but also increase 
economic activity in the area by attracting prospective 
tenants, homebuyers, and lot owners in the area. The 
projects we are building are conveniently located in 
prime locations in Aseana City and Makati City and are 
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Data Privacy
We are also committed to protecting the data privacy of 
our company and of our customers. All personal data 
collected through our website, marketing activities, or 
online platforms are handled in an appropriate manner 
in accordance with local regulatory requirements and 
can only be accessed by authorized persons of the 
Company. 

The Company values the security of the information 
that our clients share with us. Thus in 2019, we began 
drafting our Data Privacy Manual to better address 

In addition, the Company is also in the process of 
formalizing a complaint channel for our residential 
clients and tenants. This channel aims to standardize 
complaint management through a series of service level 
agreements, policies, and response workflows.

These two (2) undertakings are still continuing as of 
year-end 2020.

Customer Experience
Understanding and responding to the changing needs 
of our customers while seamlessly improving customer 
experience is critical to the sustainability of our 
business and the ongoing relevance and reputation of 
our brand, products, and services.

We strive to exceed their expectations in affordability, 
service offerings, quality and on-time delivery. Our 
property managers conduct Net Promotor Score (NPS) 
surveys twice a year to track tenant experience and 
satisfaction across our properties. The survey gauges 
customer experience and overall brand perception. 
Additionally, we monitor our social media presence 
to assess general sentiment about our brands and 
products. 

Key feedback received in 2020 includes:

+
• Response time when addressing tenant concerns 

have markedly improved in 2020
• Building common area cleanliness is maintained 

well
• The roll-out of COVID-19 communications and 

health and safety guidance was seamless

-
• Improve regularity of tenant meetings and customer 

service refresher training
• STP issues at Aseana 3 remain unresolved
• Increase tenant inspections in all buildings
• Establish a health and safety committee, appoint 

safety marshals, and update health and safety 
collaterals

Product Quality and Responsibility
2020 saw a lot of DMW initiatives come to fruition that 
improved the quality of our buildings and the experience 
of our tenants and residents.

Innovation in Operations, Products and Services

Online listing platforms to reach out market

As a response to the community measures brought by the pandemic, the Company partnered with leading real 
estate platforms such as Lamudi and DotProperty to strengthen our online visibility and make our residential 
projects accessible to a broader audience in 2020. This shift to a more digital approach to reaching our clients 
allowed us to considerably expand our market reach and acclimate to the dynamic client demands during the 
'new normal' while ensuring the health and safety of our employees.

Complementary to our transition to digital listing platforms, we also shifted to digital marketing events in early 
2020. In lieu of open houses and our usual marketing events, we conducted monthly virtual presentations and 
webinars to tap our clients for our residential developments. 

Leveraging technology for our clients
We seamlessly launched several online platforms and contactless payment systems for our clients in 2020:
Online billing statements - We started issuing online billing statements to enable our tenants and residential 
buyers to access their billing statements in a secure and convenient manner. This also helps in the reduction of 
our environmental impact by significantly minimizing paper consumption. 

Online payments – We also adopted easy payment options via Visa, Mastercard and/or UnionPay for our 
residential clients and tenants. The Company is now a registered merchant under the "Bills Payment" section of 
banks and payment platforms, allowing our clients to make direct payments at the security of their homes.

DMW property showcase app - We also strategically shifted to a Closed-loop Digital Marketing Solution 
including 3D Architecture Visualization, 3D Master Plan, 3D Floor Plan, 3D Exterior & Interior Rendering, 3D 
Walkthrough Animation, 3D Virtual Tours, and Mobile Home Tour. As such, we tapped a third-party provider to 
develop a mobile app showcasing Aseana City and our properties, bringing Aseana City closer to our clients.

the risks and vulnerability to data privacy that the 
Company could potentially experience and to ensure 
that all information collected from our stakeholders are 
processed and protected in accordance with the Data 
Privacy Act of 2012 (Data Privacy Act). The appointment 
of a Data Privacy Officer (DPO) demonstrates our 
commitment to adhering to regulatory requirements 
stipulated by the Data Privacy Act. The Company's 
Data Privacy Officer is responsible for overseeing all 
operations and addressing all data privacy and security-
related concerns.

Customer service accessibility
At Pixel Residences, a dedicated help desk with 
a customer feedback form was rolled out in 2020. 
This feature allows our residents to electronically 
communicate inquiries and feedback to the relevant 
team in a more convenient manner. At DMW, we put 
great emphasis on customer feedback as it serves 
as a guide on how to further innovate our offerings 
and continuously improve the living experience of our 
residents.

Improved building quality
A power audit for Aseana One, Two, and Three was 
conducted to gauge and improve the efficiency and 
stability of the electricity system of our buildings. We 
also installed indoor air quality monitoring devices 
which run at least three times a day to track the air 
quality of our buildings for our tenants' health. These 
initiatives ensure the comfort and protection of our 
building tenants and condo residents as they adjust to 
the "new normal" during and post COVID-19 pandemic. 

Improved connectivity
At a time when stability and strength of network 
connections have never been more important, we 
aimed to ensure that our residents remained connected 
to their friends and family, that businesses could 
continue to operate, and students could keep up with 
their studies. Connectivity in 2020 was especially 
important for our office workers, tenants, and residents 
during this pandemic. In that regard, we saw a 
partnership enacted between Globe and our estate in 
2020 wherein outdoor network antennas were installed 
and vastly improved network connectivity within Aseana 
City. 

Customer health and safety 
We place the health and well-being of our customers 
as our paramount priority as we always strive to 
provide high quality, reliable, and safe products to the 
office workers, residents, and visitors of Aseana City. 
Now more than ever, we are firmly committed to safe 
operations and diligence in our safety practices and 
processes. To manage this important issue, we have 
implemented strict protocols for onsite activities. For 
example, our comprehensive master plan for Aseana 
City outlines health and safety criteria for the most 
critical design and development components – to 
ensure that everyone who enters the space can enjoy a 
green, safe and walkable district.
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• In the early stages of the pandemic, procuring 
safety equipment was also a challenge. Due to the 
unavailability of safety materials such as cleaning 
alcohol and face masks, we expanded our vendor 
network to ensure we could provide necessary 
health and safety protection for our employees.

In anticipation of some of these challenges, we quickly 
required our major preferred suppliers to separate 
their logistics strategies for our different projects. For 
example, Mitsubishi supplied elevators for 8912 Asean 
Ave. from the China plant while their Thailand plant 
supplied for Parqal. 

Procurement through Intranet
Expanding on a project that began in 2019, we invested 
further in our Enterprise Resource Planning (ERP) 
system to centralize, digitize, and streamline operations, 
including the procurement process. Updates to the 
multi-department processes in our ERP system started 
in 2020 including the integration of requests, approval, 
and purchasing workflows to the budget monitoring 
system. These upgrades were crucial to the Company 
as it enabled a smoother transition for our remote 
workforce in response to COVID-19.

P3.43B

P2.82B

2020

2019

TOTAL EXPENSE ON SUPPLIERS  (in PHP)

To support the implementation of several new policies, 
the Company appointed two (2) safety marshals in 
every team of onsite staff. The safety marshals received 
safety officer training and are the first line of defense 
in executing our safety protocols, including addressing 
risks of exposure to potentially infected individuals and 
assessing the exposure of staff to COVID-19. 

Throughout 2020 we have sought to ensure the health 
and safety of our customers by: 
• Enactment of more stringent policies and 

protocols including contact tracing and face mask 
requirements, promotion of respiratory hygiene and 
social distancing across our properties;

Responsible Supply Chain
We require an extensive number of workers and service providers to support our businesses, which in return help 
create job opportunities throughout our supply chain. During the year, DMW contributed over P3.4B to our supply 
chain, supporting over 450 of our supply chain partners. We have decades long relationships with multiple local and 
international suppliers and subcontractors who go through a detailed and rigorous vetting process to ensure that the 
companies who work on our projects are also diversified both financially and logistically.

Suppliers and contractors are essential for the delivery of quality products and services to our customers. Our major 
suppliers provide building materials as well as construction, building operations and maintenance, and advisory 
consultancy services. DMW maintains close relationships with our supply chain partners and communicates to them 
our goals on social, environmental and occupational health, and safety excellence. Requirements and standards are 
clearly stipulated during the tendering and procurement process.

We have also been working with our partners 
and suppliers while adhering to our own Supplier 
Accreditation Policy – which was established in 2009 
and is still in effect today. Under it, all suppliers and 
contractors undergo an accreditation process and are 
required to comply with company standards. Accredited 
suppliers are assessed based on several criteria and 
scored accordingly. We began undergoing a revision to 
the policy in the beginning of 2020 and expect it to be 
completed and implemented in the succeeding year.

In light of the recent regional turmoil, not just in terms 
of COVID-19 but also in terms of geo-political tensions, 
we can aptly state that we have not had substantial 
and attributable delays from our current supply chain 
relationships. That said, throughout 2020, logistical 
supply chain challenges presented themselves in 
varying ways:
• Several of our regular suppliers experienced a lack 

of available material, and many of their workers 
returned to their home provinces during the 
lockdown periods. Compounded by an inability 
to travel, several suppliers ceased operations 
completely. However, leveraging our positive credit 
ratings from its long-term relationships with our 
vendors, we were still able to procure raw materials 
for construction projects as best as our value chain 
could provide.  

Bridging Relationships
The Bridging Relationship pillar of our sustainability framework focuses on creating value with our partners and 
across the communities in which we operate.

As a property developer with a substantial network of suppliers and partners, DMW promotes sustainable business 
practices and supports local companies throughout our value chain, bringing shared benefits to all our stakeholders 
and to the local economy. We also strive to be a professional and trustworthy partner for our business associates. We 
believe that reliability, fairness, quality and transparency are key to a successful long-term collaboration. 

Material topics Relevant SDGs

Responsible Supply Chain
SDG 3: Good Health and Well-Being
SDG 9: Industry, Innovation, and Infrastructure
SDG 17: Partnerships

• Consistent communication with building tenants on 
COVID-19-related updates. In 2020, we distributed 
no less than sixty-four (64) COVID-19-related 
memos to over 1,200 people across Aseana One, 
Aseana Two, Aseana Three, Aseana Powerstation, 
and Aseana Square. These memos covered 
COVID-19 updates, important sanitation policies, 
protocols on building ingress and egress, and safety 
requirements and protocols on COVID-19; and

• Continuous dialogue with our property managers 
to ensure the proper execution of new health and 
safety policies across our properties, and to ensure 
that these procedures and policies are up-to-date 
as the pandemic progresses further.  

Proportion spent on local suppliers

Location of 
Supplier

Number of 
Suppliers in 
2020

% of Total 
Suppliers

% of 
Procurement 
Budget Spent

Local* 448 98% 93%

International 11 2% 7%

Total 459 100% 100%

*Local suppliers include foreign brands with local operations in the Philippines



30   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  31

Crossing Boundaries
The Crossing Boundaries pillar focuses on responsible 
environmental stewardship. We understand that 
resource efficiency directly contributes to our 
environmental footprint and economic bottom-line. We 
are also cognizant of the impacts of climate change as 
the Philippines experiences super typhoons, flooding, 
and drought several times a year. These natural 
disasters have a direct and indirect impact on our 
operations – such as, for example, our workers' inability 
to come to work due to flooding or a typhoon which 
creates project delays. As such, we are committed to 
better tracking, monitoring, and management of how we 
utilize natural resources, and we actively seek out ways 
to mitigate and manage the environmental risks and 
impacts associated with our operations.

Raw materials for construction and development 
projects as well as our energy usage constitute our 
greatest environmental footprint. Meanwhile, serving 
mainly as a B2B services company, the water consumed 
and waste generated by our operations are typical of 
an office environment and therefore are not considered 
material ESG topics or prioritized in the Company's 
programs and practices. However, recycling of materials 
such as paper, cardboard and typical office waste is 
offered within our offices. 

We design our offices and developments to minimize 
energy consumption and waste, and encourage our 
employees to reduce their ecological footprint. We 
work with the Department of Environment and Natural 
Resources (DENR)-accredited partners, including 

Corporate Social Responsibility
We understand the strong correlation between our ‘social license to operate’ and the quality of the relationships we 
have in our local communities. This extends to all parts of those communities - well beyond our staff and their families. 

Our contributions to and relationships with local community groups continually adapt to meet the most current 
and relevant needs in the areas in which we operate. From 2019 to 2020, we shifted our focus from Katipunan ng 
Mamamayan ng Bagong Pilipinas Foundation (where activities included rice distribution, scholarship awards, medical 
and funeral assistance, and other livelihood programs) to COVID-19 related relief efforts. These included:
• Donating over 1,000 boxes of noodles, 1,200 boxes of sardines, 500 boxes of bihon, 4,000 pieces of N95 masks, 

100 sacks of rice, and rapid test kits to the City of Parañaque through municipal offices, barangays, and various 
parishes; and

• Reallocating our customary holiday giveaway budget towards a donation to the Saint Rita Orphanage.

Building Dreams
In November 2020, we have signed a Memorandum 
of Agreement (MOU) with the Department of 
Transportation (DOTr) for the construction of EDSA 
busway bridges, which will provide safer, more 
convenient and PWD-friendly walkways to the public. 

Bridging Relationships
During the height of the COVID-19 pandemic, DMW 
allocated funds and donations to address and assist the 
communities bordering our projects and developments. 
We have distributed donations in kind to the City of 
Parañaque through the municipal office, barangays, and 
various parishes.

In lieu of our annual Christmas giveaway, funds were 
reallocated towards a cash donation to the Saint Rita 
Orphanage.

Crossing Boundaries
We have partnered with DENR in rehabilitating the 
1,404-meter Redemptorist Water Channel, stretching 
from Roxas Boulevard to Manila Bay since 2013. In total, 
we have collected 10,479 sacks of garbage amounting 
to 41,259 kg in our Adopt-an-Estero cleanup program 
since our first cleanup in 2013. 

waste haulers, to ensure full compliance with regulatory 
and policy requirements. Furthermore, we source 
environmentally-conscious construction materials for 
our upcoming developments. The appointment of a 
Pollution Control Officer (PCO) in 2020 further allows 
us to address and manage risks towards resource 
management and ultimately, reducing our overall impact 
on climate change.

Finally, as we continuously work towards our ultimate 
goal of transforming Aseana City into a 'Next Generation' 
CBD, we also recognize the significance of green public 
space for the residents, office workers and visitors of 
Aseana City. To answer the need for public spaces and 
promote walkability, sustainability and green living in 
Aseana City, we started the development of Parqal, our 
four-storey mixed-use greenway pedestrian park and 
promenade found within the stretch of Diokno Avenue 
and Macapagal Boulevard. 

Sustainable building practices have been implemented 
at Parqal as we aim for a 4-to-5-star certification from 
the Philippine Green Building Council's Building for 
Ecologically Responsive Design Excellence (BERDE), 
the Philippine's representative to the World Green 
Building Council and the local counterpart of the 
prominent Leadership in Energy and Environmental 
Design (LEED). Most notably, Parqal features a canopy 
made up of ethylene tetrafluoroethylene (ETFE) which 
will enable sunlight to still penetrate the roof but with 
reduced heat and will substantially minimize the cost of 
energy running air-conditioners, among others.

Material topics Relevant SDGs 

Energy management/efficiency SDG 12: Responsible Consumption and Production
SDG 13: Climate Action
SDG 14: Life Below Water
SDG 15: Life on Land

Energy Consumption
Resource management is embedded in the culture of DMW. Whether it's turning off lights upon exiting a room or 
designing a project such as Parqal to be as energy efficient as possible, energy reduction has become second nature 
for everyone in our organization.

Due to COVID-19, we experienced many operational interruptions, and as such no new energy efficiency initiatives 
were carried out as planned in 2020. A substantial decrease of foot traffic and building visitors across our portfolio 
resulted in an overall decrease of electricity consumption by -19%. However, our Field Office and Project Site 
electricity consumption increased by 43% due to an increase in activity across our project sites.

In coming years, we plan to increase our use of clean, renewable energy and reduce our reliance on fuel from non-
renewable sources.
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Diesel Consumption (L)

*Increase in generator set use in 2020 resulted in more frequent test runs conducted for maintenance
**Vehicles are a mix of cars and vans owned by DMW and used by all its subsidiaries
***The construction equipment owned by Fabricom (a DMW subsidiary) used in our ongoing projects accounts for the diesel consumption

Gasoline Use (L)

*Vehicles are a mix of cars and vans owned by DMW and used by all its subsidiaries

Water Consumption
Just as energy conservation is embedded in the DMW culture, so too is water conservation. While we endeavour to 
conserve water throughout our operations, we also ensure it is used wisely and treated properly prior to discharge. 
We implement a wide range of water conservation initiatives in our buildings, ranging from the installation of more 
efficient equipment to educating employees about water-saving best practices. We track the use of water across our 
facilities to understand and monitor consumption patterns and have adopted reuse technology, where possible, to 
manage our usage. 

Water Withdrawal (cubic meters)

Property 2020 m3 per sqm
Aseana One 18,209.7 6.9

Aseana Two 9,601 7.9

Aseana Three 21,650.4 3.7

Aseana Powerstation 4,406.4 1.4

Aseana Square 1,803 1.1

DMW Field Office and Project Site 3,821 6.3

Pixel Residences** 1,777 0.7

Total annual consumption (absolute) 61,268.5 m3

*The 2019 water withdrawal data reflect whole building operations. At this point, we are unable to provide the 2019 data with the adjusted scope 
(only DMW-occupied and common areas) hence we cannot compute year-on-year change.

*DMW does not have appropriate meters in place to accurately track and break down the volume of effluents. For the purpose of this report, 
we assume that Water Withdrawal is 100% equal to both Water Consumption and Water Discharge because wastewater data covers the entire 
building and cannot be broken down to DMW-occupied spaces and common areas.

Electricity consumption (kWh)

Parqal
Parqal, a word play from the terms Park and 
Kalye is a five-hectare development that has a 
gross floor area (GFA) of 78,000 square meters. 
It is composed of nine independent four-
storey buildings that will occupy two blocks 
of Macapagal Boulevard – Block 2 (between 
Celero Drive and Macapagal Boulevard) 
and Block 5 (between Macapagal Boulevard 
and Imao Road). The buildings’ architectural 
expression has a modernized approach in 
terms of form, character substance, and 
material profile of the “Bahay-na-Bato” – the 
Philippines’ vernacular architecture derived 
from Hispanic and Chinese influences.

Seeing the need for more open-spaces in 
modern urban planning, 60% of Parqal’s total 
lot area is dedicated to lush green landscapes 
and recreational facilities.

In the future, Parqal is perceived to be one 
of the top tourist hubs in the metro boasting 
its impressive architectural design, first-rate 
retail and commercial outlets, prominent green 
spaces, and proximity to the airport and other 
public transportations.

During the first stage of the BERDE 
certification, Parqal has been awarded with a 
4-star rating.

Sustainability Features:
• Energy efficient lighting and air conditioning 

system 
• Efficient landscape irrigation 
• Effluent quality monitoring 
• Materials recovery facility 
• Bicycle rider amenities 
• Heat island reduction 
• Protection of land ecological features 
• Use of local and green materials 
• Public transportation access 
• Close proximity to key establishments

2,871,924.26
kWh2020

2019

TOTAL EXPENSE ON SUPPLIERS  (in PHP)

23% 21% 37% 9%

2%

2%

6%

3,532,628.59
kWh

23% 17% 42% 15%

2%

1%

Aseana One

Aseana Square

Aseana Two

DM WAI Field Ofc

Aseana Three

Pixel Residences

Aseana Powerstation

380,581.39L2020

2019

GROUP TOTAL DIESEL CONSUMPTION  (in L)

Generator Sets Transportation Other Diesel-Intensive Activities

13% 51% 37%

12% 52% 35% 380,331.78L

4081.08L2020

2019

GROUP TOTAL GASOLINE CONSUMPTION  (in L)

6016.8L
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Solid waste*

Property
Total Number of 

Bags Collected in 
2020

Total Weight of 
Waste in 2020 

(kg)**

Aseana One 860 6,880

Aseana Two 685 5,480

Aseana Three 4,246 33,968

Aseana Powerstation 4,076 32,608

Aseana Square 1,297 10,376

DMW Field Office and 
Project Site N/A*** N/A***

Pixel Residences 1,213 9,704

Total waste generated 12,377 bags 99,016 kg

*All waste is collected by our private waste hauler and is sent to the landfill.
**Each bag of waste is estimated to be 8 kg each.
***DMW Field Office does not have a formal waste tracking method in place. 
Waste is minimal in our construction sites as materials are sent back to our 
warehouses to be used in our next projects. DMW maximizes the materials we 
use for our projects to minimize waste.

Hazardous waste

Property Weight of waste transported in 2020 
(kg)

Grease 
waste**

Paint 
sludge

Busted 
lights

Aseana One 977 NA NA

Aseana Two 346.6

Aseana Three*** NA NA NA

Aseana Powerstation 6,152 NA NA

Aseana Square 2,590 NA NA

DMW Field Office and 
Project Site NA NA NA

Pixel Residences NA NA NA

Total hazardous waste 
transported*** 10,065 kg NA NA

*All hazardous wastes have been hauled and treated by our DENR-accredited 
contractors. All data are supported by manifestos submitted to the DENR. We 
are still in the process of applying for DENR certificates to further support some 
of the data through considering the hire of individual Pollution Control Officers 
per property. 
**Grease waste data only covers January to May 2020. This is because the 
contract with our previous hauler ended in September 2020. In the interim, we 
have a temporary hauler for our hazardous waste while looking into a long-term 
contract moving forward.  
***Aseana Three does not have a hazardous waste ID for 2019-2020. We will 
start tracking our hazardous waste for Aseana Three In 2021.

Effluents
While not a material ESG topic of DMW, we have been 
required to comply with the DENR Administrative 
Order 2016-08 for Water Quality Guidelines & General 
Effluents Standards since 2016. In 2020, DENR 
implemented higher parameters for water quality 
monitoring testing, to which we have submitted 
quarterly test results of our effluent data. We recognize 
a need to improve our performance on this topic, 
particularly when it comes to managing ammonia-
nitrogen, fecal coliform, and phosphate. As such, 
we aim to improve our management of effluents in 
the coming years and will be investing in improved 
technology to update onsite testing to meet the new 
DENR requirements. 

Regulations and Compliance
DMW and its subsidiaries all strive for full compliance 
with the environmental compliance regulations of the 
DENR and other regulatory bodies. Where there are 
any violations, the root cause is immediately assessed, 
reported, and addressed. Additional details of our many 
environmental protection measures can be found on 
page 36 of our 2019 Sustainability Report.

While we identified one (1) violation incident involving 
one of our F&B tenants in Aseana Powerstation in 
2020, we ensured that this was addressed properly in a 
timely manner. This incident involved the mismanaging 
of grease waste disposal, wherein it was found that 
one of our F&B tenants had not been complying 
with the grease waste disposal method imposed by  
the Company which resulted in the leakage into the 
local drainage piping. Our Pollution Control Officer 
promptly engaged in a dialogue with DENR-EMB, and 
submitted a position paper detailing the incident that 
occurred. Preventive measures were also implemented 
in response to this violation and to ensure that the 
Company maintains its full compliance to protocols 
stipulated by our regulators. 

GHG Emissions and Air Pollution
While greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and air 
pollution are not considered material to DMW, we 
nonetheless accept responsibility for the environmental 
impacts of our operations. By managing and mitigating 
our own emissions, we aim to set an example for our 
clients and our industry.

We continuously perform standard emissions testing 
to ensure our operations remain within an acceptable 
range of emissions. In 2020, we saw relatively little 
change to our Scope 1 emissions, and a sharp decrease 
in our Scope 2 emissions of 19%. We also appointed 
an Environmental Management Bureau (EMB)-
accredited Pollution Control Officer this year to ensure 
our compliance with the Philippine Environmental 
Impact State System (PD 1586), Toxic Substances and 
Hazardous and Nuclear Wastes Control Act of 1990 (RA 
6969), Ecological Solid Waste Management of 2000 (RA 
9003), and the Philippine Clean Water Act of 2004 (RA 
9275). This allows us to further monitor and measure 
our operational impact. As a liaison to the EMB, the 
officer also ensures we are up-to-date on the most 
recent regulatory changes.

With regard to air pollution, under normal 
circumstances we conduct annual Source Emission 
Tests (SETs) to help monitor our compliance with air 
quality standards as regulated by the DENR. However, 
in 2020 due to limited availability of test technicians 
from COVID-19-related restrictions, we were unable to 
conduct these tests. As such, we have not disclosed an 
update to our 2020 air pollutant data. We did, however, 
install more air quality monitoring devices within our 
properties to facilitate enhanced testing once regular 
schedules resume. 

In coming years, we will increase our efforts to raise 
company-wide awareness of the effects of climate 
change and GHG emissions and hope to enhance 
recognition of the risks we are facing via relevant 
company-wide initiatives. 

GHG emissions*

Air Pollutants
2019 2020

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) 2,555.50 N/A

Carbon monoxide (CO) 797.60 N/A

Sulfur oxides (SOx) --* --*

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs)

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs)

Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs)

Particulate matter (PM)

Material Use and Waste Management
We acknowledge that the development and operation 
of buildings account for large quantities of waste and 
material usage, which we manage as best we can to 
minimise negative impacts. We consider the lifecycle of 
every material we use, and minimise the environmental 
impacts associated with waste disposal through reuse 
and recycling throughout our project development 
process and property management operations.

For example, at Parqal, all construction materials and 
design elements were selected in alignment and 
compliance with Philippine Green Building Council’s 
Building for Ecologically Responsive Design Excellence 
(BERDE) Program. By considering the lifecycle of all 
aspects of the architectural design, structural frames, 
and other construction material, we aim to achieve a 
4 - 5 star ranking from BERDE in 2021. Also, material 
selection in all our developments is vetted against 
occupant health through safe non-toxic materials, 
durability and end-of-life reclamation options. 

We do our best to ensure that hazardous and non-
hazardous waste are appropriately segregated, 
stored and disposed of in accordance with regulatory 
requirements. Solid waste is collected, segregated and 
then hauled by a private hauler in accordance with 
building and estate rules and regulations. Hazardous 
and construction waste are separately transported and 
managed offsite by third party haulers. Ultimate waste 
disposal, including movements of hazardous waste 
and international shipments of waste, is controlled by 
contractors and thus not within the scope of material 
indicators included in our reporting. Regardless, we 
ensure that all hazardous waste is disposed of properly 
and labelled according to type. 

24,406.42020

2019

GROUP TOTAL GHG EMISSIONS  (TONNES CO2)

GHG Scope 1 - direct (tonnes CO2)

GHG Scope 2 - indirect (tonnes CO2)

34% 66%

30% 71% 26,839.9 *GHG Scope 1 emissions were calculated with the default emission factor 
from Volume 2 of 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas 
Inventories from the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) 
on stationary and mobile combustion. The GHG Scope 2 emissions uses 
National Grid Emission Factor (NGEF) from DOE.

Cases resolved through dispute resolution 

Non-compliance Incident/s Property 
involved

Environmental 
Law Fine, sanction, or resolution

Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 0 N/A N/A N/A

No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations 0 N/A N/A N/A

No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution 

1 Aseana 
Powerstation RA 9275

Submitted position paper to DENR; 
preventive measures were taken in 

response to the violation
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Employees by Gender

*Others include: Blue collar workers, skilled workers, project-based consultants, 
and project-based blue-collar and skilled workers

Total Number of New Hires 39

New Hire Rate 11.9%

*New hire rate = New hires / Total # of active employees

Attrition rate

Employee turnover in 2020 57

Attrition 17.4%

*DMW internal measures turnover as part of KPIs. Attrition = Average separated 
/ (Sum of Average Active + Sum of Average New Hire

Employee Benefits
A key aspect to our focus on housing innovative minds 
is ensuring that our employees are compensated fairly 

Housing Innovative Minds
We believe that our working culture and workforce are the greatest assets to our enterprise. As we reflect on 2020, 
we recognize more and more the importance of operating as a reliable employer and cultivating an engaging 
workplace that offers meaningful jobs that are shaped by our workforce diversity and company-wide core values. 
26% of our material ESG topics are concentrated in this area because providing a healthy and sustainable working 
environment for our employees are vital to our core values and our success.

Material topics Relevant SDGs

Health and Safety
Employee Training and Competency
Ethical Business Operations
Employee Turnover, Attrition, and Retention
Corruption/ Fraud

SDG 3: Good Health and Well-Being
SDG 5: Gender Equality
SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth
SDG 16: Peace, Justice, and Strong Institutions

We aim to be an employer of choice that attracts and 
retains the best talent. We do this by promoting diversity 
and equal opportunities as well as safeguarding 
employees’ health and safety. The Company's HR 
policies ensure that our approach to employment, 
including fair hiring practices, compensation and 
benefits, dismissal, retirement support, working hours, 
rest periods, anti-discrimination, and employee welfare 
all meet or exceed local legal requirements and promote 
an honest and collaborative workplace.

Our commitment to our employees was put to the test 
in 2020, as we sought to ensure a safe and healthy 
working environment as well as continuous employment 
despite the pandemic. As a response to the pandemic, 
we have implemented the following: : 
• While many other companies became vulnerable 

to fluctuating employment, we earmarked a P100 
million emergency contingency fund to help 
alleviate the financial situations of our employees 
and tenants. The emergency fund ensured the 
continuity of wages, leave conversions, and other 
financial support for our workforce. 

• In March 2020, we formed an interdisciplinary 
committee (including Operations, Senior 
Management, Human Resources, etc.) to develop 
a business continuity plan to address how the 
company will pivot, adjust, and evolve during these 
challenging times.

• To ensure the stability and resilience of our 
workforce, the hiring process has focused on 
essential positions required to maintain operations 
amid the pandemic. 

• We further streamlined operations by leveraging 
technological options. For instance, 33% of hiring 
is now done online - from interviews to processing 
documents. While 64% of the interviews remain in-
person where required, our Human Resources has 
created a sustainable and efficient process that will 
continue to evolve beyond 2021.

As a result, there was no large-scale downsizing and 
compensation and employment for all our staff was 
maintained. In 2020, our attrition rate was 17.4%, and 
our overall employment increased by 11.9%.

To show our appreciation for all the hard work and 
collaboration across our team in 2020, while adhering 
to social distancing measures, the Company celebrated 
Christmas in style via an online holiday party. While just 
a token show of gratitude, the party epitomized how 
resilient the team can be.

and competitively. We offer a full range of benefits that 
support our team. This includes health care coverage, 
ways to save for the future, and other resources to 
improve well-being. This incentive-based compensation 
system fosters a sense of meritocracy and encourages 
the active participation of employees in fulfilling their 
roles responsibly and to the best of their abilities. 

Our Human Resources Operations practices adhere to 
all Labor Code of the Philippines as set by the Bureau 
of Working Conditions under DOLE. We have also 
adjusted our employment policies in response to the 
impact of COVID-19 and the subsequent shifts to our 
working environment, while still maintaining compliance 
with Department of Labor and Employment (DOLE) 
regulations.

Diversity and Inclusion
Diversity and inclusion are an important component 
of our approach to talent management. By seeking 
top talent from a diverse pool, we can help guarantee 
that we have the right team of people to help us reach 
our goals. As such, we have established practices that 
support our position on prohibiting discrimination or 
harassment on the basis of race, color, religion, national 
origin, sex, age, citizenship, marital status, disability, 
veteran or military status, or any other basis protected 
by applicable law. 

Beyond our hiring practices, we strive for diversity 
and inclusion in other areas. There is an industry-wide 
exodus of experienced skilled workers as many of the 
industry’s most skilled workers are transitioning to 
retirement. This is creating an experience and skills 
gap between the experienced workers over 50 and 
the younger new hires. 85% of our team is aged 50 
years or younger and via cross-training, we aim to 
retain institutional knowledge within the organization 
by encouraging collaborative upskilling across the age 
groups of our team. 

Although we are in an industry that customarily attracts 
more male applicants, we recognize that there is always 
progress to be made, and we will continue to find ways 
to improve our gender balance in coming years.

Diversity – vulnerable groups

Employees from so-
cio-economic class D & E 
(base of the pyramid)

24%

*Employees come from the blue-collar and skilled workers, both regular and 
contract-based workers, under DMW and Fabricom.

GROUP TOTAL
HEADCOUNT IN 2020

DMWAI

ARHC

ACTCC

Fabricom

AHI

U-City

ARESM

54%

8%

6%

1%

2%

14%

15%

39%66%

3282020

2019

GROUP TOTAL EMPLOYEES BY GENDER

Male Female

66% 39%

34167% 33%

TOP
MANAGEMENT

SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

1
7

3
10

MIDDLE
MANAGEMENT

12

18
SUPERVISORS

24

56

64

43

7

83
RANK &

FILE OTHERS

EMPLOYEES BY POSITION AND GENDER

Male Female
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Human Rights
Human rights are material to DMW and we support the 
ideal that all people should be valued and respected. 
Consistent with our values, we are dedicated to 
complying with all laws and regulations that relate to 
human rights compliance. We commit to embedding 
human rights practices into our corporate culture as 
an ongoing commitment to our values and to being a 
responsible business. 

Harassment-Free Workplace
We believe all employees deserve to work in an 
environment free of harassment, and we do not tolerate 
any harassment amongst employees. The cornerstone 
to achieving a harassment-free workplace is our 
Employee Health, Safety, and Welfare policy which 
stipulates the procedures to report, resolve, settle and/
or dispose harassment cases.

Anti-Corruption 
Anti-corruption is material to DMW as we have built 
our business on trust and our reputation for fair and 
ethical business practices. We have zero tolerance for 
bribes, kickbacks or any other illegal business practices 
and require our employees to ask questions or raise 
concerns on ethics and compliance issues that they 
believe may be contrary to our values. Our Board of 
Directors leads the stand against corrupt practices in 
DMW. 

The Company adheres to relevant laws, rules and 
regulations, and codes of best business practices as 
stated in the provisions of the Anti-Graft and Corrupt 
Practices, Code of Conduct for Government Officials, 
and other anti-bribery laws. Our Anti-corruption Policy 
provides guidance for bribery, extortion, and the 
solicitation of money, material objects, free meals, 
signing privileges, discounts, and other special favors, 
for any purpose not sanctioned by the company. 
Violation of this policy results in an immediate dismissal 
on the first offense. The Anti-Corruption Policy is 
discussed during the New Employee Orientation (NEO) 
and enforced through ongoing communications to our 
stakeholders. Our tenured employees also undergo 
refresher training organized by the Human Resources 
Department to reinforce Company policies relating to 
anti-corruption.

We also make sure our stakeholders are informed and 
compliant with our anti-corruption and other related 
policies, as reinforced in the contracts and agreements 
we execute. 

Prior to the onset of the COVID-19 pandemic, we had 
already provided many of our employees with a range 
of online training programs. This was instrumental 
in the smooth transition to remote working and 
increased employee engagement during the COVID-19 
government restrictions. To build on this, we fast-
tracked the implementation of our online anti-corruption 
training program. As a result, we saw full compliance 
to Anti-Corruption Training from our Board of Directors 
and other stakeholders.

Anti-Corruption Training
Received training and/or communication on DMW’s 
Anti-Corruption policy in 2020 

Directors

EMPLOYEES

Business 
PartnersMiddle 

Management
Rank & 

File

Skilled 
Workers, 

Officers & 
Professionals

8 9 11 19 6

Total 8* 39 6

% 100% 100% (of new hires)**
100% 

(of new 
suppliers)

*Our board of directors annually partake in corporate governance sessions 
where there are dedicated modules on Anti-Corruption.
**New hires go through employee onboarding and orientation programs which 
cover the DMW’s Anti-Corruption policy.

Health and Safety 
To protect and promote employee well-being, all our 
offices and operation sites maintain high standards 
of health and safety, and employees are encouraged 
and supported to lead healthy lives, contributing to a 
workforce that is healthy, safe and motivated. When it 
comes to occupational health and safety (OHS), the 
Company operates in full compliance with applicable 
laws and regulations to provide a safe working 
environment. We ensure that our protocols comply with 
the Inter-Agency Task Force on Emerging Infectious 
Diseases (IATF) as well as our own internal strict 
standards for OHS.

Our Joint Safety and Health Committee, which 
comprises management and technical staff within 
individual operations, reviews our OHS policies regularly 
to ensure compliance and keep our team safe. Our 
Employee Health and Welfare Policy as well as our core 
safety programs and injury-reduction initiatives aim 
to ensure that workplace hazards are identified and 
employees are empowered to report workplace hazards 
to their supervisor without any fear of repercussion. 
More details of our OHS management can be found in 
the 2019 SR, on pages 39 and 40. 

Ratio of the lowest-paid employee against minimum wage

Ratio of the lowest-paid employee against 
minimum wage 1:1

*DMW adheres to government standards on minimum daily wage for our regular 
rank & file staff and project-based blue-collar & skilled workers.

Training and Competency
Despite logistical challenges brought on by COVID-19, 
we were able to pivot our training programs towards 
skills that enable our team to more easily conduct 
their day-to-day responsibilities as they transition to 
a virtual environment. This has included training on 
business skills and ethics, technology refresher courses, 
negotiation skills, and presentation skills, to name 
a few. Additionally, virtual mentoring and coaching 
sessions continued throughout the year. The switch 
from onsite to remote operations was one of the biggest 
changes the company has had to manage and the close 
coordination across our IT, Operations, and Human 
Resources departments ensured as smooth a transition 
as possible. 

To support employees as they transition their roles 
and responsibilities in a virtual environment, and to 
supplement the lack of in-person interaction, the Human 
Resources Department hosted quarterly ‘HR Hour’ 
discussing updates on Learning and Development, Talent 
Acquisitions, HR Operations, and other COVID-19-care 
related topics. Additionally, regular COVID-19-related self-
care recommendations have been regularly disseminated 
to all employees to support their physical, mental, 
emotional, and psychological wellness. These online 
interactions have been well received by employees. 

Over the course of 2020, we provided over twenty (20) 
training courses and workshops, many of which were 
online. We saw an increase in attendance amongst our 
female staff which is due to the fact that more of them 
could attend online, while working from home, and 
could fit the courses into their own schedules. We are 
delighted to see this increase in interest and willingness 
to upgrade skillsets, and will continue to expand our 
online training offerings in coming years. 

In continuation of our plans to advance employee 
development plans mentioned in the 2019 Sustainability 
Report, our Human Resources Department developed 
Career Pathing, a formalized and proactive career 
path program for high-performing employees. We look 
forward to expanding this program in the coming years.

Employee training hours – by gender

Male Female Total

Total training hours* 427.5 684.5 1,112

Average hours of training per employee 5.12 10.02 3.39

*This includes both in-house trainings and external trainings conducted by 3rd 

party groups.

In-House Training programs

PROGRAM TOPICS AND SKILLS TACKLED

New Employee 
Orientation

Company Profile, Vision, Mission and 
Values, The Wenceslao Family, House 
Rules, Policies and Procedures (including 
Anti-Corruption policies), Dress Code, 
Safety and Health Protocols and Guidelines

HR Hour HR Updates, Timekeeping Policies and 
Procedures, Protocols and Guidelines and 
other pandemic-related topics (Resilience, 
Health Tips, Mental Health)

Sales Training Presentation Skills for Property Specialists

Handling Counselling 
Session: The HR 
Guide Training

Handling Counselling Sessions for 
Employees

Safety Marshal 
Orientation

COVID Prevention Measures, Protocols and 
Guidelines in the Workplace

External training programs, seminars, courses

PROGRAM TOPICS AND SKILLS 
TACKLED

Managing Business Relationships – An 
Effective Negotiation Skills Program 

Negotiation and 
communication

Effective Presentation Skills Online 
Training 

Presentation and 
communication

Proficiency Level: Intermediate Excel 
Online Training 

Data analysis and 
presentation 

BOSH Safety and Health for Safety 
Officers 

COSH Safety and Health for Safety 
Officers 

The Data Privacy Practice for Employees 
and Process Owners 

Data analysis and 
presentation

Business Email and Phone Etiquette Communication and 
customer service

Business Writing Mentoring Workshop Communication and 
customer service

Gamification in Assessments Talent management

Strategic Organization Management Organizational development 
and design 

Online Intellicare Orientation Medical benefits awareness

Toastmasters Meeting Public speaking 

ISO 9001:2015 Orientation Process standardization

57th PMAP Annual Conference Company policies and 
practices during Pandemic 

Upgrading Material Engineer-2 Online 
Training 

Professional development 
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In 2020, our team met several COVID-19 related challenges head-on, including:
• Submitting an SEC Form 17-C indicating our intention to adopt various types of flexible working arrangements, 

as well as establishing a set of building ingress/egress protocols, and sharing our social distancing policy in 
response to COVID-19. 

• Accommodations were provided to our site-based for the duration of their work period to avoid COVID-19 
transmission or infection. 

• Conducting regular onsite temperature and health checks. If an employee was found to have any COVID-19-related 
symptoms, they were sent home. To return to work, medical clearance is required.

• We also provided rapid-testing, antigen testing initiatives, and shuttle services to our employees to assist them 
with their transportation to and from the office with as minimal risks as possible.

In 2020, there were no cases of work-related injuries, fatalities, or ill-health related to our operations. This is a 
testament to our strict implementation of our safety policies that promote employee health and safety in the 
workplace. 

Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

A. ECONOMIC DISCLOSURES

Economic Performance     

Direct Economic Value Generated & Distributed

Direct economic value generated (Revenue)

Php

3,513,391,951.00 2,734,364,926.00 -22%

Direct economic value distributed

Operating costs 772,692,252.00 850,394,544.00 +10%

Employee wages & benefits 137,508,259.00 156,690,816.00 +14%

Payments to suppliers and other operating costs 2,815,044,883.00 3,433,841,046.93 +22%

Dividends to stockholders and interest payments to loan 
providers

218,346,723.00 185,664,130.94 -15%

Taxes given to government 1,157,052,421.00 637,849,282.00 -45%

Community investments (e.g. donations, CSR) 301,841,117.00 82,361,694.00 -73%

Climate-Related Risks and Opportunities      

-- -- -- --

Procurement Practices     

Proportion of Spending on Local Suppliers

Percentage of procurement budget spent on local 
suppliers % 99 93 -6%

Anti-Corruption     

Training on Anti-Corruption Policies & Procedures

Percentage of employees who have received written 
communication about corporate anti-corruption policies 
and procedures

%
100 100 No change

Percentage of business partners who have received 
written communication about corporate anti-corruption 
policies and procedures

100 100 No change

Percentage of directors and management who have 
received anti-corruption training

100 100 No change

Percentage of employees who have received anti-
corruption training  
(all new hires undergo mandatory orientation covering 
anti-corruption training, hence all employees)

100
(adjusted % to reflect 

all employees)

100 No change

Incidents of Corruption      

Number of incidents in which directors were removed or 
disciplined for corruption # 0 0 No change

Number of incidents in which employees were dismissed 
or disciplined for corruption

0 0

Number of incidents when contracts with business 
partners were terminated due to corruption

0 0

SEC ESG Data Table

Awards and Recognitions

No. 2 Taxpayer on Real Property Tax 
Collection 2019
City Government of Paranaque
D.M. Wenceslao and Associates, Inc.

No. 4 Taxpayer on Real Property Tax 
Collection 2018
City Government of Paranaque
D.M. Wenceslao and Associates, Inc.

Management Excellence Award 2018
BizNewsAsia
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

MVP Bossing Award 2018
PLDT
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

DTI Pillar of the Construction Industry 
2017
Department of Trade and Industry, 
Philippines

BCI Asia Top 10 Developers Award 2017
BCI Asia Awards 2017 
Aseana Holdings, Inc.

Asia CEO Awards 2016
Wells Fargo Technology Company
Aseana Holdings, Inc.

Water Warrior Award for Corporate 
Green Initiative 2016
World Water Day Awards 2016 
(MAYNILAD)
Aseana Business Park Estate 
Association, Inc. (ABPEA)

Outstanding Taxpayer Award 2015
City Government of Paranaque

Outstanding Corporate Commercial 
Partner 2014
Meralco (The Luminaries)
Aseana Holdings, Inc.

Outstanding Taxpayer Award 2014
City Government of Paranaque
Aseana Holdings, Inc.

Disabled Friendly Establishment of the 
Year 2013
Philippine Foundation for the 
Rehabilitation of the Disabled, Inc.
Aseana One, Aseana Holdings, Inc.

DMW represents the Philippines in 
Architecture@20
We are delighted to have been recently selected to represent the Philippines 
in Architecture@20 - a yearbook that features projects located in modern 
cities across the Asia Pacific such as China, Indonesia, Malaysia, Myanmar, 
Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam.

Parqal is a 5-hectare mixed-use development with a gross floor area of 78,000 
square meters with nine independent 4-storey buildings. Reimagining the 
integrated urban street with modern conveniences, Parqal is set to become 
the ideal model of a community-focused development by offering residents a 
wealthy selection of services and facilities that include lush greenery, office 
suites, shops and retails, and dining options.

Learn more about this prestigious recognition on the DMW website.

Presidential Citation Award, 2013
Pasay - Makati Realty Board, Inc.
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

Presidential Service Award 2011
JCI Senate Philippines, Inc.
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

Chairman’s Circle Award 2011
Philippine Jaycee Senate Foundation, Inc.
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

The BNA Real Estate Who is Who 2009 
Brew Award 2009
BizNewsAsia
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.

Barons Who’s Who of the Asian Pacific 
Rim 1997 - 1998
Baron’s Who’s Who
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr.
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Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

Cement  176,040 8,800 -95%

Common wire nail * 75 N/A

G.I. tie wire * 12,235 N/A

HTS (PC strand) * 378,861 N/A

Percentage of recycled input materials used to 
manufacture the organization’s primary products and 
services

0.00 *  N/A

  Ecosystems and Biodiversity

Operational sites owned, leased in, or adjacent to, 
protected areas and areas of high biodiversity value 
outside protected areas

#
N/A N/A N/A

Habitats protected or restored

IUCN Red List species and national conservation list 
species with habitats in areas affected by operations

Environmental Impact Management

  Air Emissions - Green House Gases 
(reflects DMW-occupied spaces and common areas only – adjusted for 2019)

Direct (Scope 1) GHG Emissions tCO2 1,045.50 1,041.70 -0.36%

Energy indirect (Scope 2) GHG Emissions 2,515.90 2,045.40 -19%

Emissions of ozone-depleting substances N/A N/A N/A

  Air Pollutants 

Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg/Nm3 2,555.50 N/A N/A

Carbon monoxide (CO) 797.60 N/A

Sulfur oxides (SOx) N/A N/A

Persistent organic pollutants (POPs) N/A N/A

Volatile organic compounds (VOCs) N/A N/A

Hazardous air pollutants (HAPs) N/A N/A

Particulate matter (PM) N/A N/A

  Solid Waste 

Total solid waste generated kg 160,232.00 99,016.00 -38%

Breakdown of disposal method (reused, recycled, 
composted, incinerated, landfilled) -- Landfilled Landfilled N/A

  Hazardous Waste

Total weight of hazardous waste generated and 
transported (including with and without supporting DENR 
certificates; larger number in 2020 is due to more accurate 
measurement)

kg

9,061.00 10,065.50 +11%

  Effluents

Total volume of water discharges  
(assumed to be equal to water withdrawal due to no meter 
installed to measure effluents)

m3
179,556.00 61,268.50 N/A

Percent of wastewater recycled % 0.00 0.00

Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

B. ENVIRONMENT DISCLOSURES

Resource Management    

  Energy Consumption within the Organization and Reduction of Energy Consumption

Energy consumption - by fuel type GJ

Renewable Sources N/A N/A N/A

LPG N/A N/A N/A

Gasoline 199.45 135.28 -32%

Diesel - by business activity 13,923.03 13,932.17 +0.07%

Transport 7,274.10 7,037.55 -3%

Generator sets 1,725.32 1,760.04 +2%

Construction equipment 4,923.61 5,134.58 +4%

Electricity (based on DMW-occupied spaces and common 
areas only – adjusted for 2019) kWh 3,532,628.59 2,871,924.26 -19%

Energy reduction - by fuel type %

Gasoline -32%

Diesel 0%

Electricity -19%

  Water Consumption within the Organization 

Water consumption within the organization m3 179,556.00 61,268.50 N/A

Water withdrawal 
(2019 reflects full building, 2020 data based on DMW-
occupied spaces and common areas only)

179,556.00 61,268.50

Water recycled and reused 0.00 0.00

  Materials Used by the Organization  

Materials used by weight or volume
*currently not tracked for this report

Renewable kg 0.00 * N/A

Non-renewable (includes only materials where weights are available or can be estimated)

Industrial oils  kg/liter  4,000 0

Engine oil  L 2,800 3,000 +7%

Hydraulic oil  L 5,600 4,400 -21%

Acetylene  Tank  159 246 +55%

Oxygen  Tank  332 501 +51%

Ready-mix concrete  kg  58,495,200 24,571,080 -58%

Deformed rebars  88,497 3,125,539 3432%

Asphalt  8,218,570 0

Vibro sand  436,416.90 41,270.00 -91%

Gravel  500,442.80 53,760 -89%

SEC ESG Data Table
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Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

Environmental Compliance

  Non-compliance with environmental laws and regulations

Total amount of monetary fines for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulations Php 0 0 No change

No. of non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with 
environmental laws and/or regulation # 0 0

No. of cases resolved through dispute resolution 
mechanism # 0 1 N/A

C. SOCIAL DISCLOSURES

Employee Management   

  Employee Hiring and Benefits      

Total number of employees # 341 328 -4%

Number of female employees # 113 111 -2%

Number of male employees # 228 217 -5%

Attrition rate (= Total separated employees / Total Active 
including New Hires) %

39% 
(adjusted to reflect 

correct formula)

17.4%  -55%

Ratio of lowest paid employee against minimum wage ratio 1:1 1:1 No change

List of Employee Benefits 

SSS 

% female
% male

9% 19% 111%

21% 23% 10%

PhilHealth  1% 5% 400%

1% 2% 100%

Pag-ibig  8% 5% -38%

2% 12% 500%

Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

Parental leaves 

% female
% male

2% 0% -100%

1% 0%  -100%

Vacation leaves  60% 66% 10%

42% 46% 10%

Sick leaves  62% 65% 5%

43% 40% -7%

Medical benefits - HMO 70% 81% 16%

54% 58% 7%

Retirement fund (aside from SSS)*  N/A  0% N/A

N/A  4% N/A

Telecommuting  N/A  96% N/A

N/A  63% N/A

Flexible-working hours**  77% 86% 12%

39% 54% 38%

Magna Carta of Women (leaves) 1%  0% -100%

N/A  N/A N/A

Cash advances  3%  7% +133%

4%  17% +325%

Car plan  0% 0% No change

0% 0.40% N/A

Housing assistance (aside from Pag-ibig) N/A  N/A N/A

N/A  N/A

Further education support N/A  N/A N/A

N/A  N/A

Company stock options N/A  N/A N/A

N/A  N/A

  Employee Training and Development 

Total training hours provided to employees hr 3,928 1,112 -72%

by female hr 1,478 684.5 -54%

by male hr 2,450 427.5 -83%

Average training hours provided to employees hr/employee 3.39 -71%

by female hr/female  13.08 10 -23%

by male hr/male  10.75 5 -52%

SEC ESG Data Table
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Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

  Labor Management Relations

% of employees covered by Collective Bargaining 
Agreements % N/A  N/A N/A

Number of consultations conducted with employees 
concerning employee-related policies # 4  4 No change

  Diversity and Equal Opportunity

% of female workers in the workforce % 33 34 +3%

% of male workers in the workforce % 67 66 -1.5%

Number of employees from indigenous communities and/
or vulnerable sector # 8 (elderly & solo 

parents)
78 (class D & E) N/A

  Workplace Conditions, Labor Standards, and Human Rights Occupational Health and Safety

Safe man-hours (covers site-based workers only) hr 243,088 220,712 -9.2%

No. of work-related injuries

#

0 1 N/A

No. of work-related fatalities 0 0 No change

No. of work-related ill-health 0 0

No. of safety drills and training (includes those undergone 
by both employees & on-site workers)

Safety drills once a 
year per bldg

6 employee safety 
trainings

N/A

Weekly huddles 
to reinforce safety 

protocols for on-site 
workers

  Labor Laws and Human Rights

Policies that explicitly disallow violations of labor laws and human rights in the workplace

Forced labor Y/N N/A N/A N/A

Child labor Y/N

Human rights Y/N

Anti-harassment Y/N N Y (Employee Health, 
Safety & Welfare 

policy)

No. of legal actions or employee grievances involving 
forced or child labor # 0 0 No change

 Supply Chain Management 

  Supplier Accreditation and Screening      

Supplier accreditation policy Y/N Y Y No change

Considering sustainability topics when screening 
suppliers: environmental performance, forced labor, child 
labor, human rights, bribery and corruption

Y/N
N N

Unit 2019 2020
YOY 

change

Relationship with Community 

  Significant Impacts on Local Communities

For operations affecting IPs, total number of Free and Prior 
Informed Consent (FPIC) consultations and Certification 
Preconditions (CPs) secured

#
N/A N/A N/A

Customer Management

Customer Satisfaction 

Average Customer Experience Survey scores by property NPS N/A 13.7 N/A

Aseana One NPS N/A 18.1

Aseana Two NPS N/A 13.8

Aseana Three NPS N/A 9.2

Did a third party conduct the customer satisfaction study? Y/N N/A N

Health and Safety

Number of substantiated complaints on product or service 
health and safety # N/A N/A N/A

Number of complaints addressed # N/A N/A N/A

Marketing and Labelling

Number of substantiated complaints on marketing and 
labelling # N/A N/A N/A

Number of complaints addressed # N/A N/A N/A

Customer Privacy 

Number of substantiated complaints on customer privacy # N/A N/A N/A

Number of complaints addressed # N/A N/A N/A

Number of customers, users and account holders whose 
information is used for secondary purposes # N/A N/A N/A

Data Security

No. of data breaches, including leaks, thefts and losses of 
data # N/A N/A N/A

SEC ESG Data Table
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 CORPORATE
  Governance

We recognize and affirm 
that good corporate 
governance is a 
necessary component 
of what constitutes 
sound strategic business 
management.

At D.M. Wenceslao, we put good governance at 
the center of how we conduct our business. We 
recognize and affirm that good corporate governance 
is a necessary component of what constitutes sound 
strategic business management. As such, we have 
adopted the Company’s Revised Manual on Corporate 
Governance in 2019, pursuant to the New Code on 
Corporate Governance for Publicly Listed Companies 
issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) in compliance with SEC Memorandum Circular 
No. 19 Series of 2016 and SEC Memorandum Circular 
No. 8 Series of 2017. 

The structure and processes set forth in the Manual, 
the Articles of Incorporation and By-laws, in conjunction 
with the commitment to the governance principles of 
transparency, accountability, fairness and integrity, form 
the basic framework of governance by which our Board 
of Directors, officers, executives and employees strive to 
achieve the Company’s strategic objectives, create value 
for all its stakeholders, and sustain its long-term viability.
Our Manual features the following provisions: 

• Protection of Investors - The Manual provides 
for shareholders’ rights and protection, investor 
relations, dividend policy and a disclosure system to 
ensure transparency and accountability.

• Board of Directors and Management -The 
detailed qualifications and disqualifications, duties, 
functions and responsibilities of the Board and 
executive officers are also enumerated in the 
Manual

• Checks and Balances - The Manual contains 
the vision, strategic objectives, key policies, 
procedures for the management of our Company, 
and mechanisms for monitoring and evaluating 
management’s performance.

• Compliance with the Manual -The appointment 
of a Compliance Officer to monitor compliance with 
and violations of the Manual is also provided. 

• Creation of Committees - The Manual mandates 
the creation of the Executive Committee, the 
Audit and Risk Committee, and the Compensation 
and Remuneration Committee to ensure the 
performance of certain important functions of the 
Board and management.
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The Board of Directors
Compliance with the principles of good corporate governance starts with the Board of Directors. Our Board of 
Directors is primarily responsible for the governance of D.M. Wenceslao. Corollary to setting the strategies and 
policies to accomplish the corporate objectives, our Board provides an independent check on our management 
team, and reviews and comments on the strategic directions identified by the latter. It is also its responsibility to 
foster the long-term success of our Company, and to sustain its competitiveness and profitability in a manner 
consistent with its corporate objectives and the best interests of our stockholders. To ensure a high standard of best 
practice for our Company and, our stockholders, the Board conducts itself with utmost honesty and integrity in the 
discharge of its duties, functions, and responsibilities.

Board Meeting Attendance 2020

Name No. of Meetings Attended/Held Percent Present

Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr. 6/6 100%

Delfin Angelo C. Wenceslao 6/6 100%

Paolo Vincent C. Wenceslao 6/6 100%

Carlos Delfin C. Wenceslao 6/6 100%

Edwin Michael C. Wenceslao 6/6 100%

Oscar S. Reyes 6/6 100%

Alberto P. Fenix, Jr. 6/6 100%

Executive Committee
Our Executive Committee acts on specific matters 
within the competence of the Board as may from time 
to time be delegated to the executive Committee under 
our Company’s By-Laws, except with respect to:
1. the approval of any action for which shareholders’ 

approval is also required; 
2. the filling of vacancies on the Board or the Executive 

Committee; 
3. the amendment or repeal of By-Laws or the 

adoption of new By-laws; 
4. the amendment or repeal of any resolution of the 

Board of Directors that cannot be amended or 
repealed based on the terms of the resolution; 

5. the distribution of cash dividends; and 
6. the exercise of powers delegated by the Board 

exclusively to other committees, if any.

Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr. Chairman

Delfin Angelo C. Wenceslao Member

Paolo Vincent C. Wenceslao Member

Audit and Risk Committee
Our Audit and Risk committee is responsible for 
assisting the Board in its fiduciary responsibilities by 
providing an independent and objective assurance to 
its management and shareholders of the continuous 
improvement of its risk management systems, business 
operations, control and governance processes. 

The Committee assists the Board in the performance 
of its oversight responsibility for the financial reporting 
process, system of internal control, audit process 
and monitoring of compliance with laws, rules and 
regulations, oversight over the external auditors, the 
nature, scope and expenses of the audit, and evaluation 
and determination of any non-audit work and review of 
the non-audit fees paid to the external auditors.

Oscar S. Reyes Chairman

Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr. Member

Delfin Angelo C. Wenceslao Member

Compensation and Renumeration Committee
Our Compensation and Remuneration Committee is 
responsible for objectively recommending a formal and 
transparent framework of remuneration and evaluation 
for the members of the Board and our key executives to 
enable them to run our Group successfully.

Paolo Vincent C. Wenceslao Chairman

Oscar S. Reyes Member

Edwin Michael C. Wenceslao Member

Nomination and Election Committee
Our Nomination and Election Committee is responsible 
for providing our shareholders with an independent and 
objective evaluation and assurance that the members 
of the Board are competent and will foster long-term 
success and competitiveness. The nomination and 
election procedures of independent Directors are in 
accordance with Securities Regulation Code of the 
Philippines Rule 38 and related regulations.

Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr. Chairman

Alberto P. Fenix, Jr. Member

Carlos Delfin C. Wenceslao Member

Enterprise Risk Management
We recognize that risk management is an integral part 
of sound management practice and good corporate 
governance as it guides decision-making, improves 
results, and strengthens accountability. As a result, 
we established a sound risk management practice 
through the institutionalization of our Enterprise Risk 
Management Manual. Our Risk Manual provides a 
systematic and structured framework in which material 
risks are identified and addressed in a way that:
• gives reasonable assurance that the use of 

the valuable organizational resources is being 
effectively prioritized. 

• results to practical, effective, and accountable 
actions and decisions, reasonable in relation to the 
conditions within which the Company operates.

Statement of Policy
The board of directors, management, officers and 
staff of D.M. Wenceslao are committed to the effective 
management of risk by integrating risk management 
practice into all of our business processes and 
operations. It is our policy to adopt best practices in the 
identification, analysis, evaluation, communication, and 
cost-effective management of material risks to ensure 
the attainment of our corporate vision and mission.

The Risk Management Process

Identifying Risk. We identify the internal and external 
risks that impact the performance of strategy and 
business objectives. When identifying the risks, we also 
consider the environmental, social, and governance 
(ESG)-related factors that could affect the Company’s 
ability to achieve its strategy or objectives. The 
identification process may include surveys, workshops 
and interviews with risk owners and executives to 
confirm existing risks or understand new or emerging 
risks.

Assessing and Prioritizing Risk. After the 
identification of risks, we assess the impact and 
likelihood of each risk using a defined impact criteria 
and likelihood criteria. Once the risks are assessed, 
we determine the “top 10 risks” of the company using 
a 25-box Risk Heat Map to depict the prioritization 
of its most critical risks according to the impact and 
likelihood. Risk assessment shall be done continuously 
and throughout the Company.

Responding to Risk. Once the “top 10 risks” are 
identified, we select and deploy an appropriate risk 
response, which may be to avoid, transfer, reduce, 
accept, or exploit the risk.

Monitoring the Risk. We continuously monitor the 
risks and effectiveness of the implementation of the 
strategies and action plans, as well as the effectiveness 
of the Company’s ERM framework. As the ERM 
process is not a one-time or static activity, we assess 
the effectiveness of the ERM process through regular 
feedback and assessment with the management and 
other stakeholders.

IDENTIFY Clarify and align with 
VMV, governance and 
culture

Identify risks to 
strategic objectives

ASSESS Assess and analyze 
risks

Prioritize risks

RESPOND Develop RM strategies 
and action plans

Develop RM process 
and reports

MONITOR Review and improve Integrate with 
assurance processes
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 BOARD
  of Directors

DELFIN J. WENCESLAO, JR.
Director, President and Chairman of the Board
 
Mr. Delfin J. Wenceslao, Jr. is the President, Chairman of the 
Board and co-founder of the Company since April 1965. He is 
also the President or Chairman of all of the Group companies. 
In addition, he was formerly the President of the Philippine 
Constructors Association, a board member of the International 
Federation of Asian and Western Pacific Contractors’ 
Associations, and a member of the Chamber of Real Estate & 
Builders’ Associations, Inc. 

Mr. Wenceslao, Jr. is a licensed real estate broker and holds a 
Bachelor of Science degree in Economics from Ateneo de Manila 
University, a Master of Business Administration degree and a 
Doctorate of Business Administration from Pamantasan Lungsod 
ng Maynila. 

DELFIN ANGELO C. WENCESLAO
Director and Chief Executive Officer

Mr. Delfin Angelo C. Wenceslao is a Director and the Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company since June 2015. He is the 
President of Aseana Holdings, Inc., Aseana Gas Energy Corp. and 
U-City Technologies Philippines, Inc. He is also the Managing 
Director of Aseana Real Estate and Management Corp. He serves 
as the Chief Executive Officer of ABPEA and Vice President of 
Property Management of Aseana Residential Holdings Corp. 
(formerly Bowood Holdings, Inc.) and Portal Holdings, Inc. He 
also serves as an executive officer for almost all of the Group 
companies. 

Mr. Wenceslao is a licensed real estate broker and holds a 
Bachelor of Arts degree in Management Economics from Ateneo 
de Manila University and a Master of Science degree in Real 
Estate Development from Massachusetts Institute of Technology. 

PAOLO VINCENT C. WENCESLAO
Director and Chief Operating Officer

Mr. Paolo Vincent C. Wenceslao is a Director and the 
Chief Operating Officer of the Company since June 2015. 
He is the President of Wendel Ground Improvement, Inc., 
and Vice President of Operations of Aseana Residential 
Holdings Corp. (formerly Bowood Holdings, Inc.), Portal 
Holdings Inc. and ABCC. He is also the Chief Operating 
Officer of ABPEA and serves as a director of a majority of 
our Group companies. 

Mr. Wenceslao is a licensed civil engineer and real estate 
broker. He holds a Bachelor of Science degree in Civil 
Engineering from De La Salle University. 
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EDWIN MICHAEL C. WENCESLAO
Director and Treasurer

Mr. Edwin Michael C. Wenceslao is a Director and the Treasurer 
of the Company since 2002. He also serves as a director and 
Treasurer of Aseana Holdings, Inc., Fabricom, Inc., BAHI and 
other affiliates of the Company. He is a director and Treasurer of 
Aseana Residential Holdings Corp. (formerly Bowood Holdings, 
Inc.), Aseana Gas Energy Corp. and U-City Technologies 
Philippines, Inc. He likewise serves as a director of Portal 
Holdings, Inc., WHI and other affiliates of the company. 

Mr. Wenceslao holds a Bachelor of Arts degree in Humanities 
with specialization in Entrepreneurial Management from the 
University of Asia, and the Pacific and a Master of Business 
Administration degree from the Ateneo Graduate School of 
Business.

CARLOS DELFIN C. WENCESLAO
Director and Vice President for Logistics

Mr. Carlos Delfin C. Wenceslao is a Director of the Company 
since May 1997. He is the President of Urban Agro Products, 
Inc., the Executive Vice President of SHLP-BBP Realty Inc., 
and the Corporate Secretary of ABPEA. He is a director and 
Vice President of Logistics of Aseana Residential Holdings 
Corp. (formerly Bowood Holdings, Inc.) and Portal Holdings, 
Inc. He is a director of Aseana Holdings, Inc., WHI, and other 
affiliates of our Company.

OSCAR S. REYES
Independent Director

Mr. Oscar S. Reyes was elected as an independent Director of the 
Company in July 2019. He was the former President and Chief Executive 
Officer of Manila Electric Company from May 2012 to May 2019, wherein 
he also served as Senior Executive Vice President and Chief Operating 
Officer from July 2010 to May 2012. Mr. Reyes was the Country Chairman 
of the Shell companies in the Philippines, and the President & CEO of 
Pilipinas Shell Petroleum Corp. from May 1997 to December 2011. He 
also held various executive and directorship positions in these companies 
from January 1986 to December 2004. 

Mr. Reyes is currently an Independent Director of Manila Water Company, 
Pepsi Cola Products Philippines Inc., Basic Energy Corporation and Cosco 
Capital Inc., and a member of the Advisory Council of PLDT Inc., and Bank 
of the Philippine Islands. 

Mr. Reyes obtained his Bachelor of Arts Major in Economics (Cum Laude) 
from the Ateneo de Manila University in 1965 and Master of Business 
Administration (Academic units completed) from the Ateneo Graduate 
Business School in 1971. He also attended the Japan Productivity Center/
Asian Productivity Organization Business Management Consultants 
and Trainers’ Program, the Waterloo Lutheran University International 
Management Development Program in Canada, the Harvard Business 
School Program for Management Development in the United States, and 
the Lensbury Centre Commercial Management Study Program in the 
United Kingdom.

ALBERTO P. FENIX, JR.
Independent Director
 
Dr. Alberto P. Fenix, Jr. was elected as an independent Director 
of the Company on February 23, 2018. He has over 40 years of 
experience in various industries such as manufacturing, mining, 
commercial and investment banking, and real estate. He is a 
director of SPC Power Corporation and was also a director of 
Victorias Milling Company, Inc. He is also the Chairman and 
President of Fenix Management and Capital, Inc. and Alpina 
Realty, Inc., as well as President of Ivoclar Vivadent, Inc. 

Dr. Fenix holds both master’s and doctorate degrees in Industrial 
Management from Massachusetts Institute of Technology’s 
Sloan School of Management and a bachelor’s degree in 
Mathematics from Ateneo de Manila University.
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SENIOR
 Management

SYLVIA C. WENCESLAO
Vice President for Corporate Social 
Responsibility 

Ms. Sylvia C. Wenceslao is the 
Vice President for Corporate Social 
Responsibility of the Company 
since January 1992. She is the 
President of S Foods, Inc. and D 
Foods, Inc., the Vice Chairman of 
Wendel Construction Company 
Inc., a director and Vice President 
of Fabricom, Inc., the Treasurer of 
Philippine Ecopanel Inc., Wendel 
Holdings Company Inc. and Wendel 
Osaka Realty Corporation, and 
a director of Aseana Holdings, 
Inc. She also holds executive 
positions in almost all of the Group 
companies.

ATTY. HEHERSON M. ASIDDAO, CPA
Chief Finance Officer and Acting 
Chief Compliance Officer

Atty. Heherson M. Asiddao is 
the Chief Finance Officer of our 
company since June 2015. He has 
extensive experience as an auditor 
with Punongbayan & Araullo in 
the Philippines prior to joining our 
company. He also served as Senior 
Vice President and Chief Finance 
Officer for a real estate company and 
as Vice President on Controllership 
for a listed construction company. 

Atty. Asiddao is a member of the 
Philippine Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants and the Integrated 
Bar of the Philippines. He holds 
a Bachelor of Science degree in 
Accountancy and a Bachelor of Laws 
degree from San Beda College.

ATTY. PAUL MAR M. QUINTO
Chief Legal Officer and 
Corporate Secretary

Atty. Paul Mar M. Quinto is the 
Chief Legal Officer and Corporate 
Secretary of the Company since 
June 25, 2015. He is the in-house 
Legal Counsel for all of the Group 
companies and also possesses 
legal private practice and other in-
house working experience prior to 
joining the Company. 

Atty. Quinto completed his Political 
Science and Law degrees from the 
University of the Philippines and is a 
member of the Integrated Bar of the 
Philippines.

JULIUS M. GUEVARA
Vice President for Corporate 
Planning

Mr. Julius M. Guevara is the Vice 
President for Corporate Planning. 
He has over 18 years of real 
estate experience, encompassing 
property development, investments, 
asset management, research and 
consulting. Previously, he headed 
Colliers International’s development 
consulting practice in Asia. 

Mr. Guevara has a Bachelor of Arts 
degree in Management Economics 
from Ateneo de Manila University, a 
Master of Business Administration 
degree from De La Salle University 
and a Master’s in Professional 
Studies in Real Estate degree from 
Cornell University.

REMMEL R. ORTIZ
Director for Asset Management

Mr. Remmel R. Ortiz is currently a 
Director for Asset Management 
in one of the Group’s subsidiaries. 
He has over 25 years of corporate 
real estate experience focused on 
property management including 
managing multiuse facilities and 
projects, and building operations 
services. 

He holds a Bachelor of Science 
degree in Architecture from the 
University of Santo Tomas with 
various post-graduate studies 
in corporate real estate and 
environmental sustainability and 
management.

JEFFREY LUCERO 
Investor Relations Officer

Mr. Jeffrey Lucero is the Investor 
Relations Officer of the Company. 
Prior to joining the Company, he 
was an Equity Analyst in a local 
trust and asset management group 
and in a local stock brokerage firm. 
He was also part of the Investor 
Relations team of one of the largest 
conglomerates in the country.

Mr. Lucero graduated Cum Laude 
from De La Salle University with 
a Bachelor’s degree in Business 
Management.
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Report of Independent Auditors 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders 
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated and Subsidiaries 
(A Subsidiary of Wendel Holdings Co., Inc.) 
15th Floor, Aseana 3  
D. Macapagal Blvd. corner Asean Ave., Aseana City  
Parañaque City 
 
 
Opinion 
 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, 
Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the Group), which comprise the consolidated statements of 
financial position as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the consolidated statements of profit 
or loss, consolidated statements of comprehensive income, consolidated statements of 
changes in equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for each of the three years in the 
period ended December 31, 2020, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including 
a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material 
respects, the consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2020 in accordance with Philippine Financial 
Reporting Standards (PFRS). 
 
Basis for Opinion 
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing (PSA).  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities  
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.  We are 
independent of the Group in accordance with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
in the Philippines (Code of Ethics) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audits of the consolidated financial statements in the Philippines, and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics.  
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. 
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Emphasis of Matter 
 
We draw attention to Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, which describes 
management’s assessment of the continuing impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements of the business disruptions brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic.  Our opinion 
is not modified in respect to this matter. 
 
Key Audit Matters 
 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most 
significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period.  These 
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements,  
as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on 
these matters. 
 
Key audit matters identified in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the Group 
are the following: 
 
(a) Revenue Recognition for Rental of Investment Properties 
 
 Description of the Matter 
 

In 2020, the Group recognized revenue from rentals of investment properties amounting to 
P1,787.6 million, which represents 65% of the Group’s total revenue.  Rental income on 
long-term leases is recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease 
agreements as disclosed in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We identified the revenue recognition from rentals as significant to our audit due to the 
materiality of the amount of rental revenue, and the significant management judgment and 
complexity involved in the application of the provisions and terms of the lease agreements 
relative to the requirements of the applicable accounting standard, PFRS 16, Leases.   
An error in the Group’s understanding of the significant terms and conditions of the lease 
agreements and accounting treatment may result in overstatement or understatement of 
the reported revenues and the related receivables recognized therefrom.   
 
The Group’s disclosures relating to revenues from rentals are disclosed in Notes 4, 15,  
26 and 29.  
 

 How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 
 
Our audit procedures to address the risk of material misstatement relating to recognition  
of revenue from rentals included the following: 
 
 inspecting, on a sample basis, the lease agreements entered into with the Group’s 

tenants, and understanding the significant terms and conditions, as disclosed in  
Note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, affecting the recognition of rental 
income;  

 
 determining, based on the significant terms and conditions of the lease agreements, 

whether the recognition of rental income is in compliance with the revenue recognition 
requirements of PFRS 16; 

 
 recomputing, on a sample basis, the amounts of rental income and the related 

receivables taking into consideration, among others, the lease payments, lease terms 
(including rent-free periods), periodic rent escalations, and effect of any modifications; 
and, 

 
 testing, on a sample basis, whether rental income related to existing lease agreements 

have been recognized in the proper accounting period. 
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(b) Revenue Recognition on Sale of Condominium Units 
 
Description of the Matter 
 
In 2020, the Group recognized revenue from sale of condominium units amounting to 
P749.3 million.  As disclosed in Notes 2 and 3 to the consolidated financial statements,  
the Group recognizes revenue from sale of condominium units over time proportionate  
to the progress of the project development.  The Group uses the input method in 
determining the percentage-of-completion after satisfying the gating criteria of PFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, including establishing that collection of the total 
contract price is reasonably assured.  The Group recognizes a contract asset when it has 
rights to consideration as it develops the property and a contract liability when it receives 
consideration in excess of the amount for which the Group is entitled for the development 
of the property. 
 
We identified the revenue recognition on sale of condominium units as significant to our 
audit as it requires significant management judgment in assessing the collectibility of the 
contract price, and estimating the stage of completion of the development project.  An 
error in application of judgment and estimate could cause a material misstatement in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
The details of revenue on sale of condominium units are disclosed in Note 4 to the 
consolidated financial statements. 

  
 How the Matter was Addressed in the Audit 
 

Our audit procedures to address the risk of material misstatement relating to revenue 
recognition on sale of condominium units included, among others, the following: 
 
 evaluating appropriateness of the Group’s revenue recognition policy and the design 

and operating effectiveness of processes and controls related to the recognition of 
revenues from sale of condominium units; 

 
 determining, among others, whether the parties to the contract have approved the 

contract in writing; each party’s rights regarding the condominium units and progress 
of development thereof can be identified; the payment terms can be identified; the 
risk, timing or amount of the future cash flows is expected to change as a result of 
the contract has been identified; and, the collection of the consideration is probable; 

 
 evaluating the reasonableness of the percentage-of-completion by analyzing the 

costs incurred to date as a proportion of the total estimated and budgeted costs; 
 

 testing, on a sample basis, actual costs incurred through direct examination of 
relevant supporting documents; 

 
 assessing the reasonableness of estimated contract costs with reference to 

contractors’ and suppliers’ quotes and historical costs of similar and recently 
completed projects, taking into consideration the effect of variation to the original 
contract terms;  

 
 recomputing the revenues and costs recognized during the year based on the 

percentage-of-completion and tracing the revenues and costs recognized to the 
accounting records; and, 

 
 evaluating appropriateness of the Group’s continuous application of PFRS 15 on its 

real estate transactions.  
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Other Information 
 
Management is responsible for the other information.  The other information comprises the 
information included in the Group’s Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) Form 20-IS 
(Definitive Information Statement), SEC Form 17-A, and Annual Report for the year ended 
December 31, 2020, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditors’ report thereon.  The SEC Form 20-IS, SEC Form 17-A and Annual Report for the  
year ended December 31, 2020 are expected to be made available to us after the date of this 
auditors’ report. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 
 
In connection with our audits of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is  
to read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial 
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in accordance with PFRS, and for such internal control as management 
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do 
so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
process. 
 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and  
to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with PSA will always  
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and  
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
As part of an audit in accordance with PSA, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit.  We also: 
 
 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
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 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control. 

 
 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 

accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 
 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s  
ability to continue as a going concern.  If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,  
we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion.  Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditors’ report.  However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern. 

 
 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the 

entities or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements.  We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance  
of the group audit.  We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding the independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 
and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.  We describe these matters in our 
auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, 
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is
John Endel S. Mata.
 
 
      PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

 
 

 
 
 By: John Endel S. Mata

Partner

CPA Reg. No. 0121347
TIN: 257-622-627
PTR No. 8533233, January 4, 2021, Makati City
SEC Group A Accreditation

Partner – No. 121347-SEC (until Dec. 31, 2023)
Firm – No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024)

BIR AN 08-002551-040-2019 (until Dec. 15, 2022)
Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Jul. 24, 2021)

March 3, 2021
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 D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED AND SUBSIDIARIES 
(A Subsidiary of Wendel Holdings Co., Inc.) 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
DECEMBER 31, 2020, 2019 AND 2018 

(Amounts in Philippine Pesos) 
 
 
 
1. CORPORATE INFORMATION 
 

1.1 Incorporation and Operations   
 

D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated (DMWAI or the Parent Company) was 
incorporated in the Philippines on April 7, 1965.  DMWAI is presently engaged in the 
trade and business of general builders and contractors and related activities such as  
acting as specialty construction contractors, supervisors or managers in all cases of 
constructions, erections and works both public and private, real estate business and 
leasing.   
 
On June 29, 2018, the Parent Company’s shares of stock were listed at the Philippine 
Stock Exchange (PSE) (see Note 28.1).  
 
DMWAI holds certain investments in entities that are either subsidiaries, associates or 
joint ventures and all are incorporated in the Philippines (see Notes 1.2 and 13).  
 
DMWAI is a subsidiary of Wendel Holdings Co., Inc. (WHI or Ultimate Parent Company), 
a company incorporated and domiciled in the Philippines.  WHI is presently engaged in 
raising investments either through borrowings, sale or lease of its capital assets.  The 
effective percentage of ownership of WHI in DMWAI aggregates to 62.92% as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019.  
 
On April 24, 2020, the Parent Company’s Board of Directors (BOD) approved the change 
of DMWAI’s registered office address from 3rd Floor Aseana Powerstation Building,  
Pres. Macapagal Avenue, Aseana Business Park, Parañaque City to 15th Floor, Aseana 3,  
D. Macapagal Blvd. corner Asean Ave., Aseana City, Parañaque City.  The change in 
registered office address was approved by the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC) 
on January 4, 2021 but remains pending with the Bureau of Internal Revenue (BIR) as of 
the date of the issuance of the Parent Company’s consolidated financial statements.  
DMWAI’s principal place of business is located at 15th and 16th Floor, Aseana 3 Bldg.,  
D. Macapagal Blvd. cor. Bradco Avenue, Aseana City, Parañaque City.  The registered 
office of WHI, which is also its principal place of business, is at 306 E. Rodriguez Sr. 
Boulevard, Quezon City. 
 
1.2 Subsidiaries, Associates and Joint Ventures 
 
The Parent Company holds effective ownership interests in certain subsidiaries  
(together with the Parent Company, collectively hereinafter referred to as the “Group”), 
associates, and joint ventures, that are currently operating or are established to engage in 
businesses related to the main business of the Parent Company, in these consolidated 
financial statements.   
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As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the following summarizes the effective percentage of 
ownership or interest of DMWAI over these entities: 

        
        Effective Percentage 
     Explanatory   of Ownership/Interest  
 Name of Subsidiaries/Associates/Joint Ventures   Notes    2020   2019  
 

  Subsidiaries: 
  Direct: 
  Aseana Residential Holdings Corp. (ARHC)   (a)   100.00%  100.00% 
  Aseana Holdings, Inc. (AHI)   (b)     99.98%    99.98% 
  Fabricom, Inc. (FI)   (c)     99.98%    99.98% 
  Fabricom Realty Development 
   Corporation (FRDC)   (d)     62.20%    62.20% 
  R-1 Consortium, Inc. (R-1)   (e)     55.45%    55.45% 
  Alphaland Bay City Corporation (ABCC)   (f)     100.00%   100.00% 
 

  Direct and Indirect: 
  Portal Holdings, Inc. (PHI)   (g)   100.00%  100.00% 
  Mandaue Land Consortium, Inc. (MLCI)   (h)     81.00%    81.00% 
  Aseana I.T. Plaza, Inc. (AITPI)   (i)     66.97%    66.97% 
  SHLP BBP Realty, Inc. (SBRI)   (j)     55.96%    55.96% 
 
 Indirect: 
  58 Jupiter Inc. (formerly Reine, Inc.)  
   (58 Jupiter) – Accounted for as 
   Asset Acquisition   (k)     100.00%   100.00% 
  L&B Development Corporation (LBDC) – 

   Accounted for as Asset Acquisition   (l)     100.00%   - 
  Boracay International Airport & 
   Dev’t Corp. (BIADC)   (m)     99.98%    99.98% 
  U-City Technologies Philippines, Inc. (UCTPI)   (n)     99.98%    99.98% 
  Aseana City Transport & Travel Corp. (ACTTC)  (o)     99.98%    99.98% 
  Aseana Gas Energy Corp. (AGEC)   (p)     99.98%    99.98% 
  Aseana Real Esate Services    
   Management Corp. (ARESM)   (q)     95.98%    95.98% 
  Bay Area Holdings, Inc. (BAHI)   (r)      59.98%    59.98% 
  Aseana Resi Rent Corp. (ARRC)   (s)      100.00%    - 
 
 Associates: 
  Alphaland Heavy Equipment, Corp. (AHEC)   (t)     50.00%    50.00% 
  European Resources and Technology, Inc. (ERTI)  (u)     42.00%    42.00% 
  Aseana CL, Beach and Marina Development    
   Corporation (ACBMDC)    (v)      36.00%    36.00% 
  
 Joint venture – 
  Bay Resources and Development  
   Corporation (BRADCO)   (w)      50.00%    50.00% 
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  Notes: 
(a) Established to purchase, acquire and own, hold, use, assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange or 

otherwise dispose of, subject to limitations imposed by law, real and personal property, including but  
not limited to, land, buildings, condominiums, shares of stock, bonds and other securities. 

(b) Established to engage in the business of owning, holding, exchanging, or otherwise disposing such items 
as real and personal properties, and securities such as stocks, bonds and to take part and assist in any 
legal matter for the purchase and sale of any securities as may be allowed by law without acting as or 
engaging in the business of an investment house, mutual fund or broker or dealer in securities. 

(c) Established to engage in the business of importation and marketing of heavy equipment, industrial equipment 
or any commercial products, which may be the object of commerce for the attainment of corporate objectives.   
As more fully discussed in Note 28.4, the increase in the Parent Company’s effective percentage ownership in 
FI and BAHI is a result of a deed of exchange representing a business combination that is accounted for 
under pooling of interest method involving entities under common control. 

(d) Established to engage in housing and real estate development and selling and engaging in other related 
activities. 

(e) Established to engage in general construction and other allied businesses including constructing, enlarging, 
repairing, removing, developing, or otherwise engaging in any work upon building roads, highways, 
manufacturing plants, bridges, airfields, piers, docks, mines, masonry and earth construction, and to  
make, execute, bid for and take or receive any contracts or assignment of contracts in relation thereto.   

(f) ABCC was established to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell, exchange, lease and hold for investment 
or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, including buildings, houses, apartments and other structures.  As more 
fully discussed in Note 13.2(b), ABCC became a subsidiary of DMWAI starting in 2019.  

(g) DMWAI’s effective interest is derived from its 40.00% direct ownership and 60.00% indirect holdings 
through ARHC.  PHI was established to purchase, subscribe for, or otherwise acquire and own, hold, use, 
assign, transfer, mortgage, pledge, exchange or otherwise dispose of real and personal property, including  
but not limited to, land, buildings, condominiums, shares of stock, bonds and other securities. 

(h) DMWAI’s effective interest is derived from its 40.00% direct ownership and 41.00% indirect holdings 
through AHI and R-1 which own 30.00% and 20.00%, respectively.  MLCI was established to engage in 
general realty and other allied businesses including owning, improving, subdividing, developing, reclaiming, 
enlarging, repairing, constructing, exchanging, leasing and holding investment or otherwise, real estate and 
lands of all kinds and any buildings, houses and other structures. 

(i) DMWAI’s effective ownership interest is derived from its 41.98% direct ownership and 24.99% indirect 
holdings through PHI.  AITPI was established to engage in the business of owning, using, improving, 
developing, selling, exchanging, leasing, and holding for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, 
including building houses, apartments and other structures, and related activities. 

(j) DMWAI’s effective ownership is derived from its 29.98% direct ownership and 25.98% indirect holdings 
through AHI, BAHI and PHI which each owns 9.99% of SBRI.  SBRI was established to engage in real  
estate development and engaging in other related activities. 

(k) 58 Jupiter was acquired in 2017 and indirectly owned through AHI [see Notes 3.1(k) and 13.4]; established  
to acquire by purchase, lease, donation, or otherwise, and to own, use, improve, develop, subdivide, sell, 
mortgage, exchange, lease, develop, and hold for investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, whether 
improve, manage or otherwise dispose of buildings, houses, apartments, and other structures of whatever 
kind, together with their appurtenances. 

(l) LBDC was acquired in 2020 and indirectly owned through ARHC [see Notes 3.1(k) and 13.4]; established  
to engage in real estate business; to acquire by purchase, lease, donation or otherwise, use improve, develop, 
subdivide, sell, mortgage, exchange, lease, develop and hold investment or otherwise, real estate of all kinds, 
whether improved, managed, or otherwise deal in or dispose of buildings, houses, apartments, townhouses, 
condominiums, and other structures of whatever kind together with the appurtenances or improvements 
found thereon. 

(m) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to build an international airport in Boracay, Municipality of 
Malay and/ or Carabao Island, San Jose, Romblon, Philippines. 

(n) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to install and provide electronic security apparatus and 
products to industrial, commercial and other establishments whether public or private for the purpose  
of securing or protecting properties and other related services.  In 2016, AHI acquired through cash 
consideration the entire 40.00% minority interest of the other stockholder resulting in 100.00% direct 
ownership by AHI in UCTPI (see Note 28.4). 

(o) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to engage in the business of transportation of passengers by 
means of public utility vehicles for the general public and to lease out or rent its public utility vehicles for 
special trips. 

(p) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to engage in, conduct and carry on the business of buying, 
selling, distributing, marketing of liquefied petroleum gas and other fuel products at wholesale or retail 
and to construct a reticulation network in strategically located tank to enable safe and sufficient 
distribution of piped gas to end users in Aseana Business Park. 

(q) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to acquire and manage properties such as commercial, residential, 
office condominium and industrial real estate.  
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(r) Indirectly owned through FI; established to purchase, acquire, or otherwise own and hold, use, sell, assign, 
transfer, mortgage, pledge, or otherwise dispose of, real and personal property, including land, buildings, 
condominiums and engaging in other related activities.  As more fully discussed in Note 28.4, the increase  
in the Parent Company’s effective percentage ownership in FI and BAHI is a result of a deed of exchange 
representing a business combination that is accounted for under pooling of interest method involving  
entities under common control. 

(s) Indirectly owned through AHI; established to engage in realty business, provided that it shall not solicit, 
accept or take investments or placements from the public, neither shall it issue investment contracts. 

(t) Indirectly owned through FI; established to purchase, import, or otherwise acquire, lease, sell, distribute, 
market, convey or otherwise dispose heavy equipment, machinery and related implements.  As of 
December 31, 2020, AHEC is currently in the process of liquidation (see Note 13.1). 

(u) Established to engage in collecting, segregating, recycling, composting, filling, disposing, treating or 
otherwise managing household, industrial and other kinds of garbage for local, or other government units 
and private persons and firms as well as extended guidance and education for proper waste management. 

(v) DMWAI’s effective interest is derived from its 10.00% direct ownership and 26.00% indirect holdings 
through AHI.  ACBMDC was established to engage in real estate business with marinas, cruise liner  
facilities and beach resorts in all its aspects; to acquire, rent or otherwise deal in and dispose of all kinds  
or real estate objects, involving commercial, industrial, urban, residential or other kinds of real property. 

(w) BRADCO was established to acquire, develop and market real estate properties [see Note 13.2(a)]. 
 

As of December 31, 2020, FRDC, R-1, MLCI, AITPI, SBRI, BIADC, AGEC, ACBMDC, 
ABCC, and ARRC have not yet started commercial operations.   
 
1.3 Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic on the Group’s Business 

 
The COVID-19 pandemic started to become widespread in the Philippines in early  
March 2020.  The measures taken by the government to contain the virus have affected 
economic conditions and the Group’s business operations.  The following are the impact 
of the COVID-19 pandemic to the Group’s business: 
 
 interruptions in the construction of on-going projects; 
 difficulty in the collection of accounts receivables from tenants on leases and 

reimbursable charges;  
 delays in collection from residential buyers on turnover balances of a completed project; 
 temporary setbacks in pre-selling of residential units; and, 
 additional administrative expenses were incurred to ensure health and safety of its 

employees and customers such as the frequent disinfection of facilities and COVID-19 
testing for its employees. 

  
In response to this matter, the Group has taken the following actions: 
 
 re-evaluated schedules and completion of projects’ under construction; 
 launched digital platform and collection portal towards the end of the third quarter to 

provide convenient payment access to the customers; 
 granted an average of 10% to 50% discount on variable leases (i.e., computed as  

3% of monthly gross products sales) to certain tenants for six months, and deferment 
of payments for lessees and residential buyers for two months;  

 activated digital marketing initiatives to reach existing and potential residential buyers; 
and, 

 implemented stringent health protocols within the Group’s offices and project sites. 
 
Based on the above actions and measures taken by management to mitigate the adverse  
effect of the pandemic, it projects that the Group would continue to report positive results  
of operations and would remain liquid to meet current obligation as it falls due.  Accordingly, 
management has not determined material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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1.4 Approval of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements of the Group as of and for the year ended  
December 31, 2020 (including the comparative consolidated financial statements as  
of December 31, 2019 and for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018) were 
authorized for issue by the Parent Company’s BOD on March 3, 2021. 
 

 
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
The significant accounting policies that have been used in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are summarized below and in the succeeding pages.  
These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated. 
 
2.1 Basis for Preparation of Consolidated Financial Statements 

 
(a) Statement of Compliance with Philippine Financial Reporting Standards 

 
The financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) , which include the availment of  
the financial reporting reliefs issued and approved by the SEC as discussed in  
Note 2.2(c).  PFRS are adopted by the Financial Reporting Standards Council (FRSC) 
from the pronouncements issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
and approved by the Philippine Board of Accountancy. 

 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the measurement 
bases specified by PFRS for each type of asset, liability, income and expense.  The 
measurement bases are more fully described in the accounting policies that follow. 
 

(b) Presentation of Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with PAS 1, 
Presentation of Financial Statements.  The Group presents the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income separate from the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 
The Group presents a consolidated third statement of financial position as at  
the beginning of the preceding period when it applies an accounting policy 
retrospectively, or makes a retrospective restatement or reclassification of items  
that has a material effect on the information in the consolidated statement of 
financial position at the beginning of the preceding period.  The related notes to the 
consolidated third statement of financial position are not required to be disclosed. 
 

(c) Functional and Presentation Currency  
 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Philippine pesos, the 
Group’s functional and presentation currency, and all values represent absolute 
amounts except when otherwise indicated.  
 
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured 
using its functional currency.  Functional currency is the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the Group operates. 
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2.2 Adoption of New and Amended PFRS 
 

(a) Effective in 2020 that are Relevant to the Group  
 
The Group adopted for the first time the revision to conceptual framework, 
amendments and annual improvements to PFRS, which are mandatorily effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2020: 
 
 Conceptual Framework : Revised Conceptual Framework for   
        Financial Reporting 
 PAS 1 and PAS 8  
   (Amendments) : Presentation of Financial Statements and 
         Accounting Policies, Changes in  
         Accounting Estimates and Errors –  
         Definition of Material 

 PFRS 3 (Amendments) : Business Combinations –   
     Definition of a Business 
PFRS 7 and PFRS 9 

  (Amendments) : Financial Instruments: Disclosures and  
Financial Instruments – Interest Rate 
Benchmark Reform 

  
Discussed below and in the succeeding page are the relevant information about 
these pronouncements. 
 
(i) Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting.  The revised conceptual 

framework will be used in standard-setting decisions with immediate effect.  
Key changes include (a) increasing the prominence of stewardship in the 
objective of financial reporting, (b) reinstating prudence as a component of 
neutrality, (c) defining a reporting entity, which may be a legal entity, or a 
portion of an entity, (d) revising the definitions of an asset and a liability,  
(e) removing the probability threshold for recognition and adding guidance 
on derecognition, (f) adding guidance on different measurement basis, and, 
(g) stating that profit or loss is the primary performance indicator and that, 
in principle, income and expenses in other comprehensive income should be 
recycled where this enhances the relevance or faithful representation of the 
financial statements.  The application of the revised conceptual framework 
had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
 

(ii) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements, and PAS 8 
(Amendments), Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and  
Errors – Definition of Material (effective from January 1, 2020).  The 
amendments provide a clearer definition of ‘material’ in PAS 1 by including 
the concept of ‘obscuring’ material information with immaterial information 
as part of the new definition, and clarifying the assessment threshold (i.e., 
misstatement of information is material if it could reasonably be expected to 
influence decisions made by primary users, which consider the characteristic 
of those users as well as the entity’s own circumstances).  The definition of 
material in PAS 8 has been accordingly replaced by reference to the new 
definition in PAS 1.  In addition, amendment has also been made in other 
standards that contain definition of material or refer to the term ‘material’ to 
ensure consistency.  The application of these amendments had no 
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 
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(iii) PFRS 3 (Amendments), Business Combinations – Definition of a Business.  The 
amended definition of a business requires an acquisition to include an input 
and a substantive process that together significantly contribute to the ability  
to create outputs.  The definition of the term ‘outputs’ is amended to focus  
on goods and services provided to customers, generating investment income 
and other income, and it excludes returns in the form of lower costs and  
other economic benefits.  Also, the amendments will likely result in more 
acquisitions being accounted for as asset acquisitions.  The application of 
these amendments had no significant impact on the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements. 

 
(iv) PFRS 7 (Amendments), Financial Instruments: Disclosures, and PFRS 9 

(Amendments), Financial Instruments – Interest Rate Benchmark Reform. The 
amendments clarify that an entity would continue to apply certain hedge 
accounting requirements assuming that the interest rate benchmark on  
which the hedged cash flows and cash flows from the hedging instrument  
are based will not be altered as a result of interest rate benchmark reform.  
The application of these amendments had no significant impact on the 
Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

 
(b) Effective Subsequent to 2020 but not Adopted Early 

 

There are amendments and improvements to existing standards effective for 
annual periods subsequent to 2020, which are adopted by the FRSC.  Management 
will adopt the relevant pronouncements below and in the succeeding page in 
accordance with their transitional provisions; and, unless otherwise stated, none of 
these are expected to have significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. 
 
(i) PFRS 16 (Amendments), Leases – COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions (effective 

from June 30, 2020). The amendments permit lessees, as a practical expedient, 
not to assess whether particular rent concessions occurring as a direct 
consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic are lease modifications and instead 
to account for those rent concessions as if they are not lease modifications. 
 

(ii) PFRS 3 (Amendments), Business Combination – Reference to the Conceptual 
Framework (effective from January 1, 2022).  The amendments update an 
outdated reference to the Conceptual Framework in PFRS 3 without 
significantly changing the requirements in the standard. 

 
(iii) PAS 16 (Amendments), Property, Plant and Equipment – Proceeds Before Intended 

Use (effective from January 1, 2022).  The amendments prohibit deducting 
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from 
selling items produced while bringing that asset to the location and condition 
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Instead, an entity recognizes the proceeds from selling such 
items, and the cost of producing those items, in profit or loss. 
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(iv) PAS 37 (Amendments), Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent  
Assets – Onerous Contracts – Cost of Fulfilling a Contract (effective January 1, 
2022).  The amendments specify that the ‘cost of fulfilling’ a contract 
comprises the ‘costs that relate directly to the contract’. Costs that relate 
directly to a contract can either be incremental costs of fulfilling that  
contract (examples would be direct labor, materials) or an allocation of  
other costs that relate directly to fulfilling contracts (an example would  
be the allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant  
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract). 
 

(v) Annual Improvements to PFRS 2018-2020 Cycle.  Among the improvements, 
the following amendments, which are effective from January 1, 2022, are 
relevant to the Group: 

 
a. PFRS 9 (Amendments), Financial Instruments – Fees in the ’10 per cent’ Test  

for Derecognition of Liabilities.  The improvements clarify the fees that a 
company includes when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified 
financial liability are substantially different from the terms of the original 
financial liability. 
 

b. Illustrative Examples Accompanying PFRS 16, Leases – Lease Incentives.  
The improvement merely removes potential for confusion regarding lease 
incentives. 

 
(vi) PAS 1 (Amendments), Presentation of Financial Statements – Classification of 

Liabilities as Current or Non-current (effective January 1, 2023).  The amendments 
aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other 
liabilities with an uncertain settlement date should be classified as current  
(due or potentially due to be settled within one year) or non-current. 
 

(vii) PFRS 10 (Amendments), Consolidated Financial Statements, and  
PAS 28 (Amendments), Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures – Sale or 
Contribution of Assets Between an Investor and its Associates or Joint Venture  
(effective date deferred indefinitely).  The amendments to PFRS 10 require  
full recognition in the investor’s financial statements of gains or losses arising 
on the sale or contribution of assets that constitute a business as defined in  
PFRS 3 between an investor and its associate or joint venture.  Accordingly, 
the partial recognition of gains or losses (i.e., to the extent of the unrelated 
investor’s interests in an associate or joint venture) only applies to those sale  
of contribution of assets that do not constitute a business.  Corresponding 
amendments have been made to PAS 28 to reflect these changes.  In addition, 
PAS 28 has been amended to clarify that when determining whether assets that 
are sold or contributed constitute a business, an entity shall consider whether 
the sale or contribution of those assets is part of multiple arrangements that 
should be accounted for as a single transaction. 
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(c) SEC Financial Reporting Reliefs Availed by the Group 
 
The Group has availed of several financial reporting reliefs granted by the SEC 
under Memorandum Circular (MC) No. 14-2018, Philippine Interpretation Committee 
Question and Answer (PIC Q&A) No. 2018-12 Implementation Issues Affecting Real  
Estate Industry, MC No. 3-2019, PIC Q&A Nos. 2018-12-H and 2018-14, and  
MC No. 4-2020, Deferment of the Implementation of IFRS Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (PAS 23, Borrowing 
Costs) for Real Estate Industry, relating to several implementation issues of PFRS 15, 
Revenue from Contracts with Customers, affecting the real estate industry.  These MCs 
deferred the implementation of the relevant accounting pronouncements until 
December 31, 2020.  
 
In December 2020, the SEC issued MC 34-2020, Deferral of PIC Q&A No. 2018-12 
and IFRIC Agenda Decision on Over Time Transfer of Constructed Goods (PAS 23) for Real 
Estate Industry, provided another relief by further deferring implementation issues 
under MC No. 14-2018 and MC No. 4-2020.  This additional relief is effective 
January 1, 2021. 
 
Discussed below are the financial reporting reliefs availed of by the Group, 
including the descriptions of the implementation issues and their qualitative impacts 
to the financial statements.  The Group opted to avail the reliefs until the end of 
the deferment period as provided under the relevant MC. 

  
Relief Description and Implication Deferral period 

IFRIC Decision on 
Over Time Transfer 
of Constructed 
Goods  
(PAS 23) for Real 
Estate Industry 

The IFRIC concluded that any inventory  
(work-in-progress) for unsold units under 
construction that the entity recognizes is 
not a qualifying asset, as the asset is ready 
for its intended sale in its current 
condition (i.e., the developer intends to 
sell the partially constructed units as soon 
as it finds suitable customers and, on 
signing a contract with a customer, will 
transfer control of any work-in-progress 
relating to that unit to the customer). 
Accordingly, no borrowing costs can be 
capitalized on such unsold real estate 
inventories. 
 

Although the Group had not capitalized 
borrowing costs relating to its real estate 
inventories due to inapplicability in current 
and prior years, the Group opted to avail the 
relief provided by the SEC to defer the 
implementation of the IFRIC Agenda 
Decision.  
 
 
 

Originally until 
December 31,  
2020 under MC  
No 4-2020; further 
deferred until 
December 31, 2023 
under MC 34-2020 
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Relief Description and Implication Deferral period 

 Generally, an entity that capitalized 
borrowing costs and elected not to defer 
the IFRIC Agenda Decision would have 
the following impact in its financial 
statements:  
• interest expense would have been 

higher; 
• cost of real estate inventories would 

have been lower; 
• total net profit and total 

comprehensive income would have 
been lower; 

• retained earnings would have been 
lower; and, 

• the carrying amount of real estate 
inventories would have been lower. 

 

 

PIC Q&A No. 
2018-12-D, 
Concept of the 
significant 
financing 
component in the 
contract to sell 

PFRS 15 requires that in determining the 
transaction price, an entity shall adjust the 
promised amount of consideration for the 
effects of the time value of money if the 
timing of payments agreed to by the 
parties to the contract (either explicitly or 
implicitly) provides the customer or the 
entity with a significant benefit of 
financing the transfer of goods or services 
to the customer. In those circumstances, 
the contract contains a significant 
financing component. 
 
Had the Group elected not to defer this 
provision of the standard, it would have 
an impact in the consolidated financial 
statements as there would have been a 
significant financing component when 
there is a difference between the 
percentage-of-completion (POC) of the 
real estate project and the right to the 
consideration based on the payment 
schedule stated in the contract. The 
Group would have recognized an 
interest income when the POC of the real 
estate project is greater than the right to 
the consideration and interest expense 
when lesser. Both interest income and 
expense will be calculated using the 
effective interest rate method. This will 
impact the retained earnings, real estate 
sales, and profit or loss in 
2020, 2019 and 2018. 
 

Originally until 
December 31, 2020 
under MC 14-2018; 
further deferred 
until December 31, 
2023 under 
MC 34-2020 



84   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  85

- 11 - 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The SEC MCs also provided the required disclosures in the notes to the 
consolidated financial statements should an entity decide to avail of any relief, 
which include the following: 
 
 the accounting policies applied; 
 a discussion of the deferral of the subject implementation issues in the  

PIC Q&A; 
 a qualitative discussion of the impact on the consolidated financial statements 

had the concerned application guidelines in the PIC Q&A been adopted; 
and, 

 the corresponding required quantitative disclosures should any of the deferral 
options result into a change in accounting policy. 

 
As prescribed by SEC MC No. 34-2020, for financial reporting periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2021, the availment of the above deferrals will impact the 
Group’s financial reporting during the period of deferral as follows: 
 
 The consolidated financial statements are not considered to be in  

accordance with PFRS and should specify in the “Basis of Preparation of  
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of the consolidated financial 
statements that the accounting framework is PFRS, as modified by the 
application of the financial reporting reliefs issued and approved by the SEC 
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic; and, 

 
 The auditor’s report shall reflect in the opinion paragraph that the 

consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with PFRS,  
as modified by the application of the financial reporting reliefs issued and 
approved by the SEC. In addition, the external auditor shall include an 
Emphasis of Matter paragraph in the auditor’s report to draw attention  
to the basis of accounting that has been used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

Relief Description and Implication Deferral period 
PIC Q&A No.  
2018-12-E, Treatment 
of land and uninstalled 
materials in the 
determination of POC 

Uninstalled materials delivered on-site 
such as steels and rebars, elevators and 
escalators, which are yet to be installed or 
attached to the main structure are 
excluded in the assessment of progress. 
Land on which the real estate 
development will be constructed shall 
also be excluded in the assessment of 
POC. 
 
Had the Group elected not to defer this 
provision of the standard, it would have 
the following impact on the consolidated 
financial statements: 
• real estate sales and cost of real estate 

sales would have been lower;  
• total comprehensive income would 

have been lower; and, 
• retained earnings would have been 

lower. 
 

Originally until 
December 31, 2020 
under MC 14-2018; 
with the exclusion 
of land in the 
assessment of 
progress further 
deferred until 
December 31, 2023 
under MC 34-2020 
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(d) PIC Q&As Relevant to the Real Estate Industry 
 
In 2020, the PIC has issued four PIC Q&As which are relevant to the real estate 
industry.   
 
 PIC Q&A No. 2020-02, Conclusion on PIC Q&A No. 2018-12-E: On the 

Treatment of Materials Delivered on Site but not yet Installed in Measuring the Progress  
of the Performance Obligation  

 
In recognizing revenue using a cost-based input method, the cost incurred  
for customized materials not yet installed are to be included in the 
measurement of progress to properly capture the efforts expended by the 
Group in completing its performance obligation. In the case of uninstalled 
materials that are not customized, since the Group is not involved in their 
design and manufacture, revenue should only be recognized upon installation 
or use in construction.  The adoption of this PIC Q&A will be consistent 
with PIC Q&A 2018-12-E as discussed in Note 2.2(c). 

 
 PIC Q&A No. 2020-03, Conclusion on PIC Q&A No. 2018-12-D: On the 

Accounting Treatment for the Difference when the Percentage of Completion (POC) is 
Ahead of the Buyer’s Payment  
 
The difference when the POC is ahead of the buyer’s payment can be 
accounted for either as a contract asset or receivable.  The PIC has concluded 
that both views are acceptable as long as this is consistently applied in 
transactions of the same nature.  The Group intends to continue its current 
treatment of accounting for the difference when the POC is ahead of the 
buyer’s payment as a contract asset. 
 

 PIC Q&A No. 2020-04, Addendum to PIC Q&A 2018-12-D: Significant 
Financing Component Arising from Mismatch between the Percentage of Completion  
and Schedule of Payments 
 
There is no significant financing component if the difference between the 
promised consideration and the cash selling price of the good or service arises 
for reasons other than the provision of finance to either the customer or the 
entity, and the difference between those amounts is proportional to the 
reason for the difference. Further, the Group do not need to adjust the 
promised amount of consideration for the effects of a significant financing 
component if the entity expects, at contract inception that the timing 
difference of the receipt of full payment of the contract price and that of the 
completion of the project, are expected within one year and significant 
financing component is not expected to be significant.  The adoption of this 
PIC Q&A will be consistent with PIC Q&A 2018-12-D. 
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 PIC Q&A No. 2020-05, Accounting for Cancellation of Real Estate Sales  

(PIC Q&A No. 2020-05 will supersede PIC Q&A No. 2018-14) 
 

There are three acceptable approaches in accounting for sales cancellation and 
repossession of the property as follows: 

 

 repossessed property is recognized at fair value less cost to repossess; 
 repossessed property is recognized at fair value plus repossession cost; or, 
 cancellation is accounted for as a modification of the contract. 

 
The Group accounts for cancellation of sales contract as modification of 
contract, hence, the adoption of this PIC Q&A will not have significant 
impact in the consolidated financial statements of the Group. 
 

2.3 Basis of Consolidation 
 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise the accounts of the Parent 
Company and its subsidiaries, after the elimination of material intercompany transactions.  
All intercompany assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between entities under the Group, are eliminated in full on consolidation.  
Unrealized profits and losses from intercompany transactions that are recognized in assets 
are also eliminated in full.  Intercompany losses that indicate impairment are recognized in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

 
The financial statements of subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting period as the 
Parent Company, using consistent accounting principles.   

 
The Parent Company accounts for its investments in subsidiaries, associates, joint 
ventures and noncontrolling interests as presented below and in the succeeding pages. 

 
(a) Investments in Subsidiaries 
 

Subsidiaries are entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has 
control.  The Group controls an entity when (i) it has power over the entity, (ii) it is 
exposed, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity, and  
(iii) it has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity.  
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date the Group obtains control. 

 
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an entity if facts and circumstances 
indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements of controls 
indicated above.  Accordingly, entities are deconsolidated from the date that control 
ceases.   
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(i) Accounting for Business Combination Using the Acquisition Method 
 

The acquisition method is applied to account for acquired subsidiaries.  This 
requires recognizing and measuring the identifiable assets acquired, the liabilities 
assumed and any noncontrolling interest in the acquiree.  The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair value of the assets 
transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the 
equity interests issued by the Group, if any.  The consideration transferred also 
includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement.  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred 
and subsequent change in the fair value of contingent consideration is recognized 
directly in profit or loss. 

 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a 
business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date.  On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognizes any 
noncontrolling interest in the acquiree, either at fair value or at the noncontrolling 
interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of acquiree’s identifiable 
net assets. 

 
The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any noncontrolling 
interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any existing equity 
interest in the acquiree over the acquisition-date fair value of identifiable net 
assets acquired is recognized as goodwill.  If the consideration transferred is less 
than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a 
bargain purchase, the difference is recognized directly as gain in profit or loss  
(see Note 2.9). 
 

(ii) Accounting for Business Combination Using the Pooling-of-interests Method 
 

Business combinations arising from transfers of interests in entities that are 
under the common control of the principal shareholder are accounted for  
under the pooling-of-interests method.  Transfers of assets between  
commonly-controlled entities are accounted for under historical cost accounting.  
Under this method, the financial information of the acquired entities are 
included as if the acquisition occurred in the earliest period presented.   

 
The assets and liabilities of the acquired entities are combined using their 
respective carrying values and any difference is accounted for and recognized in 
Other Reserves account presented under the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity. 
 

(b) Investment in Associates 
 

Associates are those entities over which the Group is able to exert significant 
influence but which are neither subsidiaries nor interests in a joint venture.  
Investments in associates are initially recognized at cost and subsequently accounted 
for using the equity method.   

 
  



88   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  89

- 15 - 
 

Acquired investment in associate is subject to the purchase method.  The purchase 
method involves the recognition of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities, 
including contingent liabilities, regardless of whether they were recognized in the 
financial statements prior to acquisition.  Goodwill represents the excess of 
acquisition cost over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net 
assets of the acquiree at the date of acquisition.  Any goodwill or fair value 
adjustment attributable to the Group’s share in the associate is included in the 
amount recognized as investment in an associate. 

 
All subsequent changes to the ownership interest in the equity of the associates are 
recognized in the Group’s carrying amount of the investments.  Changes resulting 
from the profit or loss generated by the associates are credited or charged against  
the Share in Net Earnings or Losses of Associates and Joint Ventures account in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.   
 
Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the investment in 
an associate will not be recovered.   

 
Changes resulting from other comprehensive income transactions of the associate  
or items recognized directly in the associate’s equity are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or equity of the Group, as applicable.  However, when the 
Group’s share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, 
including any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further 
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the 
associate.  If the associate subsequently reports profits, the investor resumes 
recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits exceeds the 
accumulated share of losses that has previously not been recognized. 
 
Distributions received from the associates are accounted for as a reduction of the 
carrying value of the investment. 

 
(c) Investment in Joint Ventures 

 
A jointly controlled entity is a corporation, partnership, or other entity in which  
two or more venturers have an interest, under a contractual arrangement that 
establishes joint control over the entity.  Each venturer usually contributes cash  
or other resources to the jointly controlled entity.  Those contributions are included 
in the accounting records of the venturer and recognised in the venturer’s financial 
statements as an investment in the jointly controlled entity. 
 
Investments in joint venture are initially recognized at cost and subsequently 
accounted for using the equity method.   
 
Acquired investment in the jointly controlled entity is subject to the purchase 
method.  The purchase method involves the recognition of the jointly controlled 
entity’s identifiable assets and liabilities, including contingent liabilities, regardless  
of whether they were recognized in the financial statements prior to acquisition.  
Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition cost over the fair value of the 
venturer’s share of the identifiable net assets of the joint venture at the date of 
acquisition.  Any goodwill or fair value adjustment attributable to the venturer’s 
share in the joint venture is included in the amount recognized as investment in 
joint venture. 
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All subsequent changes to the ownership interest in the equity of the joint venture 
are recognized in the venturer’s carrying amount of the investments.  Changes 
resulting from the profit or loss generated by the joint venture are credited or 
charged against the Share in Net Earnings or Losses of Associates and Joint 
Ventures account in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.   
 
Impairment loss is provided when there is objective evidence that the investment  
in joint venture will not be recovered (see Note 2.21).   
 
Changes resulting from other comprehensive income transactions of the jointly 
controlled entity or items recognized directly in the jointly controlled entity’s  
equity are recognized in other comprehensive income or equity of the venturer,  
as applicable.  However, when the venturer’s share of losses in a joint venture 
equals or exceeds its interest in the joint venture, including any other unsecured 
receivables, the venturer does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred 
obligations or made payments on behalf of the jointly controlled entity.  If the 
jointly controlled entity subsequently reports profits, the venturer resumes 
recognizing its share of those profits only after its share of the profits exceeds  
the accumulated share of losses that has previously not been recognized. 
 
Distributions received from the jointly controlled entity are accounted for as a 
reduction of the carrying value of the investment. 
 

(d) Transactions with Noncontrolling Interests 
 
The Group’s transactions with noncontrolling interests that do not result in loss  
of control are accounted for as equity transactions – that is, as transaction with the 
owners of the Group in their capacity as owners.  The difference between the fair 
value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying  
value of the net assets of the subsidiary is recognized in equity (i.e., Other Reserves 
account).  Disposals of equity investments to noncontrolling interests result in gains 
and losses for the Group that are also recognized in other components of equity.   
When the Group ceases to have control over a subsidiary, any retained interest in 
the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date when control is lost, with the 
change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss.  The fair value is the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset.  In addition, any amounts 
previously recognized in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or 
liabilities.  This may mean that amounts previously recognized in other 
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss. 

 
2.4 Financial Assets 

 
Financial assets are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the contractual  
terms of the financial instrument.  For purposes of classifying financial assets, an 
instrument is considered as an equity instrument if it is non-derivative and meets the 
definition of equity for the issuer in accordance with the criteria of PAS 32, Financial 
Instruments – Presentation.  All other non-derivative financial instruments are treated as debt 
instruments. 
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(a) Classification, Measurement and Reclassification of Financial Assets  
 
The classification and measurement of financial assets is driven by the entity’s 
business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual cash flow 
characteristics of the financial assets.  The classification and measurement of 
financial assets that are applicable to the Group are described below and in the 
succeeding pages. 

 
(i) Financial Assets at Amortized Cost 

 
Financial assets are measured at amortized cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: 

 
 the asset is held within the Group’s business model whose objective is to 

hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows (“hold to 
collect”); and, 

 
 the contractual terms of the instrument give rise, on specified dates, to  

cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on the 
principal amount outstanding. 

 
Except for trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing 
component and are measured at the transaction price in accordance with  
PFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, all financial assets meeting these 
criteria are measured initially at fair value plus transaction costs.  These are 
subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment in value. 

 
The Group’s financial assets at amortized cost are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as Cash and Cash Equivalents, 
Receivables (except Advances to suppliers), Short-term placements (presented 
as part of Other Current Assets account), and Refundable deposits (presented 
as part of Other Non-current Assets account). 

 
For purposes of cash flows reporting and presentation, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise accounts with original maturities of three months or  
less, including cash.  These generally include cash on hand, demand deposits 
and short-term, highly liquid investments readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 
(ii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income (FVOCI) 

 
The Group accounts for financial assets at FVOCI if the assets meet the 
following conditions: 

 
 they are held under a business model whose objective is to hold to collect 

the associated cash flows and sell (“hold to collect and sell”); and, 
 

 the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are 
SPPI on the principal amount outstanding. 
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At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on an 
instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate equity investments as at FVOCI; 
however, such designation is not permitted if the equity investment is held by 
the Group for trading or as mandatorily required to be classified as fair value 
through profit or loss (FVTPL).  The Group has designated unquoted equity 
instruments and proprietary golf club shares as Financial assets at FVOCI on 
initial recognition.  These are presented as Financial assets at FVOCI under the 
Other Non-current Assets account in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. 

  
Financial assets at FVOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction 
costs.  Subsequently, they are measured at fair value, with no deduction for any 
disposal costs.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value, including 
the foreign exchange component, are recognized in other comprehensive 
income, net of any effects arising from income taxes, and are reported as  
part of Revaluation Reserves account in equity.  When the asset is disposed  
of, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognized in the Revaluation 
Reserves account is not reclassified to profit or loss but is reclassified directly 
to Retained Earnings account, except for those debt securities classified as 
FVOCI wherein cumulative fair value gains or losses are recycled to profit or 
loss. 

 
Any dividends earned on holding equity instruments are recognized in profit 
or loss under Other Income, when the Group’s right to receive dividends is 
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the 
dividend will flow to the Group, and, the amount of the dividend can be 
measured reliably, unless the dividends clearly represent recovery of a part of 
the cost of the investment. 

 
(iii) Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Profit or Loss 
  

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than 
“hold to collect” or “hold to collect and sell” are categorized at FVTPL.  
Further, irrespective of business model, financial assets whose contractual  
cash flows are not SPPI are accounted for at FVTPL.  Also, equity securities 
are classified as financial assets at FVTPL, unless the Group designates an 
equity investment that is not held for trading as at FVOCI at initial 
recognition.  The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL significantly include 
equity securities and a small portion of convertible debt securities, which are 
held by the Group for trading purposes and designated as at FVTPL, 
respectively. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value.  Subsequently, 
they are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognized in profit or loss 
as part of Finance Income in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
 

Interest income on financial assets measured at amortized cost is recognized using 
the effective interest rate method.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount of 
the financial asset. 
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The Group calculates interest income by applying the effective interest rate to the 
gross carrying amount of the financial assets, except for those that are subsequently 
identified as credit-impaired and or are purchased or originated credit-impaired 
assets. 

 
For financial assets that have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate  
to the net carrying amount of the financial assets (after deduction of the loss 
allowance).  If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, the calculation of interest 
income reverts to gross basis.  For financial assets that were credit-impaired on 
initial recognition, interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted 
effective interest rate to the amortized cost of the asset.  The calculation of interest 
income does not revert to a gross basis even if the credit risk of the asset 
subsequently improves. 

 
Interest income earned is recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
as part of Finance Income. 

 
The Group can only reclassify financial assets if the objective of its business model 
for managing those financial assets changes.  Accordingly, the Group is required to 
reclassify financial assets: (i) from amortized cost to FVTPL, if the objective of the 
business model changes so that the amortized cost criteria are no longer met; and,  
(ii) from FVTPL to amortized cost, if the objective of the business model changes 
so that the amortized cost criteria start to be met and the characteristic of the 
instrument’s contractual cash flows meet the amortized cost criteria.  A change in 
the objective of the Group’s business model will take effect only at the beginning  
of the next reporting period following the change in the business model. 

 
(b) Impairment of Financial Assets 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group assesses and recognizes for expected 
credit loss (ECL) on a forward-looking basis associated with its financial assets 
carried at amortized cost.  The measurement of ECL involves consideration of 
broader range of information that is available without undue cost or effort at the 
reporting date about past events, current conditions, and reasonable and 
supportable forecasts of future economic conditions (i.e., forward-looking 
information) that may affect the collectability of the future cash flows of the 
financial assets.  Measurement of the ECL is determined by a probability-weighted 
estimate of credit losses over the expected life of the financial instrument evaluated 
based on a range of possible outcomes. 

 
The Group applies the simplified approach in measuring ECL, which uses a  
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade and other receivables (other than 
advances to and rental receivables from related parties) and other financial assets 
carried at amortized costs.  These are the expected shortfalls in contractual cash 
flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the 
financial assets.  The Group uses its historical experience, external indicators and  
forward-looking information to calculate the ECL using a provision matrix.  The 
Group also assesses impairment of receivables such as rental and contract 
receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk characteristics, 
and have been grouped based on the days past due [see Note 5.2(b)].   
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On the other hand, the Group applies a general approach in relation to advances to 
and rental receivables from related parties.  The maximum period over which ECL 
should be measured is the longest contractual period where an entity is exposed to 
credit risk.  In the case of these receivables from related parties, which are repayable 
on demand, the contractual period is the very short period needed to transfer the 
cash once demanded.  Management determines possible impairment based on the 
sufficiency of the related parties’ highly liquid assets in order to repay the Group’s 
receivables if demanded at the reporting date taking into consideration the historical 
defaults of the related parties.  If the Group cannot immediately collect its 
receivables, management considers the expected manner of recovery to measure 
ECL.  If the recovery strategies indicate that the outstanding balance of advances to 
related parties can be collected, the ECL is limited to the effect of discounting the 
amount due over the period until cash is realized. 

 
The key elements used in the calculation of ECL are as follows: 

 
• Probability of default – It is an estimate of likelihood of a counterparty defaulting 

at its financial obligation over a given time horizon, either over the next  
12 months or the remaining lifetime of the obligation. 

 
• Loss given default – It is an estimate of loss arising in case where a default 

occurs at a given time.  It is based on the difference between the contractual 
cash flows of a financial instrument due from a counterparty and those that 
the Group would expect to receive, including the realization of any collateral 
or effect of any credit enhancement. 

 
• Exposure at default – It represents the gross carrying amount of the financial 

instruments in the event of default which pertains to its amortized cost. 
 
The Group recognizes an impairment loss in profit or loss for all financial 
instruments subjected to impairment assessment with a corresponding adjustment 
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account, except for debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI, if applicable, for which the loss allowance is 
recognizes in other comprehensive income and accumulated in Revaluation 
Reserves account, and does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial  
asset in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
(c) Derecognition of Financial Assets 

 
The financial assets (or where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a 
group of financial assets) are derecognized when the contractual rights to receive 
cash flows from the financial instruments expire, or when the financial assets and 
all substantial risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to another 
party.  If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group 
recognizes its retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it 
may have to pay.  If the Group retains substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group continues to recognize the 
financial asset and also recognizes a collateralized borrowing for the proceeds 
received. 
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2.5 Land and Land Development Costs and Property Development Costs 
 

(a) Land and Land Development Costs 
 

Land and land development costs are initially recorded at acquisition cost or cost of 
land reclamation and related land development costs, if the land is reclaimed.  Land 
and land development costs include capitalized borrowing costs incurred before the 
completion of the reclamation project (see Note 2.23).  A valuation allowance is 
provided for land development costs that are no longer recoverable.  
 

Subsequent to initial recognition, land and land development costs are stated at the 
lower of cost and net realizable value.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling 
price in the ordinary course of business, less the estimated costs of completion  
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.  An item of land and land 
development cost is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the sale of asset.   

 
(b) Property Development Costs 

 
The costs of land, development and construction of the residential condominium 
projects of the Group are accumulated in the Property Development Costs account 
in the consolidated statement of financial position.  Borrowing costs, if any, on 
certain loans incurred during the development of the real estate properties are also 
capitalized by the Group as part of property development costs (see Note 2.23).  
All costs relating to the real estate properties sold are recognized as cost/expense  
as the work to which they relate is performed. 

 
Costs of properties and projects accounted for as Property Development Costs are 
assigned using specific identification of their individual costs.  These properties and 
projects are valued at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  Net realizable 
value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs to complete and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.   
 
The Group recognizes the effect of revisions in the total project cost estimates 
based on the input method in the year in which these changes become  
known [see Note 2.16(c)].  Any impairment loss from a real estate project is  
charged to operations during the period in which the loss is determined. 

 
Repossessed property arising from sales cancellation is recognized at cost  
[see Note 2.2(d)].  The difference between the carrying amount of the receivable  
or contract asset to be derecognized and the cost of the repossessed property is 
recognized in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
 

2.6 Property and Equipment 
 

Except for land stated at acquisition cost less any impairment in value, property and 
equipment are stated at acquisition cost or construction cost less accumulated 
depreciation, amortization and any impairment losses.  The cost of an asset comprises its 
purchase price or construction cost and directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to 
working condition for its intended use.  Expenditures for additions, major improvements 
and renewals are capitalized while regular expenditures for repairs and maintenance are 
charged to expense as incurred.   
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Construction in progress pertains to the accumulated costs of putting up the assets, 
additions or improvements including the applicable borrowing cost (see Note 2.23).  Cost 
is recognized when materials purchased and services performed in relation to 
construction of the asset have been delivered or rendered.  When the asset has become 
available for use, the accumulated cost is transferred to the appropriate asset account,  
and depreciation is recognized based on the estimated useful life of such asset.  

 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
assets as follows:   

 
  Land improvements   15 years 
  Machinery and construction equipment   3-5 years 
   Transportation equipment   5 years 
   Furniture and office equipment   2-5 years 
   Machinery and other equipment   3 years 
 
Amortization of leasehold improvements is recognized over the estimated useful lives of 
improvements or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter. 
 
Fully depreciated and amortized assets are retained in the accounts until these are no 
longer in use and no further charge for depreciation and amortization is made in respect 
of those assets.  
 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the 
asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see Note 2.21). 
 
The residual values, estimated useful lives and method of depreciation and amortization 
of property and equipment are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. 

 
An item of property and equipment, including the related accumulated depreciation and 
amortization, and impairment losses, if any, is derecognized upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any 
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the 
net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in 
the year the item is derecognized. 

 
2.7 Other Assets 

 
Other assets pertain to other resources controlled by the Group as a result of past events.  
They are recognized in the consolidated financial statements when it is probable that the 
future economic benefits will flow to the Group and the asset has a cost or value that can 
be measured reliably. 

 
Other recognized assets of similar nature, where future economic benefits are expected  
to flow to the Group beyond one year after the end of the reporting period (or in the 
normal operating cycle of the business, if longer), are classified as non-current assets. 
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Advances to suppliers that will be applied as payment for construction of condominium 
units accounted for as real estate inventories are classified and presented under the Other 
Current Asset account.  On the other hand, advances to suppliers that will be applied as 
payment for construction of property and equipment, and investment properties are 
classified and presented under the Other Non-current Assets account.  These 
classification and presentation are based on the eventual realization of the asset to  
which it was advanced for. 
 
2.8 Investment Properties 

 
Properties held for lease under operating lease agreements and/or for capital 
appreciation, which comprise mainly of land (including its land development costs), 
buildings and improvements and condominium units, are classified as investment 
property and carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment loss 
except for land, which is carried at cost less any impairment in value (see Note 2.21).   
 
Depreciation is computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the 
assets as follows: 
 

  Buildings and improvements   30 years 
  Condominium units   25 years 
 

Construction in progress pertains to the accumulated costs of putting up the assets, 
additions or improvements including the applicable borrowing costs (see Note 2.23).   
Cost is recognized when materials purchased and services performed in relation to 
construction of an asset have been delivered or rendered.  When the asset has become 
available for use, the accumulated cost is transferred to the appropriate investment 
property account, and depreciation is recognized based on the estimated useful life of 
such asset. 
 
The residual values, useful life and method of depreciation of the assets are reviewed and 
adjusted, if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.  

 
An item of investment property, including the related accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any, is derecognized upon disposal or when no future economic 
benefits are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset.  Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference between the net disposal 
proceeds and the carrying amount of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year the 
item is derecognized. 

 
Transfers from other accounts (such as Land and Land Development Costs and Property 
and Equipment) are made to investment property when and only when, there is a change 
in use, evidenced by ending of owner-occupation or commencement of an operating 
lease to another party.  Transfers from investment property are made when, and only 
when, there is a change in use, evidenced by commencement of the owner-occupation or 
commencement of development with a view to sell.  

 
For a transfer from investment property to owner-occupied property or inventories, the 
cost of property for subsequent measurement is its carrying value at the date of change in 
use.  If the property occupied by the Group as an owner-occupied property becomes an 
investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy 
stated under property and equipment up to the date of change in use. 
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Rental income and operating expenses from investment property, reported under 
Revenues and Cost of Services and Sales, respectively, are recognized as described in 
Note 2.16.  
 
2.9 Business Combinations 

 
PFRS 3 requires that an entity shall determine whether a transaction or other event is a 
business combination.  If the assets acquired are not a business, the entity shall account 
for the transaction as an asset acquisition.  Business acquisitions are accounted for using 
the acquisition or pooling-of-interest method of accounting [see Note 2.3(a)(ii)].  The 
accounting policy for asset acquisition is more fully discussed in Note 2.17. 
 
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the fair value of the 
Parent Company’s share of the net identifiable assets of the acquired subsidiary at the 
date of acquisition.  Subsequent to initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less 
any accumulated impairment losses.  Goodwill is tested annually for impairment and 
carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.  Impairment losses on goodwill are 
not reversed. 
 
Negative goodwill which is the excess of the Group’s interest in the net fair value of net 
identifiable assets acquired over acquisition cost is charged directly to income. 

 
For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units or 
groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business 
combination in which the goodwill arose.  The cash-generating units or groups of 
cash-generating units are identified according to operating segment. 
 
Gains and losses on the disposal of an interest in a subsidiary include the carrying amount 
of goodwill relating to it. 
 
If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquirer is required to remeasure its 
previously held equity interest in the acquiree at its acquisition-date fair value and 
recognize the resulting gain or loss, if any, in the profit or loss or other comprehensive 
income, as appropriate. 
 
Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognized at fair value at 
the acquisition date.  Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration 
that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognized in accordance with PAS 37 either in 
profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income.  Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not remeasured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted 
for within equity. 
 
2.10 Financial Liabilities 

 
Financial liabilities, which include loans and borrowings, trade and other payables  
(except tax-related liabilities), lease liability, advances from a co-joint venturer, advances 
from and due to related parties, rental deposits and construction bond under Deposits 
and Advances account, are recognized when the Group becomes a party to the 
contractual terms of the instrument.  All interest-related charges incurred on financial 
liability, except those capitalized as part of qualifying asset, are recognized as an expense 
under Finance Costs account in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.  
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Loans and borrowings are raised for support of short and long-term funding of 
operations.  They are recognized at proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.  Finance 
costs are charged to profit or loss, except for capitalized borrowing costs for qualifying 
assets, on an accrual basis using the effective interest method and are added to the 
carrying amount of the instrument to the extent that these are not settled in the period in 
which they arise.  
 
Trade and other payables and lease liability [see Note 2.18(a)(i)] are initially recognized at 
their fair values and subsequently measured at amortized cost, using effective interest 
method for those with maturities beyond one year, less settlement payments.   
 
Advances from and due to related parties, advances from a co-joint venture and 
construction bonds are initially recognized at its nominal value and subsequently 
measured at amortized cost less settlement payments.  
 
Rental deposits are recognized when cash is received or becomes receivable from tenants 
based on the terms of the lease agreements.  These are initially measured at the amount of 
cash received or receivables in accordance with the terms of the lease agreement.  Rental 
deposits are subsequently measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as current liabilities if payment is due to be settled within 
one year or less after the end of reporting period (or in the normal operating cycle of the 
business, if longer), or the Group does not have unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting period.  Otherwise, these 
are presented as non-current liabilities.  
 
Financial liabilities are derecognized from the consolidated statement of financial position 
only when the obligations are extinguished either through discharge, cancellation or 
expiration.  The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability 
derecognized and the consideration paid or payable is recognized in profit or loss. 

 
2.11 Segment Reporting 

 
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting 
provided to the Group’s executive committee; its chief operating decision-maker.  The 
executive committee is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of 
the operating segments. 
 
In identifying its operating segments, management generally follows the Group’s 
products and service lines as disclosed in Note 4, which represent the main products and 
services provided by the Group. 
 
Each of these operating segments is managed separately as each of these service lines 
requires different technologies and other resources as well as marketing approaches.  All 
intersegment transfers are carried out at arm’s length prices. 
 
The measurement policies the Group uses for segment reporting under PFRS 8,  
Operating Segments, are the same as those used in its consolidated financial statements. 
 
There have been no changes from prior periods in the measurement methods used to 
determine reported segment profit or loss. 
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2.12 Offsetting Financial Instruments 
 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the resulting net amount, considered 
as a single financial asset or financial liability, is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position when there is a legally enforceable right to set-off the recognized amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.   

 
The right of set-off must be available at the end of the reporting period, that is, it is not 
contingent on future event.  It must also be enforceable in the normal course of business, 
in the event of default, and in the event of insolvency or bankruptcy; and, must be legally 
enforceable for both entity and all counterparties to the financial instruments. 

 
2.13 Provisions and Contingencies 

 
Provisions are recognized when present obligations will probably lead to an outflow of 
economic resources and they can be estimated reliably even if the timing or amount of 
the outflow may still be uncertain.  A present obligation arises from the presence of a 
legal or constructive obligation that has resulted from past events.   

 
Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditure required to settle the present 
obligation, based on the most reliable evidence available at the end of the reporting 
period, including the risks and uncertainties associated with the present obligation.  
Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be 
required in settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole.  
When time value of money is material, long-term provisions are discounted to their 
present values using a pretax rate that reflects market assessments and the risks specific  
to the obligation.  The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense.  Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
adjusted to reflect the current best estimate. 

 
In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resource as a result of present 
obligations is considered improbable or remote, or the amount to be provided for cannot 
be measured reliably, no liability is recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
Similarly, possible inflows of economic benefits to the Group that do not yet meet the 
recognition criteria of an asset are considered contingent assets; hence, are not recognized 
in the consolidated financial statements.  On the other hand, any reimbursement that the 
Group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the obligation 
is recognized as a separate asset not exceeding the amount of the related provision. 

 
2.14 Non-current Asset Held for Disposal or Termination 
 
Non-current asset held for disposal or termination pertains to an investment property 
whereby the Group intends to recover such investment through the transfer of the 
investment property within one year from the date of classification as held for disposal 
or expected recovery of the underlying asset by the Group due to the termination of a 
certain joint venture agreement with a co-joint venturer, subject to fulfillment of certain 
conditions [see Note 13.2(b)]. 
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The Group classifies a non-current asset (or disposal group) as held for disposal or 
termination if its carrying amount will be recovered principally through a disposal or 
termination transaction rather than through continuing use, and that the Group is 
committed to recover the underlying asset.  In the event that the disposal or 
termination of the asset is extended beyond one year, the extension of the period 
required to complete the disposal or termination does not preclude an asset from being 
classified as held for disposal if the delay is caused by events or circumstances beyond 
the Group’s control and there is sufficient evidence that the Group remains committed 
to its plan to dispose or terminate the investment in shares of stock and recover the 
underlying land to be accounted for as investment property in the future. 
  
Non-current asset held for disposal or termination is measured at the lower of its 
carrying amount, immediately prior to their classification as held for disposal or 
termination, and its fair value less costs to dispose or terminate.  The Group shall 
recognize an impairment loss for any initial or subsequent write-down of the asset at 
fair value less cost to dispose.  Gain from any subsequent increase in fair value less cost 
to dispose of an asset is recognized to the extent of the cumulative impairment loss 
previously recognized.     
  
If the Group has classified an asset as held for disposal or termination, but the criteria 
for it to be recognized as held for disposal or termination are no longer satisfied, the 
Group shall cease to classify the asset as held for disposal or termination. 
 
The gain or loss arising from the disposal or termination, or remeasurement of the asset 
held for disposal or termination, if any, is recognized in profit or loss and included as 
part of Other Income (Charges) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 
2.15 Contract Asset and Contract Liability 

 
Contract assets pertain to rights to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 
Group has transferred to a customer that is conditioned on something other than passage 
of time.  Under its contracts with customers, the Group will receive an unconditional right 
to payment for the total consideration upon the completion of the development of the 
property sold (see Note 2.16).  Any rights to consideration recognized by the Group as it 
develops the property are presented as Contract Asset account in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.  Contract asset is subsequently tested for impairment in  
the same manner as the Group assesses impairment of its financial assets (see Note 2.21). 
 
Any consideration received by the Group in excess of the amount for which the Group is 
entitled is presented as Contract Liability account in the consolidated statement of 
financial position (see Note 2.16).  A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to 
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group has received consideration 
(or an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. 
 
2.16 Revenue and Expense Recognition 

 
Revenue comprises revenue from construction contracts and sale of land and 
condominium units. 

 
  

- 28 - 
 

To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Group follows a five-step process: 
 
(a) identifying the contract with a customer; 
(b) identifying the performance obligation; 
(c) determining the transaction price; 
(d) allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and, 
(e) recognizing revenue when/as performance obligations are satisfied. 
 
The Group determines whether a contract with customer exists by evaluating whether 
the following gating criteria are present: 
 
(a) the parties to the contract have approved the contract either in writing, orally or in 

accordance with other customary business practices; 
(b) each party’s rights regarding the goods or services to be transferred or performed  

can be identified; 
(c) the payment terms for the goods or services to be transferred or performed can be 

identified; 
(d) the contract has commercial substance (i.e., the risk, timing or amount of the future 

cash flows is expected to change as a result of the contract); and, 
(e) collection of the consideration in exchange of the goods and services is probable. 
 
Revenue is recognized only when (or as) the Group satisfies a performance obligation  
by transferring control of the promised goods or services to a customer.  The transfer of 
control can occur over time or at a point in time.   

 
A performance obligation is satisfied at a point in time unless it meets one of the 
following criteria, in which case it is satisfied over time: 
 
(a) the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits provided by the 

Group’s performance as the Group performs; 
(b) the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as 

the asset is created or enhanced; and, 
(c) the Group’s performance does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 

Group and the entity has an enforceable right to payment for performance 
completed to date. 

 
The Group enters into transactions involving construction services, sale of land and 
condominium units, and other contracts containing performance obligations with 
counterparties.  The significant judgments used in determining the transaction price and 
the amounts allocated to the performance obligations are disclosed in Note 3.1(c).  The 
transaction price allocated to performance obligations satisfied at a point in time is 
recognized as revenue when control of the asset or services transfers to the customer.  If 
the performance obligation is satisfied over time, the transaction price allocated to that 
performance obligation is recognized as revenue as the performance obligation is 
satisfied.  Except as disclosed in the consolidated financial statements, the Group uses 
the practical expedient in PFRS 15 for customer contracts entered into other than for 
construction services and sale of land, with respect to non-disclosure of the aggregate 
amount of the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied or partially satisfied performance 
obligations as of the end of the reporting periods and the explanation of when such 
amount will be recognized as revenue since such Group’s contracts with customers have 
original expected duration of one year or less.     
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 In addition, the following specific recognition criteria must also be met before revenue is 
recognized [significant judgments in determining the timing of satisfaction of the following 
performance obligations are disclosed in Note 3.1(b)]: 
 
(a) Sale of land – revenue from sale of land is recognized as the control transfers at the 

point in time with the buyer, that is when the Group delivered the possession and 
buyer accepted the property.  At that point, the buyer may already use the property 
and the Group becomes entitled to the full amount due from the sales contract which 
are normally collected within one year from the contract inception date.  
 
Payments received from buyers which do not meet the revenue recognition criteria 
are presented as Buyers’ deposits under the Deposits and Advances account in the 
consolidated statement of financial position. 

 
For tax reporting purposes, revenue on sale and cost of raw land sold are recognized 
in full when more than 25% of the contract price is collected within the taxable year; 
otherwise, revenue and cost of raw land sold are recognized based on the percentage 
of collections over the contract price, excluding value-added tax (VAT). 

 
(b) Construction contracts – revenue is recognized based on the percentage-of-completion 

determined through the input method as the construction services are provided.  The 
stage of completion is measured on the basis of the Group’s efforts or inputs to the 
satisfaction of a performance obligation (i.e., resources consumed, labor hours 
expended, other costs incurred, etc.) relative to the total expected inputs to the 
satisfaction of such performance obligation.  Contract costs are recognized when 
incurred.     
 
Customers are invoiced based on certain milestone as work progresses, which are also 
due upon receipt by the customers, depending on applicable credit terms.  Any 
amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting period are presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position as receivables as only the passage of time 
is required before payment of these amounts will be due. 

 
There were no recognized Contract Asset or Contract Liability accounts  
applicable to construction contracts as of the end of the reporting periods.  
 
Progress billings not yet paid by customers and retention are presented as part of 
Receivables in the consolidated statement of financial position. 
 

(c) Sale of condominium units – for financial reporting purposes, revenues from  
transactions covering sale of condominium units are recognized over time under the  
percentage-of-completion method which is in reference to input method of measuring 
progress of completion.  The input method measures the percentage of total costs 
incurred to date (inclusive of the land and cost of uninstalled materials due to the 
Group’s election to defer PIC Q&A 2018-12, PFRS 15 Implementing Issues Affecting the 
Real Estate Industry), as an allowed transition relief over the estimated costs to complete 
the projects [see Note 2.2(c)].   
 
Revenue recognized from real estate sales is presented as Sale of Condominium Units 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss while the related asset or liability arising 
from the sale and progress of the development is presented as part of Contract Asset 
or Contract Liability accounts, as applicable, in the consolidated statement of financial 
position (see Note 2.15).   
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As discussed in the previous page, cost of condominium units sold before the 
completion of the projects include the acquisition cost of the land, development 
costs incurred to date, any applicable borrowing costs (see Note 2.23) and in 
accordance with the percentage-of-completion as determined based on the input 
method [see Note 2.5(b)]. 

 
Payments received from customers which do not meet the revenue recognition 
criteria are presented as Reservation deposits under the Deposits and Advances 
account in the consolidated statement of financial position (see Note 2.15). 
 
For tax reporting purposes, revenue on sale and cost of condominium units sold are 
recognized in full when more than 25% of the contract price is collected within the 
taxable year; otherwise, revenue and cost of condominium units sold are recognized 
based on the percentage of collections over the contract price, excluding VAT. 

 
(d) Other revenues from common use service area (CUSA) – Other revenues arising from CUSA 

charges related to leasing activities are recognized over time as the Group performs 
the contractually agreed task.  Customers are invoiced monthly as work progresses, 
which are also due upon receipt by the customers.   

 
(e) Rendering of administrative and other services – This is recognized on a time-and-materials 

basis as the services (i.e., consultancy and strategic real estate management activities) 
are provided to third party property owners and tenants within Aseana City.  
Customers are also invoiced monthly as work progresses, which are also due upon 
receipt by the customers.  Any amounts remaining unbilled at the end of a reporting 
period are presented in the consolidated statement of financial position as receivables 
as only the passage of time is required before payment of these amounts will be due.  

 
Incremental costs of obtaining a contract to sell the condominium units to customers are 
recognized as part of Contract acquisition costs under Other Current Assets and Other 
Non-current Assets accounts and is subsequently amortized over the duration of the 
contract on the same basis as revenue from such contract is recognized.  Except when 
the impact to the consolidated financial statements is significant for incremental costs in 
obtaining contracts relative to sale of condominium units and other customer contracts, 
the Group uses the practical expedient in PFRS 15 and has expensed such costs as 
incurred (i.e., for construction activities and sale of land) since the expected amortization 
period of these costs, if capitalized, would be less than one year.  

 
The Group also incurs costs in fulfilling contracts with customers [see Note 3.2(i)].  
When determining the appropriate accounting treatment for such costs, the Group first 
considers any other applicable standards.  If other standards preclude capitalization of a 
particular cost, then an asset is not recognized under PFRS 15.  If other standards are not 
applicable to contract fulfillment cost, the Group applies the following criteria, which, if 
met, result in capitalization: 
 
(i) the costs directly relate to a contract or to a specifically identifiable anticipated 

contract; 
(ii) the costs generate or enhance resources of the entity that will be used in satisfying 

(or in continuing to satisfy) performance obligations in the future; and  
(iii) the costs are expected to be recovered. 
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Any contract fulfillment assets or capitalized costs are amortized based on the transfer of 
goods or services the asset relates to.  Furthermore, these are derecognized either upon 
disposal or when no further economic benefits are expected to flow from its use or 
disposal. 
 
Costs of rentals and other costs and operating expenses are recognized in the profit or 
loss upon utilization of the goods or services or at the date they are incurred.  Finance 
costs are reported on an accrual basis except capitalized borrowing costs (see Note 2.23). 

 
2.17 Acquisition of Assets 

 
Acquisition of interest in an entity that holds investment property which does not 
constitute a business is accounted for as an asset acquisition (see Note 2.9).  A business is 
an integrated set of activities and assets that is capable of being conducted and managed for 
the purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends, lower costs or other economic 
benefits directly to investors or other owners, members and participant.  Under the asset 
purchase accounting, the purchase costs are allocated to identifiable assets and liabilities 
based on relative fair values of individual items; goodwill or gain on bargain purchase is not 
recognized; and, transaction costs are capitalized. 

 
2.18 Leases 

 
The Group accounts for its leases as follows: 

 
(a) Group as Lessee 

 
(i) Accounting for Leases in Accordance with PFRS 16 (2019 and 2020) 

 
For any new contracts entered into, the Group considers whether a contract is, or 
contains, a lease.  A lease is defined as a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys 
the right to use an asset (the underlying asset) for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration.  To apply this definition, the Group assesses whether the contract 
meets three key evaluations which are whether: 
 
 the contract contains an identified asset, which is either explicitly identified in the 

contract or implicitly specified by being identified at the time the asset is made 
available to the Group; 
 

 the Group has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from 
the use of the identified asset throughout the period of use, considering its rights 
within the defined scope of the contract; and, 

 
 the Group has the right to direct the use of the identified asset throughout the 

period of use.  The Group assesses whether it has the right to direct ‘how and 
for what purpose’ the asset is used throughout the period of use. 

 
At lease commencement date, the Group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability in the consolidated statement of financial position.  The right-of-use asset is 
measured at cost, which is made up of the initial measurement of the lease liability, 
any initial direct costs incurred by the Group, an estimate of any costs to dismantle 
and remove the asset at the end of the lease, and any lease payments made in 
advance of the lease commencement date (net of any incentives received).   
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Subsequently, the Group depreciates the right-of-use asset on a straight-line basis 
from the lease commencement date to the earlier of the end of the useful life of  
the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term.  The Group also assesses the  
right-of-use asset for impairment when such indicators exist (see Note 2.21). 

 
On the other hand, the Group measures the lease liability at the present value of  
the lease payments unpaid at the commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease if that rate is readily available or the Group’s incremental 
borrowing rate.  Lease payments include fixed payments (including  
in-substance fixed) less lease incentives receivable, if any, variable lease payments 
based on an index or rate, amounts expected to be payable under a residual value 
guarantee, and payments arising from options (either renewal or termination) 
reasonably certain to be exercised.  Subsequent to initial measurement, the liability 
will be reduced for payments made and increased for interest.  It is remeasured to 
reflect any reassessment or modification, or if there are changes in in-substance fixed 
payments.  When the lease liability is remeasured, the corresponding adjustment is 
reflected in the right-of-use asset, or profit and loss if the right-of-use asset is already 
reduced to zero. 

 
The Group has elected to account for short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets using the practical expedients.  Instead of recognizing a right-of-use asset and 
lease liability, the payments in relation to these are recognized as an expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
On the consolidated statement of financial position, right-of-use assets have been 
presented as part of investment properties since it relates to a lease of a certain land 
where the Group constructed improvements therein and which such assets are 
subsequently leased out to third parties under operating leases (see Notes 15 and 16) 
while lease liabilities have been presented separately from other liabilities. 

 
(ii) Accounting for Leases in Accordance with PAS 17 (2018) 
 
Leases which do not transfer to the Group substantially all the risks and benefits of 
ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Operating lease payments 
(net of any incentive received from the lessor) are recognized as expense in profit 
or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term.  Associated costs, such as repairs 
and maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred. 
 
The Group determines whether an arrangement is, or contains, a lease based on 
the substance of the arrangement.  It makes an assessment of whether the 
fulfillment of the arrangement is dependent on the use of a specific or identified 
asset or assets and the arrangement conveys a right to use the asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. 

 
(b) Group as Lessor 

 
Leases which do not transfer to the lessee substantially all the risks and benefits  
of ownership of the asset are classified as operating leases.  Lease income from 
operating leases is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term, including any minimum rent free period therein, plus additional rent free 
period as mutually agreed by the contracting parties.  Revenue from rentals arise 
from the lease of investment property comprising of land and buildings.   
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2.19 Related Party Relationships and Transactions 
 

Related party transactions are transfers of resources, services or obligations between the 
Group and its related parties, regardless whether a price is charged. 
 
Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability to control the other party  
or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and operating 
decisions.  These parties include: (a) individuals owning, directly or indirectly through one 
or more intermediaries, control or are controlled by, or under common control with the 
Group; (b) associates; (c) individuals owning, directly or indirectly, an interest in the voting 
power of the Group that gives them significant influence over the Group and close 
members of the family of any such individual; and, (d) the Group’s retirement plan. 
 
In considering each possible related party relationship, attention is directed to the 
substance of the relationship and not merely on the legal form. 

 
Transactions amounting to 10% or more of the total assets based on the latest audited 
consolidated financial statements that were entered into with related parties are 
considered material under SEC Memorandum Circular No. 10, Series of 2019, Rules on 
Material Related Party Transactions for Publicly-listed Companies. 

 
All individual material related party transactions shall be approved by at least two-thirds 
vote of the board of directors, with at least a majority of the independent directors  
voting to approve the material related party transactions.  In case that a majority of the 
independent directors’ vote is not secured, the material related party transaction may be 
ratified by the vote of the stockholders representing at least two-thirds of the outstanding 
capital stock.  For aggregate related party transactions within a 12-month period that 
breaches the materiality threshold of 10% of the Group’s total assets based on the latest 
audited consolidated financial statements, the same board approval would be required for 
the transaction(s) that meets and exceeds the materiality threshold covering the same 
related party. 
 
Directors with personal interest in the transaction should abstain from participating in the 
discussions and voting on the same. In case they refuse to abstain, their attendance shall 
not be counted for the purposes of assessing the quorum and their votes shall not be 
counted for purposes of determining approval. 
 
2.20 Foreign Currency Transactions and Translation 

 
The accounting records of the Group are maintained in Philippine pesos.  Foreign 
currency transactions during the reporting period are translated into the functional 
currency at exchange rates which approximate those prevailing on transaction dates. 
 
Foreign currency gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign currency 
denominated transactions and from the translation at period-end exchange rates of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognized as  
part of Finance income or Finance costs under Other Income (Charges) account in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss. 
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2.21 Impairment of Non-financial Assets 
 

The Group’s investments in associates and a joint venture, property and equipment, 
investment properties, right-of-use asset and other non-financial assets are subject to 
impairment testing.  All other individual assets are tested for impairment whenever events 
or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of those assets may not be 
recoverable. 

 
For purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units).  As a result, assets are 
tested for impairment either individually or at the cash-generating unit level. 
 
Impairment loss is recognized in profit or loss for the amount by which the asset’s or  
cash-generating unit’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount which is the  
higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.  In determining value in use, 
management estimates the expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and 
determines the suitable interest rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash 
flows.  The data used for impairment testing procedures are directly linked to the Group’s 
latest approved budget, adjusted as necessary to exclude the effects of asset enhancements.  
Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit and reflect 
management’s assessment of respective risk profiles, such as market and asset-specific risk 
factors. 
 
All assets are subsequently reassessed for indications that an impairment loss previously 
recognized may no longer exist.  An impairment loss is reversed if the asset’s or cash 
generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount. 
 
2.22 Employee Benefits 

 
The Group provides short-term and post-employment benefits to employees through 
defined benefit and defined contribution plans, and other employee benefits which are 
recognized as follows:   
 
(a) Short-term Employee Benefits 

 
Short-term employee benefits include wages, salaries, bonuses, and non-monetary 
benefits provided to current employees, which are expected to be settled before 
twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period during which an 
employee services are rendered, but does not include termination benefits.  The 
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid in respect of services 
rendered by employees in an accounting period is recognized in the consolidated 
profit or loss during that period and any unsettled amount at the end of the 
reporting period is included as part of Accrued expenses under Trade and Other 
Payable accounts in the consolidated statement of financial position.   
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(b) Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan 
 

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment plan that defines an amount of  
post-employment benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually 
dependent on one or more factors such as age, years of service and salary.  The 
legal obligation for any benefits from this kind of post-employment plan remains 
with the Group, even if plan assets for funding the defined benefit plan have  
been acquired.  Plan assets may include assets specifically designated to a  
long-term benefit fund, as well as qualifying insurance policies.  The Group’s 
defined benefit post-employment plan covers all regular full-time employees.   
The pension plan is tax-qualified, non-contributory and administered by a trustee. 

 
The liability recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position for a 
defined benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the  
end of the reporting period less the fair value of plan assets.  The defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the projected unit 
credit method.  The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by 
discounting the estimated future cash outflows for expected benefit payments using 
a discount rate derived from the interest rates of zero coupon government bonds 
[using the reference rates published by Bloomberg using its valuation technology, 
Bloomberg Valuation (BVAL)], that are denominated in the currency in which the 
benefits will be paid and that have terms to maturity approximating to the terms of 
the related post-employment liability.  BVAL provides evaluated prices that are 
based on market observations from contributed sources. 
 
Remeasurements, comprising of actuarial gains and losses arising from experience 
adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions and the return on plan assets 
(excluding amount included in net interest) are reflected immediately in the 
consolidated statement of financial position with a charge or credit recognized in 
other comprehensive income in the period in which they arise.  Net interest is 
calculated by applying the discount rate at the beginning of the period, unless there 
is a plan amendment, curtailment or settlement during the period. The calculation 
also takes into account any changes in the net defined benefit liability or asset 
during the period as a result of contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest is 
reported as part of Finance Costs account (or Finance Income account, as 
applicable) in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.    
 
Past service costs are recognized immediately in profit or loss in the period of a 
plan amendment and curtailment. 
 

(c) Post-employment Defined Contribution Plans 
 

A defined contribution plan is a pension plan under which the Group pays fixed 
contributions into an independent entity (e.g., Social Security System).  Under this 
plan, the Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contributions 
after payment of the fixed contribution.  The contributions recognized in respect of 
defined contribution plans are expensed as they fall due.  Liabilities or assets may be 
recognized if underpayment or prepayment has occurred and are normally of a  
short-term nature. 
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 (d) Termination Benefits 
 

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group 
before the normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary 
redundancy in exchange for these benefits.  The Group recognizes termination 
benefits at the earlier of when it can no longer withdraw the offer of such benefits 
and when it recognizes costs for a restructuring that is within the scope of 
PAS 37 and involves the payment of termination benefits.  In the case of an offer 
made to encourage voluntary redundancy, the termination benefits are measured 
based on the number of employees expected to accept the offer.  Benefits falling due 
more than 12 months after the end of the reporting period are discounted to their 
present value. 
 

(e) Compensated Absences 
 
Compensated absences are recognized for the number of paid leave days  
(including holiday entitlement) remaining at the end of the reporting period.  They 
are included as part of Accrued expenses in the Trade and Other Payables account in 
the consolidated statement of financial position at the undiscounted amount that the 
Group expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement. 

 
2.23 Borrowing Costs 

 
Borrowing costs are recognized as expenses in the period in which they are incurred, 
except to the extent that they are capitalized.  Borrowing costs that are attributable to  
the acquisition, construction or production of a qualifying asset (i.e. an asset that takes  
a substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale) are capitalized as 
part of cost of such asset (see Notes 2.5, 2.6 and 2.8).  The capitalization of borrowing 
costs commences when expenditures for the asset and borrowing costs are being incurred 
and activities that are necessary to prepare the asset for its intended use or sale are in 
progress.  Capitalization ceases when substantially all such activities are complete.  As 
discussed in Note 2.2(c), the Group availed the relief provided by the SEC to defer the 
implementation of the IFRIC Agenda Decision until December 31, 2023.  Until such time 
and when applicable, no borrowing costs can be capitalized on unsold real estate 
inventories. 
 
Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending 
their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalization. 

 
2.24 Income Taxes 
 
Tax expense recognized in profit or loss comprises the sum of current tax and deferred 
tax not recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, if any. 
 
Current tax assets or liabilities comprise those claims from, or obligations to, fiscal 
authorities relating to the current or prior reporting period, that are uncollected or unpaid 
at the end of the reporting period.  They are calculated using the tax rates and tax laws 
applicable to the fiscal periods to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the 
year.  All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 
expense in profit or loss. 
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Deferred tax is accounted for, using the liability method, on temporary differences at the 
end of the reporting period between the tax base of assets and liabilities and their carrying 
amounts for financial reporting purposes.  Under the liability method, with certain 
exceptions, deferred tax liabilities are recognized for all taxable temporary differences  
and deferred tax assets are recognized for all deductible temporary differences and the 
carryforward of unused tax losses and unused tax credits to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the deferred tax asset can be utilized.  
Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting period and are 
recognized to the extent that it has become probable that future taxable profit will be 
available to allow such deferred tax assets to be recovered. 
 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply 
in the period when the asset is realized or the liability is settled provided such tax rates 
have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. 
 
The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting 
period and reduced to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilized. 
 
The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that 
would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting 
period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.   

 
Most changes in deferred tax assets or liabilities are recognized as a component of tax 
expense in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity.  In this case, the tax is also recognized in 
other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 
 
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if the Group has a legally 
enforceable right to set-off current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the deferred 
taxes relate to the same entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
2.25  Equity  

 
Capital stock represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued. 
 
Additional paid-in capital includes any premium received on the issuance of capital stock.  
Any transaction costs associated with the issuance of shares are deducted from additional 
paid-in capital, net of any related income tax benefits. 
  
Revaluation reserves comprise of: 
 
(a) Fair valuation of financial assets at FVOCI arising from gains or losses due to the 

changes in fair value; 
 

(b) Remeasurements of retirement benefit obligation based on the cumulative balance of 
actuarial gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of post-employment defined benefit 
obligation; and, 

 
(c) Gains and losses due to the revaluation of certain investment property, previously 

classified as property and equipment, which is treated as part of the deemed cost 
upon transition to PFRS. 
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Other reserves pertain to the difference between the proportionate share of the Parent 
Company in the net assets of certain subsidiaries over the cost of the investment in the 
subsidiaries under the common control business combination which is accounted for 
using the pooling-of-interest method. 
 
Retained earnings include all current and prior period results of operations as reported in 
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, reduced by the amounts of dividends 
declared, if any.  Retained earnings also include an appropriated portion and therefore, 
are not available for dividend declaration or being restricted to cover the business 
expansion of the Group (see Note 28.3). 

 
2.26 Earnings and Diluted Earnings Per Share 

 
Basic earnings per share (EPS) is determined by dividing net profit attributable to the 
Parent Company’s shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares issued, 
adjusted for any stock dividends or stock splits, less any shares held in treasury during the 
reporting period (see Note 27). 

 
Diluted EPS is also computed by dividing net profit attributable to the Parent Company’s 
shareholders by the weighted average number of common shares issued and outstanding 
during the reporting period.  However, net profit attributable to common shares and the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding are adjusted to reflect the effects 
of any potentially dilutive preferred shares, convertible loan and stock option. 
 
Currently, the basic and diluted earnings per share are the same as there are no dilutive 
preferred shares, convertible loan and stock option (see Note 27). 

 
2.27 Events After the End of the Reporting Period 

 
Any post year-end event that provides additional information about the Group’s financial 
position at the end of the reporting period (adjusting event) is reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements.  Post year-end events that are not adjusting events, if 
any, are disclosed when material to the consolidated financial statements. 

 
 
3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 

The Group’s consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS require 
management to make judgments and estimates that affect the amounts reported in the 
consolidated financial statements and related notes.  Judgments and estimates are 
continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, including 
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  
Actual results may differ from these estimates. 

 
3.1 Critical Management Judgments in Applying Accounting Policies 
 
In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the 
judgments in the succeeding pages, apart from those involving estimation, which have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
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(a) Determination of Lease Term of Contracts with Renewal and Termination Options (2020 and 2019)  
 
In determining the lease term, management considers all relevant factors and 
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise a renewal option or 
not exercise a termination option.  Renewal options and/or periods after 
termination options are only included in the lease term if the lease is reasonably 
certain to be extended or not terminated and the renewal of the contract is not 
subject to mutual agreement of both parties. 

 
The factors that are normally the most relevant are (a) if there are significant 
penalties should the Group pre-terminate the contract, and (b) if any land 
improvements are expected to have a significant remaining value, the Group is 
reasonably certain to extend and not to terminate the lease contract.  Otherwise, 
the Group considers other factors including historical lease durations and the costs 
and business disruption required to replace the leased asset. 
 
The Group considers the extension period as part of the lease term for a certain 
lease of land (as lessee) due to its enforceability that does not require mutual 
agreement of both parties for renewal purposes.   

 
The lease term is reassessed if an option is actually exercised or not exercised or 
the Group becomes obliged to exercise or not exercise it.  The assessment of 
reasonable certainty is only revised if a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances occurs, which affects this assessment, and that is within the control 
of the Group. 
 

(b) Determining the Timing of Satisfaction of Performance Obligations 
 
(i) Construction Contracts 
 

The Group determined that its revenue from construction services shall be 
recognized over time in accordance with the percentage-of-completion 
method.  In making its judgment, the Group considers the timing of receipt 
and consumption of benefits provided by the Group to the customers.  The 
Group provides the construction services that create or enhance an asset that 
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced.  This demonstrates 
that the customer obtains the benefits of the Group’s rendering of 
construction service as it performs. 
 
In determining the best method of measuring the progress of the Group’s 
rendering of construction services, management considers the input method 
under PFRS 15 because of the direct relationship between the Group’s 
effort, in terms of incurred labor hours and materials used, and the transfer 
of service to the customers. 
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(ii) Sale of Condominium Units 
 
The Group determined that its performance obligation to develop properties 
promised in its contracts with customers is satisfied over time.  In making this 
judgment, the Group considers any asset created or enhanced as the Group 
performs and the ability of the customer to control such asset as it is being 
created or enhanced; the timing of receipt and consumption of benefits by the 
customer; and the Group’s enforceable right for payment for performance 
completed to date and the alternative use of the asset created to the Group. 
 
In determining the best method of measuring the progress of the Group’s 
property development, management considers the input method  
(i.e., percentage of total costs incurred to date, inclusive of the cost of land 
and uninstalled materials, over the estimated costs to complete the projects) 
under PFRS 15.   

 
Under this method, revenue is recognized by reference to the stage of 
development of the properties, i.e., revenue is recognized in the period in 
which the work is performed.  This method faithfully depicts the transfer of 
goods or services because in a sale of real property, not all of the benefits are 
consumed by the customer until the complete satisfaction of the performance 
obligation. 

 
(iii) Sale of Raw Land 

 
The Group exercises critical judgment in determining whether the 
performance obligation to deliver and transfer the control over the land to 
customers is satisfied over time or at a point in time.  In making this 
judgment, the Group considers the delivery to and acceptance by the buyer of 
the property as a transfer of control at specific point in time since the Group 
does not have a significant continuing involvement with the property sold to 
the buyer and the earning process is virtually complete.  Further, the Group’s 
enforceable right for payment becomes due upon transfer of control over the 
land.    
 

(iv) Other Income Arising from the Consideration Agreement  
 

The Group exercises critical judgment in determining whether each 
performance obligation stipulated in the Consideration Agreement entered into 
in 2018 with certain counterparties is satisfied over time or at a point in time 
[see Note 13.2(b)].  In making this judgment, the Group identified the two 
performance obligations from the Consideration Agreement as separate and 
distinct from one another with a corresponding consideration or transaction 
price specifically identified to each performance obligation, which is disclosed in 
Note 13.2(b).  Accordingly, the Group recognized other income in 2018 for the 
non-refundable portion of the consideration as it assessed that the first 
performance obligation has been satisfied at a specific point in time in 2018  
(see Note 22.4).  On the other hand, the Group determined that the second 
performance obligation is to be satisfied over time since there are future actions 
that are required to be undertaken by the Group and its counterparties, which 
commences in January 2019 based on the Consideration Agreement.  The 
Group recognized income in 2019 based on performance obligations satisfied in 
accordance with the Consideration Agreement (see Note 22.4). 
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(c) Determining the Transaction Price and Amounts Allocated to Performance Obligations 
 
The transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the material right and 
other performance obligations identified in the contract based on their 
stand-alone selling prices, which are all observable.  The transaction price for a 
contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties (i.e., VAT). 
 
The Group uses the practical expedient in PFRS 15 with respect to non-adjustment 
of the promised amount of consideration for the effects of significant financing 
component as the Group expects, at contract inception, that the period between the 
Group transfers promised assets or services to the customer and payment due date is 
one year or less.  With respect to real estate transactions, the Group deferred the 
adoption of PIC Q&A 2018-12 with respect to the accounting for the significant 
financing component in a contract to sell [see Note 2.2(c)]. 
 

(d) Determining the ECL on Trade and Other Receivables and Contract Asset  
 
The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECL for non-related party trade  
and other receivables and contract asset.  The provision rates are based on days  
past due for groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss patterns  
(i.e., by revenue stream type and, customer type and rating). 
 
The provision matrix is based on the Group’s historical observed default rates.  The 
Group’s management intends to regularly calibrate (i.e., on an annual basis) the matrix 
to consider the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking information  
(i.e., forecast economic conditions).  Management determined that there is no 
required ECL to be recognized on its Contract Asset account since the condominium 
units sold is collateralized to the related contract asset arising from the sale.  
Therefore, there is no expected loss given default as the recoverable amount from the 
subsequent re-sell of the condominium units is sufficient.   

 
On the other hand, the Group uses a general approach to calculate ECL for advances 
to and rental receivables from related parties [see Note 2.4(b)].  The Group’s 
management determines possible impairment based on the counterparties’ ability to 
repay the receivables upon demand at the reporting date taking into consideration the 
historical defaults from the counterparties.   
 
Details about the ECL on the Group’s receivables and contract asset are disclosed in 
Note 5.2(b). 
 

(e) Distinguishing Investment Properties and Owner-managed Properties 
 

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment property or 
owner-occupied property.  In making its judgment, the Group considers whether the 
property generates cash flows largely independent of the other assets held by the 
Group.  Owner-occupied properties generate cash flows that are attributable not 
only to the property but also to other assets used in the performance of the Group’s 
construction and other activities, and its supply process. 
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Some properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rental or for capital 
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the construction and supply 
of goods and services or for administrative purposes.  If these portions can be sold 
separately (or leased out separately under finance lease), the Group accounts for the 
portions separately.  If the portions cannot be sold separately, the property is 
accounted for as investment property only if an insignificant portion is held for use 
in the construction or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes.  
Judgment is applied in determining whether ancillary services are so significant that a 
property does not qualify as investment property.  The Group considers each 
property separately in making its judgment. 
 
In 2019, a portion of the Group’s investment properties was reclassified to property 
and equipment which represents the portion held by the Group for administrative 
purposes (see Notes 14 and 15). There are no similar transactions in 2020. 

 
(f) Distinguishing Real Estate Inventories and Investment Properties 

 
The Group’s management identifies a property as real estate inventories  
(property to be developed and/or eventually sold in the normal course of business) 
or Investment Properties (properties intended to earn rentals, capital appreciation 
or held for a currently undetermined future use) at the end of each reporting period 
following the approved plan of the Group. 

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, parcels of land identified as Land and Land 
Development Costs amounted to P2,112.5 million and P2,012.5 million, respectively 
(see Note 11). 

 
Parcels of land, classified as Investment Properties, amounted to P9,904.3 million 
and P8,867.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively (see Note 15). 
 
The Group reclassified certain parcels of land which were previously presented 
under Investment in Joint Venture Held for Termination to Investment Properties 
amounting to P163.3 million in 2019 [see Notes 13.2(b) and 15], and under 
Investment Properties to Property Development Costs amounting to  
P397.8 million in 2019 (see Notes 10.1 and 15).  There are no similar transactions  
in 2020. 
 

(g) Distinguishing Operating and Finance Leases for Contracts Where the Group is the Lessor 
 

The Group has entered into various lease agreements.  Critical judgment was 
exercised by management to distinguish each lease agreement as either an operating 
or finance lease by looking at the transfer or retention of significant risk and 
rewards of ownership of the properties covered by the agreements.  Failure to make 
the right judgment will result in either overstatement or understatement of assets 
and liabilities.  Management has assessed that all of its existing lease arrangements 
as a lessor at the end of each reporting period qualify under operating lease. 

 
(h) Determining Capitalization of Borrowing Costs 

 
The Group determines whether borrowing costs qualify for capitalization as part of 
the cost of the qualifying asset, or expensed outright.  The accounting treatment for 
the borrowing costs is determined by assessing whether the asset is a qualifying 
asset taking into consideration the period of time to get the asset ready for its 
intended use.  Failure to make the right judgment will result in misstatement of 
assets and net profit (see Notes 15 and 18). 

  



116   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  117

- 43 - 
 

(i) Evaluating Recognition of Provisions and Contingencies 
 

Judgment is exercised by management to distinguish between provisions and 
contingencies.  Policies on recognition of provisions and contingencies are 
discussed in Note 2.13 and relevant disclosures thereon are presented in Note 29. 
 

(j) Determining Joint Control in an Arrangement and Significant Influence over an Investee 
 
Judgment is exercised in determining whether the Group has joint control of an 
arrangement or significant influence over an entity.  In assessing the Group’s 
interest in an arrangement or influence over an entity, the Group considers voting 
rights, representation on the BOD or equivalent governing body of the investee, 
participation in policy-making process and all other facts and circumstances, 
including the terms of any contractual arrangement.   

 
(k) Distinguishing Between Business Combination and Asset Acquisition 

 
The Group determines whether an acquisition of an entity constitutes a business 
combination or an asset acquisition.  The accounting treatment for the acquisition 
is determined by assessing whether the transaction involved a purchase of a 
business taking into consideration the substance of the transaction.  Failure to make 
the right judgment will result in misstatement of assets and other accounts that 
could have been affected by the transaction. 
 
Although the Group purchased shares of stock resulting in full equity ownership 
interest in LBDC in 2020 and 58 Jupiter in 2016, the Group has assessed that under 
PFRS 3, the acquisition is to be accounted for as an asset acquisition since it does 
not constitute a purchase of a “business” (see Notes 1.2, 2.17 and 13.4).  On the 
other hand, the Group accounted for its acquisition of ARESM in 2016 as a 
business combination under PFRS 3 since it represents a purchase of a “business” 
(see Note 1.2). 

 
(l) Evaluating Principal Versus Agent Consideration 

 
The Group exercises judgment to determine whether the nature of its promise is a 
performance obligation to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e., the 
Group is a principal) or to arrange for the other party to provide those goods or 
services (i.e., the Group is an agent).  Failure to make the right judgment will result 
in misstatement of revenues and expenses accounts. The Group assessed that it is 
only acting as an agent for utility transactions of its tenants under operating leases. 
The amount of utility revenues and utility expenses, which were set-off against each 
other amounted to P75.9 million, P139.7 million and P104.1 million in 2020, 2019 
and 2018, respectively, in the consolidated statements of profit or loss. 
 

(m) Determination on whether Lease Concessions Granted Constitute a Lease Modification 
 
In line with the rental relief framework implemented by the government to support 
businesses and the broader economy due to the impact of COVID-19, the Group 
waived its right to collect rent and other charges as part of various lease concessions 
it granted to lessees such as lease payment holidays or lease payment reductions. 
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In making this judgment, the Group determines whether the lease concessions 
granted has changed the scope of the lease, or the consideration thereof, that was 
not part of the original terms and conditions of the lease.  The Group assessed that 
the lease concessions it granted to lessees qualify as lease modifications since the 
terms and conditions under the corresponding lease contracts have  been modified 
by the waiver. 
 
The rent concessions granted by the Group as lessor for the year ended  
December 31, 2020 amounted to P4.5 million. 

 
3.2 Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of 
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of 
causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the 
next reporting period: 
 
(a) Determination of Appropriate Discount Rate in Measuring Lease Liabilities (2020 and 2019) 

 
The Group measures its lease liabilities at present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at the commencement date of the lease contract.  The lease payments 
were discounted using a reasonable rate deemed by management equal to the 
Group’s  incremental borrowing rate.  In determining a reasonable discount rate, 
management considers the term of the leases, the underlying asset and the 
economic environment.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in 
estimates brought about by changes in such factors. 
 

(b) Estimating Useful Lives of Property and Equipment, Investment Properties and  
Right-of-use Assets 

 
The Group estimates the useful lives of property and equipment, investment 
properties (except for land) and right-of-use assets based on the period over which 
the assets are expected to be available for use.  The estimated useful lives of 
property and equipment, investment properties and right-of-use assets are reviewed 
periodically and are updated if expectations differ from previous estimates due to 
physical wear and tear, technical or commercial obsolescence and legal or other 
limits on the use of the assets.   
 
The carrying amounts of property and equipment, investment properties and  
right-of-use assets are analyzed in Notes 14, 15 and 16, respectively.  Based on 
management’s assessment, there is no change in the estimated useful lives of those 
assets in 2020 and 2019.  Actual results, however, may vary due to changes in 
estimates brought about by changes in factors mentioned above. 

 
(c) Determining Net Realizable Value of Land and Land Development Costs  

 
In determining the net realizable value of land and land development costs, 
management takes into account the most reliable evidence such as the comparable 
price of recent sale of adjacent properties and appraisal of the asset available at the 
time the estimate is made.  Changes in the sources of estimation may cause 
significant adjustments to the carrying amount of the Group’s land and land 
development costs within the next reporting period.   
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As indicated in Note 11, management assessed that the net realizable values of its 
land and land development costs is higher than its cost; hence, those assets are 
carried at cost as of the end of the reporting periods. 

 
(d) Determining Net Realizable Value of Property Development Costs 

 
In determining the net realizable value of property development costs, management 
takes into account the most reliable evidence available at the time the estimates are 
made.  The future realization of the carrying amounts of property development 
costs is affected by price changes for the cost to complete, and upon completion, 
the selling prices in the different market segments as well as the trends in the real 
estate industry.  These are considered key sources of estimation uncertainty and 
may cause significant adjustments to the carrying amounts of the Group’s property 
development costs within the next reporting period. 

 
As more fully discussed in Note 10, management assessed that the net realizable 
values of its property development costs is higher than its cost; hence, those assets 
are carried at cost as of the end of the reporting periods. 

 
(e) Determining Principal Assumptions for Management’s Estimation of Fair Value of Investment 

Properties 
 

Investment properties are measured using the cost model, however, the financial 
reporting standard requires the disclosure of its fair value.  In determining the fair 
value of these assets, the Group engaged the services of professional and 
independent appraisers applying the relevant valuation methodologies.  The fair 
value disclosed in the consolidated financial statements is determined using the:  

 
 Market approach for land based on information on current or recent 

transaction prices for 2020 and 2019; and, 
 

 Cost approach based on consideration of the cost to reproduce or replace the 
buildings and improvements to its service capacity in accordance with current 
market prices for similar assets less depreciation for 2020 and 2019. 

 
The Group determined that the cost approach for buildings and improvements 
more appropriately reflects the highest and best use of the property based on 
market conditions and development.  The Group consistently uses assumptions 
that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting 
period.   
 
The fair values of investment properties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
disclosed in Note 15 while the relevant valuation methodology and fair value 
hierarchy are disclosed in Note 7.4.   
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(f) Estimating Probability of Collection for Revenue Recognition 
 

The Group exercises judgment in evaluating the probability of collection (as one  
of the gating criteria) of transaction price on customer or counterparty contracts 
wherein revenue is recognized over time or specific point in time.  The Group  
uses historical payment pattern of customers and counterparties in establishing a 
percentage of collection threshold, or in some instances, when the Group is certain 
that the sale or contract will not be cancelled (i.e., considering financial capacity, 
credit worthiness, and business interests of the customer or counterparty) even if the 
collection is below such threshold but which the Group determines that collection  
of the transaction price is reasonably assured. 
 
The percentage benchmark used by the Group in determining whether collection  
of the transaction price is reasonably assured is 20% collection of the total contract 
price for sale of condominium units and 25% collection of the total contract price 
for sale of raw land.  Management believes that the established collection thresholds 
are appropriate based on the collection history and credit worthiness of customers  
in each revenue segment.  Buyer’s interest in the property (i.e., condominium unit  
or raw land) is considered to have vested when the payment of the applicable 
percentage benchmark of the contract price has been received from the buyer and 
the Group has ascertained the buyer’s commitment and ability to complete the 
payment of the total contract price. 

 
The related revenues recognized by the Group are presented as Construction 
contracts, Sale of condominium units and Land sales under the Revenues account 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss while the related other income 
arising from the Consideration Agreement is presented as part of Other Income 
account in the 2019 and 2018 consolidated statements of profit or loss  
(see Note 4.6).   

 
(g) Determining Percentage-of-Completion for Real Estate Transactions 

 
In determining the amount of revenue to be recognized for real estate transactions 
involving sale of condominium units wherein performance obligations are satisfied 
over time, the Group measures progress based on the input method that measures  
the percentage of total costs incurred to date over the estimated costs to complete  
the projects.  The Group estimates the total development costs with reference to  
the project development plan and any agreement with customers.  Management 
regularly monitors its estimates and applies changes as necessary.  A significant 
change in estimated costs would result in a significant change in the amount of 
revenue recognized in the year of change.   
 
The Group recognized revenues from sale of condominium units amounting to 
P749.3 million, P547.7 million and P119.4 million in 2020, 2019, and 2018, 
respectively, and is presented as Sale of condominium units under Revenues account 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 4.6).   
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(h) Determining Percentage-of-Completion for Construction Contracts 
 

The Group also recognizes its revenue from construction contracts based on 
percentage-of-completion method of the project whereby the performance 
obligations are satisfied over time.  The Group’s application of the  
percentage-of-completion method is based on its efforts or inputs (i.e., actual  
costs incurred) to the satisfaction of a performance obligation relative to the  
total expected construction costs.  Review of the benchmarks set by management 
necessary for the determination of percentage-of-completion is done regularly.  
Actual data is being compared to the related benchmarks and critical judgment is 
exercised to assess the reliability of the percentage of completion procedures which 
are currently in place and make the necessary revisions in the light of current 
progress.   

 
(i) Determining the Amount of Costs Incurred to Obtain or Fulfill a Contract with Customers 

 
In determining the amount of costs to obtain a contract that should be capitalized, 
the Group identifies those costs that would have not been incurred if the contract 
had not been obtained.  The carrying amounts, net of subsequent amortization, of 
costs incurred to obtain the contracts with customers (or counterparties) relating to 
the sale of condominium units, and the Consideration Agreement are presented  
as part of Contract acquisition costs under Other Current Assets and Other  
Non-current Assets accounts in the consolidated statements of financial position 
(see Notes 12 and 17).     

 
For the costs incurred in fulfilling a contract, the Group recognizes an asset only  
if those costs related directly to a contract or to an anticipated contract can be 
specifically identified; those costs generate or enhance the Group’s resources that 
will be used in satisfying performance obligation in the future; and, the Group 
expects those costs to be recovered.   

 
(j) Estimating Allowance for ECL 

 
The measurement of the allowance for ECL is an area that requires the use of 
significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit behavior 
(e.g., likelihood of customers/counterparties defaulting and the resulting losses).  
Explanation of the inputs, assumptions and estimation used in measuring ECL is 
further detailed in Note 5.2(b). 
 
Based on management’s assessment, the outstanding balances of receivables, net of 
outstanding allowance, and contract asset as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
fully collectible (see Notes 9 and 10). 

 
(k) Determining the Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 
Management applies valuation techniques to determine the fair value of financial 
instruments where active market quotes are not available.  This requires 
management to develop estimates and assumptions based on market inputs, using 
observable data that market participants would use in pricing the instrument.  
Where such data is not observable, management uses its best estimate.  Estimated 
fair values of financial instruments may vary from the actual prices that would be 
achieved in an arm’s length transaction at the end of the reporting period. 
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The carrying values of the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL and FVOCI and the 
amounts of fair value changes recognized on those assets are disclosed in Notes 12 
and 17.2, respectively. 
 

(l) Determining Realizable Amount of Deferred Tax Assets 
 

The Group reviews its deferred tax assets at the end of each reporting period  
and reduces the carrying amount to the extent that it is no longer probable that 
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax 
assets to be utilized. 
 
Management assessed that the deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
will be fully utilized as it is expecting sufficient taxable profits against which the 
deferred tax assets can be applied (see Note 25). 

 
(m) Impairment of Non-financial Assets 

 
In assessing impairment, management estimates the recoverable amount of  
each asset or a cash-generating unit based on expected future cash flows and  
uses an interest rate to calculate the present value of those cash flows.  Estimation 
uncertainty relates to assumptions about future operating results and the 
determination of a suitable discount rate (see Note 2.21).  Though management 
believes that the assumptions used in the estimation of fair values reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements are appropriate and reasonable, significant 
changes in those assumptions may materially affect the assessment of recoverable 
values and any resulting impairment loss could have a material adverse effect on  
the results of operations. 
 
Based on management’s evaluation, there is no impairment losses required to be 
recognized on the Group’s non-financial assets in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

 
(n) Valuation of Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation 

 
The determination of the Group’s obligation and cost of post-employment defined 
benefit is dependent on the selection of certain assumptions used by the actuary in 
calculating such amounts.  Those assumptions are described in Note 24.2 and 
include, among others, discount rates and expected rate of salary increases.  A 
significant change in any of these actuarial assumptions may generally affect the 
recognized expense, other comprehensive income or losses and the carrying 
amount of the post-employment benefit obligation in the next reporting period. 
 
The amounts of post-employment benefit obligation and expense and an analysis of 
the movements in the estimated present value of post-employment benefit, as well 
as the significant assumptions used on estimating such obligation are presented in 
Note 24.2. 
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4. SEGMENT REPORTING 
 

4.1 Business Segments  
  

The Group’s operating businesses are recognized and managed separately according to 
the nature of services provided (primary segments) and the different markets served 
(secondary segments) with a segment representing a strategic business unit.  The Group’s 
business segments follow: 
 
(a) Construction – principally refers to general construction business which involves site 

development, earthworks, structural and civil works, masonry works, architectural 
finishes, electrical works, plumbing and sanitary works, fire protection works and 
mechanical works.   

 
(b) Sale of Land and Condominium Units – involve the development and sale of industrial 

and other parcels of land and residential condominium units. 
 

(c) Rentals – refers to leasing of real estate properties, including land and building and 
other structures. 
 

The Group has not identified any segment based on geographical location (see Note 4.4). 
 
4.2 Segment Assets and Liabilities 

 
Segment assets are allocated based on their physical location and use or direct association 
with a specific segment and they include all operating assets used by a segment and consist 
principally of operating cash, receivables, contract asset, land and land development cost, 
property development costs, property and equipment, and investment properties. Similar 
to segment assets, segment liabilities are also allocated based on their use or direct 
association with a specific segment.  Segment liabilities include all operating liabilities  
and consist principally of loans and borrowings, trade and other payables, contract liability 
and deposits and advances.  Segment assets and liabilities do not include deferred taxes. 

 
4.3 Intersegment Transactions 
 
Segment revenues, expenses and performance include sales and purchases between 
business segments.  Such sales and purchases are eliminated in consolidation.
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Currently, the Group’s operation is concentrated in one location; hence, it has no 
geographical segment (see Note 4.1). 
 
In 2020, 2019 and 2018, rental revenues from a single lessee account for 26.85%, 
20.56% and 34.96%, respectively, of the consolidated revenues.  In 2019, revenues from 
sale of land are generated from a single customer, and which account for 26.64% of the 
consolidated revenues.  There were no revenues from sale of land in 2020 and 2018. 
 
Rentals segment assets include certain real estate assets (i.e., parcels of land) held as 
investment properties for capital appreciation or future lease. 

 
4.5 Reconciliations 
 
The total segment balances presented for the Group’s operating segments reconciled 
to the Group’s consolidated balances as presented in the consolidated financial 
statements are as follows (in thousands): 

                    
            2020   2019   2018  
 
  Revenues  
  Total segment revenues   P 3,738,028   P 7,142,852   P 2,834,760  
  Elimination of intersegment 
   revenues   ( 1,003,663 ) (  3,629,460 ) (  682,433 ) 
   
  Revenues as reported in the 
   consolidated statements of  
   profit or loss   P 2,734,365   P 3,513,392   P 2,152,327  
 
 Profit or loss 
  Segment operating profit   P 2,959,523   P 6,232,170   P 2,293,115  
  Elimination of intersegment 
   revenues   ( 1,003,663 ) (  3,629,460 ) (  682,433) 
  Other unallocated operating   
   expenses – net   ( 248,522 ) (  331,826 ) (  238,346) 
  Operating profit as reported  
   in the consolidated statements of 
   profit or loss    1,707,338    2,270,884    1,372,336  
  Finance income    91,468    297,338    69,523  
  Finance costs  ( 41,062 ) (  98,525 ) (  69,852 ) 
  Share in net earnings  
   of associates and joint ventures    26,014    6,037    6,308  
  Dividend income    2,940    1,470    -   
  Other unallocated income*    1,000,000    850,000    1,200,000  
 
  Profit before tax as reported in the 
   consolidated statements of 
   profit or loss    P 2,786,698   P 3,327,204   P 2,578,315  
 

* Other unallocated income pertains to the income from reversal of advances from a co-joint venturer in 2020 and 
income from the Consideration Agreement in 2019 and 2018. 
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        2020   2019  
 
 Assets 
  Segment assets    P 38,184,791 P 33,054,476 
  Deferred tax assets – net     192,274  170,936 
  Other unallocated assets**     6,615,157  8,381,596 
  Elimination of intercompany accounts  (  12,135,200 )  ( 10,340,210 ) 
 
  Total assets reported in 
  consolidated statements 
  of financial position    P 32,857,022 P 31,266,798
    
 Liabilities 
  Segment liabilities    P 14,360,392 P 13,729,718 
  Deferred tax liabilities – net     1,056,710  902,262 
  Other unallocated liabilities**     555,433  1,434,478 
  Elimination of intercompany accounts  (  5,399,798 ) ( 5,332,843 ) 
 
  Total liabilities as reported in 
  consolidated statements of  
  financial position    P 10,572,737 P 10,733,615
    

** Other unallocated assets and liabilities mostly pertain to intercompany advances to and/or from related parties 
and co-joint ventuerer not eliminated in the consolidation. 

 
4.6 Disaggregation of Revenue from Contracts with Customers and Other 

Counterparties 
 

When the Group prepares its investor presentations and when the Group’s 
Executive Committee evaluates the financial performance of the operating 
segments, it disaggregates revenue similar to its segment reporting as presented  
in Notes 4.1 and 4.4.   
 
The Group determines that the categories used in the investor presentations and 
financial reports used by the Group’s Executive Committee can be used to meet 
the objective of the disaggregation disclosure requirement of PFRS 15, which is to 
disaggregate revenue from contracts with customers and other counterparties 
[except for rentals accounted for under PFRS 16 (PAS 17 in 2018) and disclosed 
herein as additional information] into categories that depict how the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows are affected by 
economic factors.  A summary of additional disaggregation from the segment 
revenues and other unallocated income are shown in the succeeding page. 
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     Segment Revenues (Sales to External Customers)   Other Unallocated Income  
                 Consideration      
                 Agreement and 
              Sale of   Reversal of   Rendering of 
              condominium  Advances   administrative    
     Rentals   Construction   Sale of land   units   (see Note 13)   services   Total  
  
   December 31,  
   2020: 
 
   Lease P1,960,265,517 P -  P -  P -  P -  P -  P 1,960,265,517 
   Over time  -   24,802,115  -   749,297,294  -   34,581,021  808,680,430 
   
   Short-term  -   24,802,115  -  -   -   34,581,021  59,383,136 
   Long-term  1,960,265,517  -   -   749,297,294  -   -   2,709,562,811 
                 
   December 31,  
   2019: 
 
   Lease P1,958,781,512 P -  P -  P -  P -  P -  P 1,958,781,512 
   Over time  -   71,107,851  -   547,652,588  850,000,000   43,348,238  1,512,108,677 
   Point in time  -   -   935,850,000  -   -   -   935,850,000 
   
   Short-term  -   71,107,851  935,850,000  -   850,000,000  43,348,238  1,900,306,089 
   Long-term  1,958,781,512  -   -   547,652,588  -   -   2,506,434,100 
 
   December 31,  
   2018: 
 
   Lease P1,901,198,613 P -  P -  P -  P -  P -  P 1,901,198,613 
   Over time  -   130,524,057  -   119,351,066  -   37,019,684  286,894,807 
   Point in time  -   -   1,252,800  -   1,200,000,000   -   1,201,252,800 
    
   Short-term  -   130,524,057  1,252,800  -   1,200,000,000   37,019,684  1,368,796,541 
   Long-term  1,901,198,613  -   -   119,351,066  -   -   2,020,549,679 
     

Additional information not included above is the other income aggregating to 
P113.4 million, P10.9 million and P72.5 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, that are considered by management insignificant to the Group’s 
disaggregation information of revenues (see Note 22.3).  On the other hand, the 
other income representing the derecognition of certain advances from a co-joint 
venturer is not covered by PFRS 15. 

 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES 

 
The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks in relation to financial instruments.  
The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities by category are summarized in 
Note 6.  The main types of risks are market risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. 
 
The Group’s risk management is in close cooperation with the BOD, and focuses  
on actively securing the Group’s short to medium-term cash flows by minimizing  
the exposure to financial markets.  Long-term financial investments are managed to 
generate lasting returns. 

 
The Group does not engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes 
nor does it write options.  The relevant financial risks to which the Group is exposed  
to are described as follows: 
 
5.1 Market Risk 

 
The Group is exposed to market risk through its use of financial instruments and 
specifically to foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and certain other price risk which 
result from its operating and financing activities. 
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(a) Foreign Currency Risk 
 

Most of the Group’s transactions are carried out in Philippine peso, its functional 
currency.  The Group also holds United States (U.S.) dollar and European Union (Euro) 
denominated cash and cash equivalents.  The Group does not have any financial liabilities 
denominated in foreign currency. 
 
To mitigate the Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk, non-Philippine peso cash 
flows are monitored. 
 
Foreign currency denominated financial assets, translated into Philippine peso at the 
closing rate, are as follows:  
 

     2020   2019  
      U.S. Dollar   Euro    U.S. Dollar   Euro  
 
  Financial assets P 26,852,799 P 8,448,329 P 28,509,907  P 8,111,607 
 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the Group’s profit before tax and equity 
in 2020 and 2019 with respect to changes in the exchange rates of Philippine peso 
against foreign currencies.  The percentage changes in rates have been determined based 
on the average market volatility in exchange rates, using standard deviation, in the 
previous 12 months prior to the end of the reporting period at a 99% confidence level. 
 

        2020  
         Reasonably     Effect in      
        possible change    profit before     Effect in 
         in rate     tax     equity   
 
  U.S. Dollar     +/-9.51%    P 2,553,701   P 1,787,591 
  Euro     +/-23.85%     2,014,926    1,410,449 
   
  Total        P 4,568,627   P 3,198,040 
 
        2019  
         Reasonably     Effect in      
         possible change     profit before     Effect in 
         in rate     tax     equity   
 
  U.S. Dollar     +/-12.96%    P 3,694,884   P 2,586,419 
  Euro     +/-19.52%     1,583,386    1,108,370 
   
  Total        P 5,278,270   P 3,694,789 
 

If the Philippine peso had strengthened against the U.S. dollar and Euro, with all other 
variables held constant, the Group’s profit before tax and equity would have been lower  
by P4.6 million and P3.2 million, respectively, in 2020 and P5.3 million and P3.7 million, 
respectively, in 2019.  Conversely, if the Philippine peso had weakened against the U.S. 
dollar and Euro by the same percentage, with all variables held constant, profit before tax 
and equity would have been higher in 2020 and 2019 by the same amount. 
 
Exposures to foreign exchange rates vary during the period depending on the volume 
of foreign currency denominated transactions.  Nonetheless, the analysis above is 
considered to be a reasonable estimation of the Group’s currency risk. 
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(b) Interest Rate Risk 
 
The Group’s policy is to minimize interest rate cash flow risk exposures on long-term 
financing.  As at December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group is exposed to changes in 
market interest rates affecting the cash flows from cash and cash equivalents,  
short-term placements and certain interest-bearing loans and borrowings which are 
subject to variable interest rates (see Notes 8 and 18).  All other financial assets and 
financial liabilities have fixed rates or are noninterest-bearing.   
 
Interest-bearing loans and borrowings, cash and cash equivalents and short-term 
placements which are subject to repricing are tested on a reasonably possible change 
(weighted average) of +/-1.01% and +/-1.61% Philippine peso in 2020 and 2019, 
respectively.  On the other hand, the Group’s exposure to foreign currency interest rate 
is insignificant.  The percentages have been determined based on the average market 
volatility of interest rates, using standard deviation, in the previous 12 months estimated 
at 99% level of confidence.  The sensitivity analysis is based on the Group’s financial 
instruments held at the end of each reporting period, with the effect estimated from the 
beginning of the year.  All other variables are held constant. 
 
The changes in percentages would affect profit or loss before tax by +/-P55.2 million 
and +/-P115.2 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 
 
(c) Other Price Risk  

 
The Group’s market price risk arises from its investments carried at fair value. The 
Group manages exposures to price risk by monitoring the changes in the market price 
of the investments (see Note 7.2) and at some extent, diversifying the investment 
portfolio in accordance with the limit set by management. 

 
5.2 Credit Risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty may fail to discharge an obligation to the 
Group.  The Group is exposed to this risk for various financial instruments, arising 
from granting loans and receivables to customers, including related parties, and placing 
deposits with banks.   
 
The Group continuously monitors defaults of customers and other counterparties, 
identified either individually or by group, and incorporates this information into  
its credit risk controls.  The Group’s policy is to deal only with creditworthy 
counterparties.  In addition, for a significant proportion of revenues, advance payments 
are received to mitigate credit risk. 
 
The maximum credit risk exposure of financial assets is the carrying amount of the 
financial assets as shown in the consolidated statements of financial position and in the 
detailed analysis provided in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, as 
summarized in the succeeding page. 
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     Notes   2020   2019  
   
 Cash and cash equivalents    8  P 4,429,489,615 P 5,211,402,211 
 Short-term placement (presented     
  as part of Other Current Assets)   12   585,000,000  2,060,000,000 
 Receivables – net (except for 
  Advances to suppliers)     9   5,799,110,138  5,276,558,087 
 Contract asset     10   92,002,207  249,012,950 
 Refundable deposits (presented    
 as part of Other Non-current Assets)  17   30,313,000  47,362,548 
 
       P10,935,914,960 P12,844,335,796
  

None of the Group’s financial assets are secured by collateral or other credit 
enhancements, except for cash and cash equivalents and short-term placements, rental 
receivables and contract receivables as described below. 

 
(a) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Short-term Placements 
 
The credit risk for cash and cash equivalents and short-term placements are considered 
negligible since the counterparties are reputable banks with high quality external credit 
ratings.  Included in cash and cash equivalents are cash in banks which is secured by a 
maximum coverage of P0.5 million for every depositor per banking institution, as 
provided for under Republic Act (R.A.) No. 9302, Charter of Philippine Deposit Insurance 
Corporation, which is also subjected to credit risk. 
 
(b) Trade and Other Receivables and Contract Asset 
 
The Group applies the PFRS 9 simplified approach in measuring ECL which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all non-related party receivables and contract asset.  
In addition, rental and contract receivables are secured by at least the amount of 
advance rentals and rental deposits, and construction bonds and whereby there is an 
outstanding retention payable, respectively.  These are form of securities partially 
mitigating the credit risk.   
 
To measure the expected credit losses, receivables and contract asset have been grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due (age buckets).  The 
other receivables relate to receivables from both third parties other than trade 
receivables and have substantially the same risk characteristics as the trade receivables.  
The Group has therefore concluded that the expected loss rates for trade receivables are 
a reasonable approximation of the loss rates for the other receivables. 
 
The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of revenues over a period of 
36 months before December 31, 2020 and 2019, and the corresponding historical credit 
losses experienced within such period.  The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect 
current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of the customers to settle the receivables.  The Group has identified the inflation rate 
and interest rate to be the most relevant factors during the reporting periods, and 
accordingly adjusts the historical loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. 
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ECL for advances to related parties are measured and recognized using the  
liquidity approach.  Management determines possible impairment based on the 
counterparties’ ability to repay the receivables upon demand at the reporting  
date taking into consideration the historical defaults from the counterparties.  
Management assessed that portion of the outstanding receivables from certain 
related parties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are not fully recoverable since 
these related parties do not have enough capacity to pay the advances and loans 
upon demand.   
 
The Group does not consider any significant risks in the remaining advances to 
related parties since the Group, whose credit risks for liquid funds are considered 
negligible, have committed to financially support these related parties as part of the 
its long-term corporate strategy. 
 
The Group identifies a default when the receivables become credit impaired or when 
the customer has not able to settle the receivables beyond the normal credit terms of  
45 to 90 days, depending on the terms with the customers; hence, these receivables 
were already considered as past due on its contractual payment.  In addition, the Group 
considers qualitative assessment in determining default such as in instances where the 
customer is unlikely to pay its obligations and is deemed to be in significant financial 
difficulty. 
 
Large portion of the Group’s receivables pertains to rental receivables from leasing 
operations to third parties, advances to related parties which are secured by an 
undertaking of another related party to pay in case of default, and contract receivables 
from the Philippine Reclamation Authority (PRA) related to various implementing 
agreements under the memorandum of agreement (MOA) entered into by the Group in 
relation to the reclamation and development of Aseana Business Park (ABP), which is 
also part of the Aseana City (see Notes 9.1, 9.2, 9.3 and 9.4).  On July 15, 2015, the 
PRA’s BOD approved the conveyance of certain properties to the Group in settlement 
of PRA’s liabilities related to various implementing agreements entered into with the 
Group.  As of December 31, 2020, the title to the properties are not yet transferred to 
the Group.  Except for rental receivables from various and diversified profile of third 
party tenants, this makes the Group exposed to significant credit risk exposure to a 
single group of counterparties having similar characteristics. 

 
The Contract Asset account is secured to the extent of the fair value of the 
condominium units sold (i.e., based on current prices less estimated cost to sell) 
amounting to P7,211.4 million in 2020 and P6,854.8 million in 2019 since the title to  
the real estate properties remains with the Group until the contract assets or receivables 
are fully collected.  The fair value of the condominium units sold is usually higher than 
the carrying value of the related contract asset, hence, there is no expected loss given 
default on the contract asset.   
 
With respect to refundable deposits, management assessed that these financial assets 
have low probability of default since these relate to reputable power and water 
distribution companies (i.e., with high quality external credit ratings) that sustain the 
operation of Aseana City and other related projects. 
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Based on the foregoing considerations and analyses, the loss allowance as at  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 for non-related party receivables was determined based 
on months past due while loss allowance for related party receivables is based on 
capacity to pay.  The loss allowance provided by the Group are are summarized as 
follows: 

  
      0-30 days   31-60 days   61-90 days   Over 90 days   Total  
 
  December 31, 2020 
 
   Expected credit loss rate  0.11%   4.53%   10.12%   38.63%  
   Rental and other receivables P 94,560,538 P 42,635,605 P 8,906,602 P 39,402,617 P 185,505,362 
   Loss allowance   99,379  1,932,734  900,925  15,220,680  18,153,718 
    
   Expected credit loss rate  -   -   -   3.70%  
   Contract and retention  
    receivable  P 96,340,620 P -  P 22,025,941 P 634,309,789 P 752,676,350 
   Loss allowance   -   -   -   23,484,462  23,484,462 
    
   Expected credit loss rate  -   -   -   2.27%  
   Advanced to related parties P -  P -  P -  P 751,290,878 P 751,290,878 
   Loss allowance   -   -   -   17,017,700  17,017,700 
 
  December 31, 2019 
 
   Expected credit loss rate  0.15%   3.41 %   6.63%   45.82%  
   Rental and other receivables P 94,919,621 P 7,097,778 P 4,180,711 P 21,516,487 P 127,714,597 
   Loss allowance   146,776  241,969  277,137  9,859,826  10,525,708 
    
   Expected credit loss rate  -   -   -   3.03%  
   Contract and retention  
    receivable  P 23,382,782 P -  P 5,134,097 P 775,616,315 P 804,133,194 
   Loss allowance   -   -   -   23,484,462  23,484,462 
    
   Expected credit loss rate  -   -   -   8.26%  
   Advanced to related parties P -  P -  P -  P 744,651,354 P 744,651,354 
   Loss allowance   -   -   -   61,493,994  61,493,994 
 

A reconciliation of the allowance for impairment for trade and receivables and advances 
to related parties as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 is presented below (see Note 9):  
 

   December 31, 2020   December 31, 2019  
        Trade and other   Advances to   Trade and other   Advances to  
        receivables*   related parties   receivables*   related parties  

 
 Balance at beginning of year   P 34,010,170 P 61,493,994 P 12,155,400 P 42,102,006 
 Additional ECL  7,628,010   -     21,854,770       19,391,988 
 Reversal     -   ( 44,476,294 )   -   -  
 
 Balance at end of year P 41,638,180 P 17,017,700 P 34,010,170 P 61,493,994 

  
 *Excluding advances to related parties 
 
In 2020, the Group reversed a portion of its allowance for impairment on certain 
advances to a related party due to partial collection and substantial improvement of the 
related party’s financial condition and operations [see Notes 13.2(b) and 26.1]. 
 
Also in 2020, certain trade receivables from third party tenants amounting to  
P10.4 million with no previously provided allowance for impairment have been directly 
written off due to management’s assessment of uncollectibility.  There was no similar 
write off in 2019. 
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The reversal of impairment loss on financial assets, net of additional ECL and direct 
write off in 2020, is presented as Reversal of impairment loss on financial assets – net, 
while the additional ECL in 2019 is presented as Impairment loss on financial assets in 
the 2020 and 2019 consolidated statements of profit or loss, respectively  
(see Notes 22.3 and 23). 

 
5.3 Liquidity Risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that cash may not be available to meet operating requirements 
and to pay obligations when due at a reasonable cost.  Prudent liquidity risk 
management requires maintaining sufficient cash and credit facilities at reasonable cost 
to satisfy current requirements whenever the need arises.  The Group aims to maintain 
flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available. 

 
The Group manages its liquidity needs by carefully monitoring scheduled debt servicing 
payments for long-term financial liabilities as well as cash outflows due in a day-to-day 
business.  Liquidity needs are monitored in various time bands, on a day-to-day and 
week-to-week basis, as well as on the basis of a rolling 30-day projection.  Long-term 
liquidity needs for six-month and one-year periods are identified monthly. 

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s financial liabilities (excluding lease 
liability – see Note 16) have contractual maturities as follows: 

 
     Current   Non-current  
      Upon Demand/  6 to 12    1 to 5  
    Notes   Within 6 months   Months   Years  
 
 December 31, 2020 
 
 Loans and borrowings  18  P 58,453,125 P 1,051,750,000 P 342,262,500 
 Trade and other payables  
  (except tax liabilities)  19   703,501,314  331,578,862  - 
 Advances from and due 
  to related parties  26.2   4,033,118,154  -   - 
 Rental deposits  20   -      50,041,094  210,654,440 
 Construction bond  20   -      48,837,148  -     
 
      P 4,795,072,593 P 1,482,207,104 P  552,916,940 
 
 December 31, 2019 

 
 Loans and borrowings  18  P 148,609,375 P 48,281,250 P 359,512,500 
 Trade and other payables  
  (except tax liabilities)  19   363,749,520  307,155,054  - 
 Advances from a co-joint 
  venturer  13.2,  
    26.2   1,040,026,017   -      -   
 Advances from and due 
  to related parties  26.2   4,311,708,305  -   - 
 Rental deposits  20   -      46,376,641  217,053,912 
 Construction bond  20   -      51,053,388  -     
  
      P 5,864,093,217 P 452,866,333 P  576,566,412 
 

The above contractual maturities reflect the gross cash flows, which may differ from the 
carrying values of the financial liabilities at the end of the reporting periods. 

 
 

- 60 - 
 

6. CATEGORIES AND OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

 
6.1 Carrying Values and Fair Values by Category 

 
The carrying values and fair values of the categories of financial assets and financial 
liabilities presented in the consolidated statements of financial position are shown 
below. 

 
     2020   2019  

         Carrying      Carrying     
     Notes   Values   Fair Values   Values   Fair Values  
 
 Financial Assets                     
  At amortized cost:  
  Cash and  
  cash equivalents  8  P 4,429,489,615   P 4,429,489,615  P 5,211,402,211   P 5,211,402,211 
 Short-term   
  placement    
  (presented as  
  part of Other   
  Current Assets)  12   585,000,000  585,000,000  2,060,000,000  2,060,000,000 
 Receivables – net  9   5,799,110,138  5,661,679,683  5,276,558,087  5,003,192,063 
 Refundable   
  deposits    
  (presented as   
  part of Other    
  Non-current assets)  17   30,313,000  30,313,000  47,362,548  47,362,548 
     10,843,912,753  10,706,482,298  12,595,322,846  12,321,956,822 
      
 Financial assets at: 
 FVTPL  12   51,318,288  51,318,288  48,206,870  48,206,870 
 FVOCI  17.2   49,670,827  49,670,827  75,876,143  75,876,143 
        
    P10,944,901,868 P10,807,471,413 P12,719,405,859 P12,446,039,835 
 
 Financial Liabilities 
 At amortized cost:  
  Loans and    
  borrowings  18  P 1,397,020,000 P 1,367,650,029 P 511,720,000 P 455,729,822 
 Trade and other  
   payables  19   1,035,080,176  1,035,080,176  670,904,574  670,904,574 
 Advances from 
  and due to 
  related parties  26.2   4,033,118,154  4,033,118,154  4,311,708,305  4,311,708,305 
 Advances from a 
  co-joint 
  venturer  13.2,  
    26.2   -   -   1,040,026,017  1,040,026,017 
 Rental deposits  20   260,695,534  260,695,534  263,430,553  263,430,553 
 Construction bond 20   48,837,148  48,837,148  51,053,388  51,053,388 
 Lease liability  16.2   165,526,914  165,526,914  164,383,712  164,383,712 
  
    P 6,940,277,926 P 6,910,907,955 P 7,013,226,549 P 6,957,236,371
          

See Notes 2.4 and 2.10 for a description of the accounting policies for financial assets 
and financial liabilities, respectively, including the determination of fair values.  A 
description of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies for financial 
instruments is provided in Note 5.    
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6.2 Offsetting of Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities 
 

The Group has not set-off financial instruments as of December 31, 2020 and 2019  
and it does not have relevant offsetting arrangements.  Currently, financial assets and 
financial liabilities are settled on a gross basis; however, each party to the financial 
instrument (particularly related parties) may have the option to settle all such amounts 
on a net basis in the event of default of the other party through approval of both 
parties’ BODs and stockholders or upon instruction by the Ultimate Parent Company.   
 
The following financial assets presented as part of Advances to related parties under 
Receivables account in the consolidated statements of financial position can be offset by 
the amount of outstanding Advances from and Due to a Related Parties account:   

  
       Gross amounts   Related amounts    
       recognized in   not set off in    
       the consolidated   the consolidated 
       statements   statements     
         of financial   of financial    
      Note   position   position   Net amount  
 
  Advances to related parties: 26.1 
   December 31, 2020    P 751,290,878 ( P 440,851,530) P 310,439,348 
  December 31, 2019    744,651,354 (   436,680,854 )   307,970,500 
  
  Advances from and due 
  to related parties:  26.2 
   December 31, 2020   P      4,033,118,154  ( P 440,851,530) P 3,592,266,624 
   December 31, 2019    4,311,708,305 (  436,680,854 )  3,875,027,451 

 
 
7. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT AND DISCLOSURES 
 

7.1 Fair Value Hierarchy 
 

In accordance with PFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement, the fair value of financial assets 
and financial liabilities and non-financial assets which are measured at fair value on a 
recurring or non-recurring basis and those assets and liabilities not measured at fair 
value but for which fair value is disclosed in accordance with other relevant PFRS,  
are categorized into three levels based on the significance of inputs used to measure the 
fair value.  The fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 
 
 Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 

liabilities that an entity can access at the measurement date; 
  

 Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly 
(i.e., derived from prices); and, 

 
 Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 

data (unobservable inputs).  
 

The level within which an asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest 
level of significant input to the fair value measurement. 
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For purposes of determining the market value at Level 1, a market is regarded as active 
if quoted prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker, 
industry group, pricing service, or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual 
and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis.   
 
For investments which does not have quoted market price, the fair value is determined 
by using generally acceptable pricing models and valuation techniques or by reference to 
the current market value of another instrument which is substantially the same after 
taking into account the related credit risk of counterparties, or is calculated based on the 
expected cash flows of the underlying net asset base of the instrument. 
 
7.2 Financial Instruments Measurement at Fair Value 

 
The Group’s financial assets at FVOCI include proprietary golf club shares, which are 
categorized within Level 2 as their prices are not derived from market considered as 
active due to lack of regular trading activities among market participants at the end or 
close to the end of the reporting period.  Moreover, equity security held in a private 
company is included in Level 3 since its market value is not quoted in an active market, 
hence, measured using the net asset value approach by reference to the fair value of its 
assets and liabilities.  With respect to financial assets as FVTPL which include 
investments in equity securities, these are categorized under Level 1 as their prices are 
quoted in active market. On the other hand, debt security issued by a private company 
is included in Level 3.   
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s financial assets at FVOCI measured  
at fair value amounted to P49.7 million and P75.9 million, respectively (see Note 17.2) 
while the Group’s financial assets at FVTPL measured at fair value amounted to  
P51.3 million and P48.2 million, respectively (see Note 12). 

 
The Group has no financial liabilities measured at fair value as of December 31, 2020 
and 2019. 

 
There were no transfers between Levels 1 and 2 but there were changes in the carrying 
amount of Level 3 instruments in both years.  Unrealized fair value loss and unrealized 
fair value gain amounting to P26.2 million and P1.1 million, respectively, is recognized 
on financial assets at FVOCI in 2020 and 2019 (see Note 17). 
 
7.3 Financial Instruments Measured at Amortized Cost for which Fair Value is 

Disclosed 
 

The tables in the succeeding page summarize the fair value hierarchy of the Group’s 
financial assets and financial liabilities which are not measured at fair value in the 
consolidated statements of financial position but for which fair value is disclosed.   
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   December 31, 2020  
     Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
 Financial Assets                    
  Cash and  
  cash equivalents  8  P 4,429,489,615 P -     P  -     P  4,429,489,615 
 Short-term placement   
  (presented as part of   
  Other Current   
  Assets)   12   585,000,000  -   -   585,000,000 
 Receivables – net  9   -      -      5,661,679,683  5,661,679,683 
 Refundable deposits   
  (presented as part of     
  Other Non-current      
  Assets)   17   -      -      30,313,000  30,313,000 
 
    P 5,014,489,615 P -     P 5,691,992,683 P  10,706,482,298 
 
 Financial Liabilities 
 Loans and borrowings  18  P -     P -     P 1,367,650,029 P 1,367,650,029 
 Trade and other  
 payables  19   -      -      1,035,080,176  1,035,080,176 
 Advances from and 
  due to related 
 parties  26.2   -      -      4,033,118,154  4,033,118,154 
 Rental deposits  20   -      -      260,695,534  260,695,534 
 Construction bond  20   -      -      48,837,148  48,837,148 
 Lease liability  16.2   -   -   165,526,914  165,526,914 
  
    P -     P -     P  6,910,907,955  P  6,910,907,955 
 
   December 31, 2019  
     Notes   Level 1   Level 2   Level 3   Total  

 
 Financial Assets                    
  Cash and  
  cash equivalents  8  P 5,211,402,211 P -     P  -     P  5,211,402,211 
 Short-term placement   
  (presented as part of   
  Other Current   
  Assets)   12   2,060,000,000  -   -   2,060,000,000 
 Receivables – net  9   -      -      5,003,192,063  5,003,192,063 
 Refundable deposits   
  (presented as part of     
  Other Non-current      
  Assets)   17   -      -      47,362,548  47,362,548 
 
    P 7,271,402,211 P -     P 5,050,554,611 P  12,321,956,822 
 
 Financial Liabilities 
 Loans and borrowings  18  P -     P -     P 455,729,822 P 455,729,822 
 Trade and other  
 payables  19   -      -      670,904,574  670,904,574 
 Advances from and 
  due to related 
 parties  26.2   -      -      4,311,708,305  4,311,708,305 
 Advances from a    
 co-joint venturer  13.2   -      -      1,040,026,017  1,040,026,017 
 Rental deposits  20   -      -      263,430,553  263,430,553 
 Construction bond  20   -      -      51,053,388  51,053,388 
 Lease liability  16.2   -   -   164,383,712  164,383,712 
  

 P -     P -     P  6,957,236,371  P  6,957,236,371 
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The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities included in Level 3, which are not 
traded in an active market, are determined based on the expected cash flows of the 
underlying net asset or liability base of the instrument where the significant inputs required 
to determine the fair value of such instruments are not based on observable market data. 

 
7.4 Fair Value Disclosures for Investment Properties Carried at Cost 

 
The table shows the levels within the hierarchy of non-financial assets that are not 
measured at fair value but for which fair values are disclosed. 

 
        Note   Level 1    Level 2   Level 3   Total  
 
   December 31, 2020 
  
   Land     P -  P121,993,194,396 P -  P121,993,194,396  
   Buildings and improvements   -   -   4,560,058,244   4,560,058,244  
   Construction in progress   -    -   3,309,920,402   3,309,920,402  
 
       15 P -   P121,993,194,396  P 7,869,978,646  P129,863,173,042  
 
   December 31, 2019 
  
   Land     P -  P119,127,072,049 P -  P119,127,072,049 
   Buildings and improvements   -   -   4,352,561,244   4,352,561,244  
   Construction in progress   -    -   1,270,510,090   1,270,510,090  
 
       15 P -   P119,127,072,049  P 5,623,071,334  P124,750,143,383 
 

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
determined on the basis of the appraisals performed by an independent appraiser with 
appropriate qualifications and recent experience in the valuation of similar properties in the 
relevant locations.  To some extent, the valuation process was conducted by the appraiser 
in discussion with the Group’s management with respect to the determination of the 
inputs such as the size, age, and condition of the land and buildings, and the comparable 
prices in the corresponding property location.  In estimating the fair value of these 
properties, management takes into account the market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the assets in their highest and best use.  Based on management 
assessment, the best use of the Group’s investment properties is their current use. 

 
The fair values of the Group’s investment properties were determined based on the 
following approaches: 

 
(a) Fair Value Measurement for Land 

 
The Level 2 fair value of land was derived using the market comparable approach 
that reflects the recent transaction prices for similar properties in nearby locations 
as determined by an independent appraiser.  Under this approach, when sales 
prices and/or actual sales transaction of comparable land in close proximity are 
used in the valuation of the subject property with no adjustment on the price, fair 
value is included in Level 2. 

 
The fair value is determined by the Group using the fair values of certain parcels 
of land adjacent to the location of the Group’s investment.  The fair value is 
based on the market-based evidence, which is the amount for which the assets 
could be exchanged between a knowledgeable willing buyer and seller in an arm’s 
length transaction as at the valuation date.  Such amount is influenced by different 
factors including the location and specific characteristics of the property  
(e.g., size, features, and capacity), quantity of comparable properties available in 
the market, and economic condition and behavior of the buying parties.   
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(b) Fair Value Measurement for Buildings and Improvements and Construction in Progress 
 

As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Level 3 fair value of the buildings and 
improvements was determined using the cost approach that reflects the cost to a 
market participant to construct an asset of comparable usage, construction standards, 
design and layout, adjusted for obsolescence.  The more significant inputs used in 
the valuation include direct and indirect costs of construction such as but not limited 
to, labor and contractor’s profit, materials and equipment, surveying and permit 
costs, electricity and utility costs, architectural and engineering fees, insurance and 
legal fees.  These inputs were derived from various suppliers and contractor’s quotes, 
price catalogues, and construction price indices.  Under this approach, higher 
estimated costs used in the valuation will result in higher fair value of the properties.  
Based on the foregoing inputs, the actual cost incurred to date recorded under 
Construction in Progress approximates its fair value. 
 
 

8. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
    
  Cash and cash equivalents include the following components: 
             
        2020   2019  
 
  Cash on hand and in banks    P 2,633,527,974  P 4,296,870,346 
  Short-term placements     1,795,961,641  914,531,865 
   
      P 4,429,489,615 P 5,211,402,211 
 

Cash in banks generally earn interest based on daily bank deposit rates.  Short-term 
placements are made for varying periods of between 30 to 90 days and earn effective 
interest ranging from and 1.00% to 5.10% per annum in 2020, 3.38% to 6.75% per annum 
in 2019 and 4.80% to 6.90% per annum in 2018.  Interest income from cash in banks and 
short-term placements amounting to P69.9 million, P263.7 million and P54.9 million in 
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, are included as part of Interest income under Finance 
Income in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 22.2).  Accrued interest 
from short-term placements is presented as part of Others under Receivables account in 
the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 9).  
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9. RECEIVABLES 
 

 This account is composed of the following: 
            
             
     Notes   2020   2019  
 
 Current:  
 Rental receivables  9.1  P 757,389,580 P 541,494,152 
  Advances to:  9.2   
  Related parties  26.1   751,290,878  744,651,354 
  Suppliers     447,738,231  109,203,043 
  Officers and employees     10,083,743  9,350,613 
  Contracts receivables  9.3, 26.5   647,309,556  696,339,500 
 Retention receivables  9.4, 26.5   105,366,794  107,793,640 

 Others  8, 9.5, 12   13,133,634  63,415,807 
    2,732,312,416  2,272,248,109 

 Allowance for impairment  5.2(b)  (  58,655,880 ) (  95,504,164 ) 
          2,673,656,536      2,176,743,945 
 
 Non-current –     
 Rental receivables  9.1   3,573,191,833  3,209,017,185 
   
      P 6,246,848,369 P 5,385,761,130 
  

Receivables do not bear any interest.  All receivables (except advances to suppliers) are 
subject to credit risk exposures (see Note 5.2).  
 
9.1 Rental Receivables 
 
Rental receivables represent uncollected monthly receivables from third party tenants of  
the Group.  This includes rent receivables arising from the application of PFRS 16, which 
represent the difference between the cash basis rent income and the straight-line rent 
income of all outstanding lease contracts as of the end of the reporting periods.  Rent 
receivables from PFRS 16 adjustments amounted to P4,167.0 million and P3,695.6 million 
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 
9.2 Advances 

 
Except for certain advances which are secured by an undertaking of another related party to 
pay in case of default, advances to related parties are unsecured, noninterest-bearing and are 
granted for working capital requirements (see Note 26.1).  There are no definite repayment 
and settlement term on these advances. 
 
Advances to suppliers under Other Current Assets pertain to mobilization funds provided to 
various suppliers for use primarily in the construction and development of the Group’s 
residential condominium projects while those under Other Non-current Assets pertain to 
advances to suppliers for investment property additions (see Notes 10, 15 and 17).  These  
are reduced proportionately upon receipt of progress billings from the said suppliers.   
Advances to officers and employees are noninterest-bearing and collectible through salary 
deduction within 12 months from the end of the reporting period. 
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9.3 Contracts Receivables 
 
Contracts receivables are noninterest-bearing and usually due within 270 days.  Of the 
total outstanding balance, P557.5 million is due from PRA as of December 31, 2020  
and 2019.  Management believes that these receivables are fully recoverable through 
collection of the accounts from customers, which is partially secured by construction 
bonds and whereby there is an outstanding balance of retention payable  
(see Notes 19 and 20).  With respect to the amount due from PRA, the receivable is 
recoverable in full through transfer of certain properties owned by PRA to the Group 
(see Note 5.2). 

 
9.4 Retention Receivables 

 
In 2019, the Group sold certain parcels of land located in Aseana City to a third  
party buyer.  The related 10% retention receivable as of December 31, 2020 and  
December 31, 2019 amounted to P93.6 million, which is to be collected upon transfer 
of the land title to the buyer.   As of December 31, 2020, the title to the parcels of land 
has not yet been transferred to the buyer. 
 
Retention receivables also include outstanding balances with a related party as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019 (see Note 26.5). 

 
9.5 Other Receivables 

 
Other receivables include accrued interest income from short-term placements  
(see Note 8).  It also include amounts collectible for rendering of certain services 
incidental to the Group’s leasing and real estate business.  
  

 
10. PROPERTY DEVELOPMENT COSTS AND CONTRACT ACCOUNTS 

 
10.1 Property Development Costs 

 
The Group capitalized certain costs as property development costs representing properties 
under development and construction.  Costs incurred comprise of actual costs of land, 
construction and related engineering, architectural and other consultancy fees related to the 
development of residential condominium projects, namely, “Pixel Residences”, “MidPark 
Towers” and “One Parq Suites”, all of which are located in Aseana City, 1702 Parañaque 
City, Metro Manila.  It also includes certain parcels of land previously classified as 
investment properties which will be developed for the Group’s other residential projects 
(see Note 15).  As of December 31, 2020, the Group has capital commitments relating to 
future development costs over these parcels of land. 

 
The accumulated balance of Property Development Costs as presented in the 
consolidated statements of financial position amounted to as follows:  

 
       2020   2019  
    
   MidPark Residences    P 602,660,068 P 525,006,783 
   Raw land     397,831,294  397,831,294 
   Pixel Residences     54,708,425  245,222,630 
   One Parq Suites     13,376,898  -  

      
      P 1,068,576,685 P 1,168,060,707 
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Cost of condominium units sold amounted to P409.5 million, P314.5 million, and  
P72.9 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively (see Notes 21.3 and 23) and are 
presented under Cost of Services and Sales section in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss. 
 
10.2 Contract Accounts 

 
The significant changes in the contract asset and liability balances during the reporting 
periods are as follows: 
 
      2020   2019  
      Contract   Contract   Contract   Contract  
      Asset   Liability   Asset   Liability  
 
   Balance at beginning of year P 249,012,950 P 554,735,131 P 166,652,337 P 210,459,821 
  Increase as a result of  
  changes in measurement of  
  progress   -       -         82,360,613    -  
 Decrease due to collections (      157,010,743 )  -    -         -  
  Revenue recognized that was 
  included in contract liability 
  at the beginning of year   -   ( 80,953,843 )  -   ( 101,593,352 ) 
  Increase due to cash received 
   excluding amount recognized 
   as revenue during the year  -        217,030,414    -       445,868,662   
 

  Balance at end of year P 92,002,207  P 690,811,702  P 249,012,950  P 554,735,131  
 

Contract asset and liability is presented in the statement of financial position as at  
December 31, 2020 and 2019 as follows: 
 
      2020   2019  
      Contract   Contract   Contract   Contract  
      Asset   Liability   Asset   Liability  
 
   Current P    92,002,207   P 486,576,915   P     54,191,980   P 130,492,147 
  Non-current   -     204,234,787         194,820,970    424,242,984  
 
    P 92,002,207  P 690,811,702  P 249,012,950  P 554,735,131 
 

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligation (unsatisfied or 
partially satisfied) as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are as follows: 
 
       2020   2019  
 
 Within one year P 1,122,856,639 P 816,460,329 
 More than one year to three years  3,246,335,030  3,735,271,872 

 
   P 4,369,191,669  P 4,551,732,201 
 
The remaining performance obligations expected to be recognized within one year and 
in more than one year relate to the continuous development of the Group’s real estate 
projects.  The Group’s condominium units are expected to be completed within three 
years from start of construction. 
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11. LAND AND LAND DEVELOPMENT COSTS 
 
This account pertains to the cost of land available for sale located in Aseana Business 
Park, Parañaque City; Ciudad Nuevo Park, Cavite City; and Lunzuran Heights 
Subdivision, Zamboanga City with a total lot area of 238,009 square meters both as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 
The analysis of the movements of the balance of Land and Land Development Costs is 
as follows: 
 

     Note   2020   2019  
 
 Balance at beginning of year     P 2,012,493,650 P 2,162,209,345 
  Additions during the year       100,043,074    148,600,941  
  Reclassification   15    -   (  231,572,755)  
  Sales during the year   23    -   (  66,743,881 ) 
   
   Balance at end of year       P 2,112,536,724 P 2,012,493,650 
 

Management has estimated that the net realizable value of Land and Land Development 
Costs is higher than its carrying value as of December 31, 2020 and 2019.  As of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, certain portion of the parcels of land owned by  
the Group with a total lot area of 2,777 square meters and carrying amounts of  
P44.2 million is used as collateral to secure certain peso denominated interest-bearing 
loans (see Note 18).  The loans do not contain any restriction on the sale of the land 
except that the mortgage is annotated in the titles of the said properties. 
 
 

12. OTHER CURRENT ASSETS 
 
This account consists of the following:  

             
     Notes   2020   2019  
  
  Input VAT      P 680,951,322 P 218,067,900 
  Short-term placements      585,000,000  2,060,000,000 
  Deferred input VAT      345,995,214  403,429,605 
  Prepayments      116,805,902  114,751,348 
  Creditable withholding tax      54,908,103  8,994,473 
  Financial assets at FVTPL   7.2   51,318,288  48,206,870 
  Contract acquisition costs   3.2(i)   38,177,486  32,934,611 
   
       P  1,873,156,315   P  2,886,384,807 
 

Short-term placement pertains to a time deposit with maturity of 102 days from date of 
acquisition.  The related interest income amounting to P18.8 million and P33.2 million is 
included as part of Interest income under Finance income account in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss (see Note 22.2) in 2020 and 2019, respectively, while accrued 
interest is presented as part of Others under Receivables account in the consolidated 
statements of financial position as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (see Note 9).    
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Deferred input VAT pertains to the corresponding input VAT on subcontract services, 
which are yet to be recognized in installments in the next reporting period.  
 
Prepayments mostly pertain to real property taxes and other incidental business 
prepayments which are expected to be realized within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

 
Financial assets at FVTPL consist of investments in equity and convertible debt 
securities which are held for trading purposes.  Fair value gain amounting to  
P2.8 million and P0.4 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively, is recognized and 
presented as part of Finance income account in the 2020 and 2019 consolidated 
statements of profit or loss (see Note 22.2). 

 
 
13. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND A JOINT VENTURE  

 
This account consists of the following:  

       
     Note   2020   2019  
  
  Associates   13.1  P 48,967,111 P 49,043,168 
  Joint venture   13.2   38,917,570  12,827,982 
    
       P 87,884,681 P 61,871,150 

 
The Group’s associates and a joint venture are all incorporated and with principal 
operations in the Philippines.  These entities are engaged in businesses related to the 
Parent Company’s operations.  
 
The components of the carrying amounts of investments in associates and a joint venture 
are as follows: 
 
13.1 Investments in Associates 

 
The movements in the carrying amount of investments in associates which is accounted 
for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements of the Group, are 
shown below. 

             
        2020   2019  
  
  Acquisition costs     P 56,913,213 P 56,913,213 
   
 Accumulated share in net losses:    
  Balance at beginning of year    (  7,870,045 ) (  7,744,653 ) 
  Share in net losses     (  76,057 ) (  125,392 ) 
    
   Balance at end of year     (  7,946,102 ) (  7,870,045 ) 
    
       P 48,967,111 P 49,043,168 
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The Group’s associates include ERTI, ACBMDC and AHEC.  Although AHEC is 
currently in the process of liquidation [see Note 1.2(t)], the Group has assessed that the 
Group’s existing share in the net assets of AHEC exceeds the carrying amount of its 
investment considering that AHEC has sufficient assets, including construction 
equipment related to the business of the Group.  Upon completion of AHEC’s 
liquidation, management of the Group believes that the Group may obtain portion of 
these assets in the form of a return of invested capital. 

 
13.2 Financial Information of Associates and Joint Ventures 

 
There were no associates and joint venture which are considered material to the Group in 
2020 and 2019. 
 
No dividends were received from the associates and joint venture in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

 
These associates and joint venture are not listed in the local stock exchange; hence, the 
fair value of the shares cannot be determined reliably.  However, management believes 
that the carrying amounts of the investments are fully recoverable based on the 
prospect of the business of these associates and joint venture.  

 
13.3 Investment in a Joint Venture 
 
As of the end of the reporting periods, the investment in joint venture consist only of 
50% investment in BRADCO.   
 
However, in 2019, the investment in ABCC classified and presented as Investment in 
Joint Venture Held for Termination in the 2018 consolidated financial statements was 
reclassified to Investment Properties as this pertains to the land previously transferred 
in exchange for ABCC’s shares of stock (see Notes 2.14 and 15).  As a result of the 
termination of the joint venture agreement (JV Agreement) [see Note 13.2(b)], ABCC 
has been considered as a subsidiary starting in 2019 as the remaining shares are now all 
held by the Parent Company in the same year.  ABCC had not commenced operations 
since its incorporation and only incurred real property taxes and other administrative 
expenses.  The effect of the reclassification amounting to P80.6 million (net of  
P36.2 million cumulative share in net losses of ABCC) representing the deficit of  
ABCC was recognized as an adjustment to the Retained Earnings account in 2019. 

            
a) BRADCO 
 
The movements in the carrying amount of investments in BRADCO, which is 
accounted for under the equity method in the consolidated financial statements of the 
Group, are shown below. 
 

        2020   2019  
   
 Acquisition costs     P 2,000,000 P 2,000,000 
  Accumulated share in net income:    
  Balance at beginning of year      10,827,982    4,665,905 
  Share in net income       26,089,588    6,162,077  
   Balance at end of year       36,917,570    10,827,982  
 
       P 38,917,570 P 12,827,982 
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On February 15, 1992, the Parent Company entered into a joint venture agreement with 
the Armed Forces of the Philippines Retirement and Separation Benefits System 
(AFPRSBS) to form BRADCO, a joint venture.  The Parent Company and AFPRSBS 
each owns 50% interest in the joint venture. 

 
Pursuant to the JV Agreement, the Parent Company and BRADCO entered into a  
construction agreement whereby the Parent Company undertook the construction of a  
building intended to be held for lease.  The construction of the building was completed  
in 2015 with the accumulated costs totaling P38.6 million recognized as part of Buildings  
and improvements under Investment Properties account in the consolidated statements  
of financial position (see Note 15). 
 
There are no significant risks, commitments, or contingencies related to the Group’s 
interests in BRADCO during the reporting periods.  
 
b) ABCC 

 
On December 23, 2010, the Parent Company, WHI and Alphaland Development, Inc. 
(ADI) entered in a MOA whereby the Parent Company, WHI and ADI agreed to transfer 
certain parcels of land located in ABP in exchange for shares of stock of ABCC, the  
joint venture entity.  While the increase in authorized capital stock of ABCC is pending 
approval by the SEC, the Parent Company agreed to transfer 96,751 square meters of land.  
Relative to this, the Parent Company recognized investment in ABCC, under a deed of 
assignment, representing the parcels of land contributed at the time of investment and 
accounted for as an investment in a joint venture. 

 
Further, the Parent Company and WHI agreed to contribute additional parcels of land 
to ABCC in exchange for additional shares of stock upon transfer of ownership and 
control of the subject parcels of land from PRA to the Parent Company and WHI.   

 
Likewise in 2010, the Parent Company agreed, through the MOA, to receive 
noninterest-bearing advances amounting to P1,000.0 million from ADI in consideration 
of which the Parent Company agreed to assign all its rights and interest on certain 
number of common shares to be issued by ABCC to the Parent Company so as to arrive 
at the agreed ownership structure of ABCC.  Since then, the assignment has been put on 
hold pending the performance of certain conditions under the MOA.  These advances are 
presented as Advances from a Co-joint Venturer account in the 2019 consolidated 
statement of financial position.  

 
In 2018, the Parent Company, along with WHI and ABCC, entered into a Settlement 
Agreement (SA) with ADI regarding their JV Agreement, and all disputes related thereto, 
in relation to the development of the Alphaland Bay City project located in Aseana City.  
Under the SA, the parties have agreed to terminate, rescind or otherwise cancel the  
JV Agreement, and waive and release any and all rights or interests they, or may have 
arising therefrom subject to certain conditions.  
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Also in 2018, the Parent Company entered into a Consideration Agreement (CA) with 
certain third parties whereby one of the performance obligations of the Parent Company, 
together with WHI, in exchange for the Parent Company’s non-refundable cash 
consideration is to transfer their rights provided for under a certain JV Agreement, 
through giving their consent in favor of the third parties to be able to acquire from ADI 
certain parcels of land contributed by ADI to the joint venture.  The related performance 
obligation was accordingly satisfied by the Parent Company in 2018.  The same 
Consideration Agreement also requires a second performance obligation in exchange for 
another cash consideration whereby the Parent Company shall provide specific guidelines, 
review the compliance and undertake related activities thereto, in favor of the third parties 
with respect to its development project design on the parcels of land purchased by one of 
the third parties from ADI in Aseana City.  The second performance obligation is to be 
satisfied over time from January to August 2019.  Subject to the foregoing certain terms 
and conditions governing the transfer of such rights to the third parties and their ability to 
take full and unrestricted control over the development of the parcels of land, the Parent 
Company is entitled to consideration totaling P2,050.0 million collectible in two years.  
 
The non-refundable portion amounting to P1,200.0 million was received by the Parent 
Company in 2018 as the consideration for the consent given by the Parent Company and 
the remaining P850.0 million was received by the Parent Company in 2019 as completion 
of the second performance obligation.  These are included as part of Other income account 
in the 2019 and 2018 consolidated statements of profit or loss, respectively (see Note 22.4). 
 
As part of the termination of the JV Agreement, the parties agreed to withdraw their 
earlier request for a tax free ruling from the BIR on the property contributions for shares 
in ABCC and to petition the SEC to cancel its approval of the increase in capital stock of 
ABCC in 2012.  The approval by the SEC was obtained on December 18, 2018 whereby 
it ordered ABCC’s capital stock to be corrected.    

 
Management, in consultation with its external legal counsel, is of the opinion that the 
cancellation of the aforementioned SEC’s approval on the increase in capital stock of 
ABCC should be accounted for retrospectively.  Consequently, the Group restated its 
investment in ABCC in 2018 to recognize such investment amounting to P127.1 million,  
which is equivalent to the previous carrying value of its parcels of land amounting  
to P163.3 million, net of P36.2 million cumulative share in net losses of ABCC  
(see Note 29.5).  Furthermore, the Group classified the same asset, which is lower than  
its fair value less cost to terminate, under the Investment in Joint Venture Held for 
Termination account as of December 31, 2018 as the Group intended to recover the 
foregoing investment in ABCC held for termination through the receipt of the previously 
contributed investment property within one year from the end of 2018, subject to the 
fulfillment of the conditions as set forth in the SA by 2019.  
 
Pursuant to the fulfillment of the conditions in 2019 as set forth in the SA and receipt  
of the previously contributed investment property, the Group reclassified the Investment 
in Joint Venture Held for Termination account to Investment Properties account in the 
same year (see Note 15).  A portion of the Investment in Joint Venture Held for 
Termination account amounting to P10,000 was reclassified also to Investment in 
Subsidiaries representing the 100% ownership of the Group in ABCC and was eliminated 
during consolidation in 2019. 
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In 2020, the Group reversed the advances from ADI amounting to P1,000.0 million  
upon completion of all administrative matters relating to the CA and SA in 2020 and 
prescription.  Management, in consultation with its legal counsel, believes that full 
restitution of ADI was already served and no further claims against DMWAI under the 
JV Agreement is expected.  The reversal of such advances is presented as Other Income 
in the 2020 consolidated statement of profit or loss (see Note 22.4). 

 
13.4 Acquisition of Assets 
 
On October 1, 2020, ARHC acquired 100% equity ownership interest in LBDC.  Also on 
December 9, 2016, AHI acquired 100% equity ownership interest in 58 Jupiter.  LBDC 
and 58 Jupiter hold investment properties representing land and building (see Note 15). 

 
In accordance with the Group’s policy (see Note 2.17), the transactions are accounted 
by the Group as asset acquisitions since the transactions do not constitute a business 
combination.  The purchase price upon acquisition amounting to P630.0 million for 
LBDC and P160.0 million for 58 Jupiter, were allocated among the asset and liability 
accounts based on their relative fair values in their applicable periods. 
 
Subsequent to the date of acquisition, any changes in the carrying value of the net assets 
acquired in the books of LBDC and 58 Jupiter arising from its own operations shall be 
updated and accounted for in the books of the Group on a line-by-line basis, as if they are 
consolidated into a single entity.  The registered office of LBDC, which is also its 
principal place of business, is located in Makati City.  The registered office of 58 Jupiter is 
located in Escolta, Manila while its principal place of business is in Makati City. 
 
13.5 Noncontrolling Interests 

 
Noncontrolling interests pertain to the 37.8%, 44.6%, 19.0%, 33.0%, 44.0%, 4.0% and 
40.0% equity ownership of minority stockholders in FRDC, R-1, MLCI, AITPI, SBRI, 
ARESM and BAHI.  The selected financial information (before inter-company 
eliminations) of BAHI, which is considered the only material NCI, is shown below. 
 

           2020   2019  
 

  Current assets    P 381,595,708 P 1,788,984,895 
  Non-current assets     5,660,135,683  5,660,135,683 
 
   Total assets    P 6,041,731,391 P 7,449,120,578 
 
  Current liabilities    P 4,030,728,485 P 5,040,078,849 
  Non-current liabilities     69,163,577  55,003,041 
   
   Total liabilities    P 4,099,892,062 P 5,095,081,890 
 
  Equity    P 1,941,839,329 P 2,354,038,688 
   
  NCI in equity    P 578,212,355 P 543,074,537 
   
  Net income attributable to equity holders  P 122,938,457 P 1,806,597,429 
   
  Net income (loss) allocated to NCI    P 35,137,817 (P 126,486,204)
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The principal place of business of BAHI is located at 15th Floor, Aseana 3 Building,  
D. Macapagal Blvd corner Asean Ave., Brgy. Tambo, Parañaque City. 
 
Management determined that the difference between the respective equity ownership of 
minority stockholders over the equity of the aforementioned subsidiaries and the amount 
of NCI recognized in the consolidated statements of financial position is not material to 
the consolidated financial statements. 
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As of December 31, 2020, and 2019, fully depreciated assets with original costs amounting 
to P340.2 million are still being used in operations. 
 
The amount of depreciation and amortization is allocated as follows:  

             
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Cost of construction contracts 21.1  P 124,169   P 1,407,880   P 14,464,456 
 Capitalized as part of land and 
  land development costs 2.5(a)   39,270,880    36,145,587    14,588,572
 General and administrative 
  expenses  23   44,136,731    36,776,322    14,076,866 
 
        P 83,531,780   P 74,329,789   P 43,129,894 

 
The management believes that the carrying amount of property and equipment is 
recoverable in full; hence, no impairment loss is recognized in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 
 
 

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 
 

The carrying amount of this account is composed of the following: 
 

       Notes   2020   2019  
 
 Investment properties – net    P 15,386,931,236 P 12,414,489,719 
 Right-of-use asset – net  2.18(a)(i), 
       16.1   152,548,532   158,198,478  
 
         P15,539,479,768 P 12,572,688,197 

 
The gross carrying amounts and the accumulated depreciation of investment properties 
(except Right-of-use assets, see Note 16.1) at the beginning and end of 2020 and 2019 are 
shown below. 
 

          Building and    Condominium   Construction in   
       Land    Improvements   Units   Progress   Total  
  
 December 31, 2020 
   Cost  P  9,904,289,891 P 2,797,681,966  P 25,228,650 P  3,309,920,402 P 16,037,120,909 
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (   644,663,943) (  5,525,730)   -   (  650,189,673 ) 
  
   Net carrying amount P  9,904,289,891 P  2,153,018,023 P 19,702,920 P 3,309,920,402 P 15,386,931,236 
 
 December 31, 2019 
   Cost  P  8,867,542,310 P 2,797,479,316  P 25,228,650 P  1,270,510,090 P 12,960,760,366  
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (   541,754,063 ) (  4,516,584)   -   (  546,270,647 ) 
  
   Net carrying amount P  8,867,542,310 P  2,255,725,253 P 20,712,066 P 1,270,510,090 P 12,414,489,719 
 
 January 1, 2019 
   Cost  P 8,720,243,460 P 2,989,677,001 P 25,228,650 P 162,085,268 P 11,897,234,379  
   Accumulated depreciation   -   (  445,344,411 ) (  3,507,438)   -   (  448,851,849 ) 
 
   Net carrying amount P 8,720,243,460 P 2,544,332,590 P 21,721,212 P 162,085,268 P 11,448,382,530 
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The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of investment properties (except Right-of-use 
Assets, see Note 16.1) at the beginning and end of 2020 and 2019 is shown below. 

                 
          Building and    Condominium   Construction in   
       Land    Improvements   Units   Progress   Total  
  
   Balance at January 1, 2020, 
    net of accumulated 
    depreciation P 8,867,542,310 P 2,255,725,253 P 20,712,066 P 1,270,510,090 P 12,414,489,719  
   Additions  406,747,581  202,650  -   2,039,410,312  2,446,360,543 
   Asset acquisition (see Note 13.4)  630,000,000  -   -   -   630,000,000 
   Depreciation charges for the year   -   (  102,909,880 ) (  1,009,146)   -   (  103,919,026 ) 
 
   Balance at December 31, 2020, 
    net of accumulated 
    depreciation P 9,904,289,891 P 2,153,018,023 P 19,702,920 P 3,309,920,402 P 15,386,931,236 
 
   Balance at January 1, 2019, 
    net of accumulated 
    depreciation P 8,720,243,460 P 2,544,332,590 P 21,721,212 P 162,085,268 P 11,448,382,530  
   Additions  150,263,640  3,274,693  -   1,152,601,653  1,306,139,986 
   Reclassification to property 
    and equipment (see Note 14)  -  ( 231,660,902 )  -    -   (  231,660,902 ) 
   Reclassification of land to property 
    development costs (see Note 10) (  397,831,294 )  -   -    -   ( 397,831,294 ) 
   Reclassification from 
    raw land (see Note 11)  231,572,755  -   -    -    231,572,755 
   Reclassification of land 
    from investment in JV  
    held for termination to  
    investment property (see Note 13.2)  163,293,749  -   -    -    163,293,749 
   Reclassification from CIP to   
    building and improvements  -   44,176,831  -  (  44,176,831)  -  
   Depreciation charges for the year   -   (  104,397,959 ) (  1,009,146)   -   (  105,407,105 ) 
 
   Balance at December 31, 2019, 
    net of accumulated P 8,867,542,310 P 2,255,725,253 P 20,712,066 P 1,270,510,090 P 12,414,489,719 
    

The amount of depreciation is allocated as follows:  
             
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Cost of rentals  21.2  P 102,909,880   P 102,187,258   P 103,185,483  
 General and administrative 
  expenses  23   1,009,146    3,219,847    2,900,382  
 
      15  P 103,919,026   P 105,407,105   P 106,085,865  

 
a) Building and Improvements 
 
Building and improvements include the building of 58 Jupiter amounting to P2.9 million 
arising from the asset acquisition by AHI (see Note 13.4). 
 
The Group received certain condominium unit with parking lots valued at P23.7 million as 
a result of a deed of exchange in 2015 (see Note 28.1).  The remaining estimated useful life 
of these assets approximates to those applied in depreciating similar type of assets.   
 
Construction in progress account also includes capitalized borrowing costs from 
interest-bearing loans obtained specifically to finance the construction amounting  
P28.3 million in 2018 (nil in 2020 and 2019), at a capitalization rate of 3.0% to 5.3% in 
2018 (see Note 18).   
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b) Land  
 
In 2019, the Group reclassified certain parcels of land which were previously presented 
under Land and Land Development Costs to Investment Properties amounting to  
P231.6 million (see Notes 11 and 31).  The reclassification resulted from the change in 
management use evidenced by rentals for the parcels of land in 2019. 
 
Similarly, in 2019, the land under the Investment in Joint Venture Held for Termination in 
prior years amounting to P163.3 million relating to the Parent Company’s investment in 
ABCC was reclassified back to investment property [see Note 13.2(b)].  A reclassification 
was also made from Investment Properties to Property Development Costs amounting to  
P397.9 million in 2019 as such land will be developed for the Group’s other residential 
projects (see Note 10.1).  
 
Land also include the property owned by 58 Jupiter and LBDC amounting to  
P153.4 million and P630.0 million, respectively, acquired through and accounted for  
under asset acquisition (see Note 13.4). 
 
c) Other Information  
  
Land and building rental revenues recognized from investment properties amounted to 
P1,787.6 million, P1,772.5 million, and P1,727.4 million in 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, and are shown as part of Rentals under Revenues account in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss.  Costs incurred related to investment properties, including the 
depreciation, are presented as Rentals under Costs of Services and Sales account in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 21.2).   
 
The fair value of investment properties amounted to P129,863.2 million and  
P124,750.1 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively (see Note 7.4).   
 
Management believes that the carrying amounts of investment properties are recoverable 
in full; hence, no impairment loss is recognized in 2020, 2019 and 2018.  
 
Certain investment properties with carrying amount of P301.5 million as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019 are used as collateral for certain loans with local banks (see Note 18). 
 
 

16. LEASES 
 
The Group leases certain parcels of land from WHI (see Note 26.3) where the Group’s 
investment property is situated.  Such lease has original term of 30 years and subject to 
escalation rate of 3% and enforceable renewal/extension options.  The lease with WHI is 
reflected on the 2020 and 2019 consolidated statements of financial position as a  
right-of-use asset under Investment Properties [see Notes 2.18(a)(i) and 15] and a lease 
liability.   
 
 

  



154   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  155

- 81 - 
 

The lease generally imposes a restriction that, unless there is a contractual right for the 
Group to sublet the asset to another party, the right-of-use asset can only be used by the 
Group.  A lease is either non-cancellable or may only be cancelled by incurring a substantive 
termination fee.  The Group is prohibited from selling or pledging the underlying leased 
assets as security.  Further, the Group must insure the leased assets and incur maintenance 
fees on such items in accordance with the lease contract. 

 
16.1 Right-of-use Asset 

 
The carrying amount of the Group’s right-of-use asset as at December 31, 2020 and the 
movements during the period are shown below (see Note 15). 

 
     2020   2019  
 
  Balance at beginning of year   P 158,198,478 P 163,848,424 
  Amortization  ( 5,649,946 ) (  5,649,946 ) 
 
   Balance at end of year  P 152,548,532 P 158,198,478 

 
Amortization of the Group’s right-of-use asset is presented in the 2020 and 2019 
consolidated statements of profit or loss as part of Cost of Rentals (see Note 21.2). 

 
16.2 Lease Liability 

 
The lease liability is secured by the related underlying assets.  Such liability is presented 
in the consolidated statements of financial position as at December 31 as follows: 

  
     2020   2019  
 
  Current    P 11,282,400 P 11,282,400 
  Non-current   154,244,514  153,101,312 
 
      P 165,526,914 P 164,383,712 

 
Interest expense in relation to lease liabilities amounted to P12.4 million and  
P11.3 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively, and is presented as part of Finance Costs 
in the 2020 and 2019 consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 22.1).   
 
The movements in the lease liability recognized in the 2020 and 2019 consolidated 
statements of financial position are as follows: 
 

     2020   2019  
 
  Balance at beginning of year   P 164,383,712 P 163,848,424 
  Interest accretion    12,425,602    11,299,906  
  Lease payments  (  11,282,400 ) (  10,764,618 ) 
 
   Balance at end of year  P 165,526,914 P 164,383,712 
  

The use of extension and termination options gives the Group added flexibility in the 
event it has identified more suitable premises in terms of cost and/or location or 
determined that it is advantageous to remain in a location beyond the original lease 
term.  An option is only exercised when consistent with the Group’s business strategy 
and the economic benefits of exercising the option exceeds the expected overall cost.  
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However, the Group is not potentially exposed to future cash outflows relating to its 
existing lease with WHI as it does not require any termination fee and similarly has no 
advance rentals or lease deposit that would be forfeited in case of termination.  
 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group has no commitments for leases  
(as lessee) entered into but which had not commenced. 
 
Management believes that the aggregated presentation of the maturity analysis of lease 
liabilities as an alternative to a yearly maturity analysis for the first five years prescribed 
under PFRS will not result in any significant impact to the disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements as the existing sole lease agreement is with the 
ultimate parent company and the total outstanding lease liability as of December 31, 
2020 and 2019 is less than 2% of the consolidated total liabilities as of such dates.  The 
undiscounted maturity analysis of lease liability as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
as follows: 

 
        1 to 15     16 to 29   
        Years     years     Total  

 
December 31, 2020 

 Lease payment   P 204,409,891   P 227,182,406   P 431,592,297 
 Finance charge  (  184,992,124 ) (  81,073,259 ) (  266,065,383 ) 
 
 Net present values  P 19,417,767   P 146,109,147   P 165,526,914 

 
December 31, 2019 

 Lease payment   P 199,787,631   P 243,087,065   P 442,874,696 
 Finance charge  (  186,214,022 ) (  92,276,962 ) (  278,490,984 ) 
 
 Net present values  P 13,573,609   P 150,810,103   P 164,383,712 
 

16.3 Other Information 
 

The Group has elected not to recognize a lease liability for any applicable low value assets 
and short-term leases.  Payments made under such leases are expensed on straight-line basis. 
 
Consequently, low value leases amounting to P0.7 million and P0.2 million, respectively is 
presented as part of Others under General and Administrative account in the 2020 and 2019 
consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 23).  On the other hand, the Group has 
no short-term leases.     
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17. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
 
This account includes the following:  

             
     Notes   2020   2019  

 
  Advances to suppliers   9.2  P 579,018,623 P 814,408,025 
  Project advances   17.3   116,964,427  106,181,626 
  Deposits for future investment  17.1   54,026,935   54,026,935 
  Financial assets at FVOCI   17.2           49,670,827           75,876,143  
  Refundable deposits   17.4   30,313,000  47,362,548 
  Contract acquisition costs   3.2(i)   5,503,473  5,503,473 
  Others      9,108,911  2,687,616 
     
       P   844,606,196  P   1,106,046,366 
 

17.1 Deposits for Future Investment 
 

Included in the deposits for future investment as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are 
deposits totaling to P40.3 million made by the Group to acquire certain properties.  While 
the title of the properties are not yet transferred to the Group, management remains 
committed to purchase the properties as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 
This account also includes deposits made by the Group to third party landowners of 
certain parcels of land located in Romblon under a joint agreement to develop the 
property.  The Group is entitled to an irrevocable and exclusive option to purchase the 
property from the landowners.  In case the Group exercises the said option, the total 
amount from which the landowners have received the deposits shall form part of the 
total purchase price; otherwise, whatever amount of deposits received by the landowners 
shall be forfeited in favor of the latter.  The Group remains committed under the joint 
agreement.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the deposits made by the Group 
amounted to P13.7 million. 

 
17.2 Financial Assets at Fair Value Through Other Comprehensive Income 

 
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of financial assets at FVOCI is as follows: 

 
     Note   2020   2019  

        
Balance at beginning of year     P 75,876,143 P 74,755,905 
Unrealized fair value gains (losses)  28.2  (      26,205,316)         1,120,238  
   
Balance at end of year      P 49,670,827 P 75,876,143 
 

Financial assets at FVOCI consist of investment in golf club shares and certain unquoted 
equity securities.  The Group used Level 2 and 3 in determining the fair value of 
Financial assets at FVOCI (see Note 7.2).   
 
Fair value gains and losses recognized on these Financial assets at FVOCI are shown as 
part of Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) in the consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income which formed part of the balance of revaluation reserves on 
financial assets at FVOCI presented as part of Revaluation Reserves under the equity 
section of the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 28.2). 
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17.3 Project Advances 
 

Project advances significantly pertain to a Contract of Reclamation entered into in prior 
years with the City of Mandaue, Cebu.  In 2018, the Construction Industry Arbitration 
Commission issued the Writ of Execution ordering the City of Mandaue to honor the 
Contract of Reclamation, and the parties to comply with their reciprocal obligations 
therein, without prejudice to the parties agreeing to alternative reclamation sites to avoid 
further delay in the implementation of the contract.   

 
The Group may opt to be paid either in the form of land or cash proceeds from the  
sale of land to be reclaimed.  As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the project has not 
commenced but the Group has assessed that the amount of project advances collectible 
in the form of land is recoverable in full. 

 
There are other projects with similar nature and circumstances (i.e., feasibility and/or  
pre-development stages) with the Philippine government and other counterparties, of 
which management has assessed that the related project advances remain recoverable as 
of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 
17.4 Refundable Deposits 

 
Refundable deposits significantly include deposits, which are perpetual in nature, made to 
power and water distribution companies pursuant to the supply needs of the Group’s existing 
and on-going projects in Aseana City. 
 

 
18. LOANS AND BORROWINGS 

 
The Group’s short-term and long-term loans and borrowings are classified in the 
consolidated statements of financial position as follows: 
 

        2020   2019  
  
 Current      P  1,114,670,000   P     114,670,000  
 Non-current           282,350,000         397,050,000  
    
       P 1,397,020,000   P     511,720,000
         

The Group obtained bank loans to support its working capital requirements, financing and 
investing activities, which include the Group’s construction and development of certain 
investment properties (see Note 15).   In 2020, the Group also obtained short-term loans 
to finance the acquisition of LBDC (see Note 13.4). 

 
Bank loans represent partially secured and unsecured loans from local commercial banks.  
These loans bear annual interest rates ranging from 2.25% to 5.75% per annum, 3.60% to 
6.25% per annum and 3.60% to 5.75%per annum in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, 
and are subject to monthly repricing based on prevailing market rate, except for certain 
long-term bank loans that are subject to fixed rate.  Bank loans have maturity of six 
months from the end of each reporting period while other portion of the loans have 
quarterly payments over a period of seven years starting in the second year from initial 
loan release with two years grace period. 
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Certain bank loans are partially secured by investment properties amounting to  
P301.5 million, and land and land development costs amounting to P44.2 million both  
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 (see Notes 11 and 15).   

             
The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of the Group’s loans and borrowings arising 
from financing activities is shown below. 

 
       2020   2019  
        

Balance at beginning of year      P 511,720,000   P 1,928,920,000 
Additional borrowings       1,000,000,000  -  
Repayments       (  114,700,000 ) (  1,417,200,000) 

 
Balance at end of year      P 1,397,020,000 P 511,720,000 

 
In 2020, 2019, and 2018, interest costs related to bank loans amounted to P23.6 million,  
P82.2 million, and P64.5 million, respectively, and were recognized as part of Interest 
expense under Finance costs account in the consolidated statements of profit or  
loss (see Note 22.1).   

 
On the other hand, capitalized borrowing costs in 2018 amounted to P28.3 million  
(see Note 15).  There was no capitalized borrowing costs in 2020 and 2019 as management 
assessed that the amount of interest capitalizable from the outstanding general borrowings 
is not significant to the consolidated financial statements.   
 
There is no unpaid interest related to bank loans as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 
Except as disclosed in Note 30, the Group has no significant loan covenants as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019. 

 
 
19. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 
 
 This account consists of the following: 
             
     Note   2020   2019  
 
  Deferred output VAT payable    P 682,122,394 P 515,329,381 
  Trade payables   26.7   403,109,987  204,421,304 
  Retention payable      300,391,327  159,328,216 
  Accrued expenses      194,878,351  229,829,333 

  Other payables      152,452,510  86,668,254 
 
       P 1,732,954,569 P 1,195,576,488 
 

Deferred output VAT payable relates to outstanding receivables from construction 
contracts and sale of land as of the end of the reporting periods. 

 
Retention payable represent a portion of progress billings received from third party 
contractors for the construction work performed which is retained by the Group to bind 
the contractors in completing the agreed performance obligation. 
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Other payables include withholding taxes on compensation, expanded withholding taxes 
and other statutory liabilities that are expected to be settled within 12 months from the 
end of each reporting period.  
 

 
20. DEPOSITS AND ADVANCES 

 
This account consists of:  

             
     Notes   2020   2019  

 
  Current: 
  Reservation deposits   2.16(c)  P 577,863,090 P 598,874,586 
  Advance rentals      228,663,931  386,094,175 
  Rental deposits      50,041,094  46,376,641 
  Construction bond   9.3   48,837,148  51,053,388 
  Unearned rent income      12,007,782  8,484,087 
  Buyers’ deposits   2.16(a)   1,009,196  1,009,196 
  Others      3,219,323  5,381,949 
   
        921,641,564  1,097,274,022 
 
 Non-current: 
  Rental deposits      210,654,440  217,053,912 
  Retention payable      132,362,000  97,644,206 
  Advance rentals      63,308,956  66,323,127 
  Unearned rent income      61,178,807  65,758,541 
  Buyers’ deposits   2.16(a)   5,827,833  5,827,833 
       
        473,332,036  452,607,619 
 
       P 1,394,973,600 P 1,549,881,641 

 
Advance rentals pertain to payments received from tenants to be applied on future rentals 
due on the lease of the Group’s properties held under operating lease agreements.  For 
income tax purposes, advance rentals are considered as part of taxable income upon 
receipt, less initial direct costs incurred by the Group in negotiating and arranging the 
specific operating lease, which shall be amortized over the same term as that of the 
advance rentals (see Note 25).   
 
Unearned rent income resulted from the recognition of day-one gain on discounting of 
rental deposits, which are amortized over the remaining lease term. 
 
Buyers’ deposits represent advances received from customers for real estate land to be 
sold.  Buyers’ deposits will be applied against the receivables from customers upon 
consummation of sale.  
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21. COSTS OF SERVICES AND SALES 
 
21.1 Cost of Construction Contracts 

 
The details of cost of construction contracts are shown below. 

               
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Subcontract services 26.8  P 15,066,514  P 28,044,714   P 30,723,774 
 Construction materials    1,017,919    15,190,908    13,246,474 
 Depreciation and  
  amortization  14   124,169    1,407,880    14,464,456 
 Salaries and employee  
  benefits  24.1   116,479    555,572    1,868,051 
 Gasoline and oil    47,757    702,373     1,206,026 
  
      23  P 16,372,838  P 45,901,447   P 61,508,781 
 

21.2 Cost of Rentals 
 

The following are the details of direct costs and expenses of rentals, including common 
usage and service area charges: 

              
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Depreciation  15, 16.1  P 108,559,826   P 107,837,204   P 103,185,483 
 Real property tax    43,497,150    45,824,623    23,209,168 
 Outside services    26,180,808    31,298,846    26,249,185 
 Utilities     21,028,714    29,482,200    16,435,443 
 Repairs and maintenance    8,017,840    13,390,266    17,498,386 
 Professional fees    9,808,005    9,985,598    7,659,353 
 Office supplies     9,710,261    13,357,723    8,631,715 
 Others     10,481,220    16,024,982    9,492,510 
 
      23  P 237,283,824   P 267,201,442   P 212,361,243 
  

Others includes cost of janitorial services, garbage fees and other incidental fees. 
 
21.3 Cost of Sale of Condominium Units 

 
The following are the details of direct costs and expenses of condominium units sold: 

                 
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Development costs   P 340,989,767   P 253,420,496   P 60,377,372 
 Land cost  23   44,704,517    40,754,932    8,292,309 
 Others     23,779,205    20,285,628    4,206,037 
  
      10.1, 23  P 409,473,489   P 314,461,056   P 72,875,718 
 

Development costs pertain to work done by third party contractors relating to planning, 
design, architectural, and construction of the condominium units. 
 
Others include permits and licenses, development charges, surveying, monumenting and 
titling fees. 
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22. OTHER OPERATING AND NON-OPERATING INCOME (CHARGES) 
 
Presented below are the details of other income (charges). 

 
22.1 Finance Costs 

 
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  

 
 Interest expense:    
   Bank loans  18  P 23,602,439    P 82,227,742    P 64,529,725 
   Lease liability 16.2   12,425,602  11,299,906 - 
   Retirement benefit 
    obligation 24.2   181,521    2,070,529    1,875,261 
   Foreign currency loss    1,294,536     177,894    -  
  
           37,504,098    95,776,071    66,404,986 
  Others     3,557,623    2,748,896    3,446,556 
 
        P 41,061,721    P 98,524,967    P 69,851,542 
  

22.2 Finance Income 
             
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Interest income 8, 12  P 88,678,484   P 296,920,773   P 66,668,597     
 Fair value gain on financial 
  assets at FVTPL 12   2,790,000    417,500    -  
 Foreign currency gain    -     -     2,854,408  
 
        P 91,468,484   P 297,338,273   P 69,523,005  
 

22.3 Other Operating Income 
 
       Notes    2020   2019   2018  
  
 Income from rendering of  
  administrative and  
  other services 26.6  P 34,581,021   P 43,348,238   P 37,019,684  
 Reversal of impairment  
  loss on financial 
  assets – net   5.2(b), 26   26,943,497    -     -   
 Others      76,547,850    10,907,556    72,504,606 
  
        P 138,072,368   P 54,255,794   P 109,524,290 
  

Others also includes sale of air rights, parking fee income, vetting fee and signage rental. 
   
22.4 Other Income 

 
Other income presented in the 2020 consolidated statement of profit or loss pertains to 
the income from the derecognition of certain advances from a co-joint venturer, while 
other income in 2019 and 2018 pertains to the income recognized from the Consideration 
Agreement amounting to P850.0 million in 2019 and P1,200.0 million in 2018  
[see Note 13.2(b)].  
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23. OPERATING EXPENSES BY NATURE 
 
The details of operating expenses by nature are shown below. 

  
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  

 
 Development costs   P 340,989,767    P 253,420,496   P 60,377,372 
 Salaries and employee       
  benefits  24.1   156,690,815     137,508,259    114,436,104  
 Depreciation and  
  amortization  14, 15, 16   153,829,872     149,241,253    134,627,187 
 Taxes and licenses    147,039,387     130,166,238    93,340,624 
 Land cost  21.3   44,704,517    40,754,932    8,292,309  
 Commission     32,731,210     117,060,351    55,117,782  
 Association dues 26.7   32,476,130     33,320,380    26,177,767 
 
 Outside services    31,978,195     38,475,516    31,742,930 
 Professional fees    26,969,019     29,930,579    139,192,160 
 Representation and 
  entertainment    24,665,029     36,761,781    29,649,513 
 Utilities     22,301,808     34,718,873    21,524,241 
 Office supplies     18,617,517     24,627,158    18,538,071  
 
 Subcontract services 26.8   15,066,514     28,044,714    30,723,774 
 Bond and insurance    14,927,660     19,951,721    13,418,161 
 Repairs and maintenance    13,547,678     17,379,340    23,242,913 
 Transportation and travel    2,916,179     6,172,001    10,347,309 
 Corporate affairs    1,963,495     10,028,359    9,527,077 
 Construction materials    1,017,919     15,190,908    13,246,474 
 Cost of sale of land 11   -      66,743,881    40,078 
 Impairment loss on          
  financial assets  5.2(b), 26    -    41,246,758 8,345,199 
 Others  16.3   82,666,239     66,020,297    47,607,921  
 
        P  1,165,098,950    P 1,296,763,795   P 889,514,966 
 

Others include gasoline and oil, postage and communication, bid documents, subsistence, 
low value leases and other incidental expenses under the ordinary course of business.  

 
These expenses are classified in the consolidated statements of profit or loss as follows: 

  
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
  
 Cost of sale of              
  condominium units 10.1, 21.3  P    409,473,489    P    314,461,056   P 72,875,718 
 Cost of rentals  21.2        237,283,824          267,201,442     212,361,243 
 Cost of construction  
  contracts  21.1   16,372,838    45,901,447    61,508,781 
 Cost of sale of land 11   -      66,743,881     40,078 
 General and administrative   
  expenses     465,582,990    473,632,491    477,827,022 
 Selling expenses    36,385,809    128,823,478    64,902,124 
 
        P  1,165,098,950    P  1,296,763,795    P 889,514,966 
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The details of general and administrative expenses are shown below. 
              
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
 
 Salaries and employee    
  benefits  24.1  P 156,574,336   P 136,952,687   P 112,568,053  
 Taxes and licenses    103,542,237    84,341,615    70,131,456  
 Depreciation and 
   amortization 14, 15, 16   45,145,877     39,996,169    16,977,248  
 Association dues 26.7   32,476,130     33,320,380    26,177,767  
 Representation and 
  entertainment    24,665,029     36,761,781    29,649,513  
 Professional fees    17,161,014     19,334,981    131,532,807  
 Office supplies     8,907,256     11,269,435    9,906,356 
 Outside services    5,797,387     7,176,670    5,493,745  
 Repairs and maintenance    5,529,838     3,989,074    5,744,527  
 Bond and insurance    4,446,440     3,926,729    3,925,651  
 Transportation and travel    2,916,179     6,172,001    10,347,309 
 Corporate affairs    1,963,495     10,028,359    9,527,077 
 Utilities     1,273,094     5,236,673    5,088,798  
 Impairment loss on          
  financial assets  5.2(b), 26    -     41,246,758 8,345,199 
 Others  16.3   55,184,678    33,879,179    32,411,516  
 
         P 465,582,990   P 473,632,491   P 477,827,022  
 

Others include gasoline and oil, postage and communication, bid documents, subsistence, 
low value leases and other incidental expenses under the ordinary course of business.   

 
 
24. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS  
 

24.1 Salaries and Employee Benefits Expense 
  

The details of salaries and employee benefits are presented below. 
 
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
   
  Short-term employee benefits   P 153,736,841   P 135,217,751   P 112,335,781 
  Post-employment 
   defined benefit 24.2   2,953,974    2,290,508    2,100,323 
 
      23  P 156,690,815   P 137,508,259   P 114,436,104 

 
Salaries and employee benefits are classified and presented in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss as follows: 

 
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
   
  Cost of construction contracts 21.1  P 116,479    P 555,572    P 1,868,051  
  General and administrative  
  expenses  23   156,574,336    136,952,687    112,568,053 
  
      23  P 156,690,815   P 137,508,259   P 114,436,104 
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24.2 Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation 
 

(a) Characteristics of the Post-employment Defined Benefit Plan 
 

The Group is in the process of establishing a non-contributory post-employment 
benefit plan that is being administered by a trustee bank that is legally separated from 
the Group.  The trustee bank manages the fund in coordination with the Group’s 
management who acts in the best interest of the plan assets and is responsible for 
setting the investment policies.  The post-employment plan covers all regular full-time 
employees.   
 
The Group conforms to the minimum requirement of Philippine Law wherein it 
accrues the estimated cost of retirement benefits required by the provisions of  
R.A. No. 7641.  R.A. No. 7641 does not, however, require it to be funded.   
 

(b) Explanation of Amounts Presented in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Actuarial valuations are made annually to update the post-employment benefit cost.  
All amounts presented are based on the actuarial valuation report obtained from an 
independent actuary in 2020, 2019 and 2018. 

 
The amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation recognized in the 
consolidated statements of financial position are determined as follows: 

                            
     2020   2019  
 
      Present value of the obligation    P 87,122,610   P 56,916,643 
    Fair value of plan assets    ( 41,857,802) (  53,419,139)
  
      P 45,264,808 P 3,497,504 

 
The movements in the present value of the post-employment defined benefit 
obligation recognized in the books are as follows: 

         
        2020   2019  
 
  Balance at beginning of year  P 56,916,643 P 70,288,717 
   Current service cost   3,612,921  2,290,508 
  Interest expense   2,953,974  5,264,625 
  Actuarial losses (gains) 
  arising from: 
  -  experience adjustments    17,641,951  (  28,370,524 ) 
  -  changes in financial 
    assumptions    6,456,256    8,435,797 
  Benefits paid  (  459,134 ) (  992,480 ) 
 
 Balance at end of year  P 87,122,610 P 56,916,643 
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The movements in the fair value of plan assets are presented below.  
       

     2020   2019  
 

 Balance at beginning of year  P 53,419,139 P 42,644,803 
 Remeasurement gain (loss) - 
 return on plan assets (excluding  

amounts included in net  
interest) ( 14,333,790)   7,580,240  

 Interest income   2,772,453  3,194,096 
 
 Balance at end of year   P 41,857,802 P 53,419,139 
 

Plan assets consists only of the Parent Company’s own financial instruments  
(see Note 26.4).  The fair value of the equity securities are determined based on quoted 
market prices in active markets (classified as Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy). 
 
The components of amounts recognized in the consolidated statements of profit or 
loss and in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income in respect of the 
post-employment defined benefit plan are as follows:  

  
        Notes    2020   2019   2018  
  
   Recognized in consolidated 
     profit or loss: 
    Current service cost 24.1  P 2,953,974   P 2,290,508   P 2,100,323 
    Net interest expense 22.1   181,521    2,070,529    1,875,261 
 
        P 3,135,495   P 4,361,037   P 3,975,584 
  
   Recognized in consolidated 
    other comprehensive income (loss): 
    Actuarial losses (gains) 
     arising from: 

- experience adjustments  P 17,641,950   P (28,370,524)   P 6,822,830  
- remeasurement  

    loss (gain) on plan assets    14,333,790  (  7,580,240 )   2 4,823,385 
- changes in financial 

      assumptions    6,456,256    8,435,797  (  6,205,067 ) 
      
      28.2 P 38,431,996  ( P 27,514,967 )  P 25,441,148 
 

Current service cost is recognized as part of Salaries and employee benefits under 
General and Administrative Expenses account in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss (see Note 24.1).  The net interest expense is included as part of Finance 
costs under Other Income (Charges) account in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss (see Note 22.1). 

 
Amount recognized in consolidated other comprehensive income (loss) is included 
and presented as item that will not be reclassified subsequently to consolidated profit 
or loss. 
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In determining the amounts of post-employment defined benefit obligation, the 
following significant actuarial assumptions were used: 

 
       2020   2019  
  

   Discount rates    3.96%     5.19%   
   Expected rate of salary increases        3.00%     3.00%   

 
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on published statistics and 
mortality tables.  The average remaining working life of an individual retiring at  
the age of 60 is 22.4 years and 22.7 years as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, both for males and females.  These assumptions were developed by 
management with the assistance of an independent actuary.  Discount factors are 
determined close to the end of each reporting period by reference to the interest 
rates of a zero coupon government bond with terms to maturity approximating to 
the terms of the post-employment obligation.  Other assumptions are based on 
current actuarial benchmarks and management’s historical experience. 

 
(c) Risks Associated with the Post-employment Plan 
 

The plan exposes the Group to actuarial risks such as interest rate risk and longevity 
and salary risks. 

 
(i) Investment and Interest Risk 

 
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated using a discount 
rate determined by reference to market yields of government bonds.  Generally, 
a decrease in the interest rate of a reference government bonds will increase the 
plan obligation.  However, if the return on plan asset falls below this rate, it will 
create a deficit in the plan. Currently, the plan has investment in equity securities.  
Due to the long-term nature of the plan obligation, a level of continuing equity 
investments is an appropriate element of the Company’s long-term strategy to 
manage the plan efficiently. 

 
(ii) Longevity and Salary Risks 
 

The present value of the defined benefit obligation is calculated by reference to 
the best estimate of mortality of the plan participants both during and after their 
employment and to their future salaries.  Consequently, increases in the life 
expectancy and salary of the plan participants will result in an increase in the plan 
obligation. 

 
(d) Other Information 

 
The information on the sensitivity analysis for certain significant actuarial assumptions 
and the timing and uncertainty of future cash flows related to the post-employment 
defined benefit plan are described in the succeeding page.   
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(i) Sensitivity Analysis 
 

The following table summarizes the effects of changes in the significant actuarial 
assumptions used in the determination of the post-employment defined benefit 
obligation as of December 31, 2020 and 2019: 

 
   Impact on Post-employment Defined Benefit Obligation  
   Change in   Increase in   Decrease in  
   Assumption   Assumption   Assumption  
 
 December 31, 2020 
 
 Discount rate  +/- 1.0%  (P 5,348,270)  P 6,356,443 
 Salary growth rate  +/- 1.0%  6,353,780  ( 5,442,472 ) 
 
 December 31, 2019 
 
 Discount rate  +/- 1.0%  (P 4,054,228)  P 4,789,393 
 Salary growth rate  +/- 1.0%  4,849,047  ( 4,170,654 ) 
 

The sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an assumption while holding  
all other assumptions constant.  This analysis may not be representative of the 
actual change in the defined benefit obligation as it is unlikely that the change in 
assumptions would occur in isolation of one another as some of the assumptions 
may be correlated.  Furthermore, in presenting the sensitivity analysis, the present 
value of the defined benefit obligation has been calculated using the projected unit 
credit method at the end of the reporting period, which is the same as that applied 
in calculating the defined benefit obligation recognized in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 
 
The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did 
not change compared to the previous years.   

 
(ii) Funding Arrangements and Expected Contributions 

 
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has not determined yet the additional 
funding of its post-employment defined benefit obligation.  While there are no 
minimum funding requirement in the country, the size of the underfunding may 
pose a cash flow risk in the future when a significant number of employees is 
expected to retire. 

 
The maturity profile of undiscounted expected benefit payments in the next  
10 years from the plan as of December 31 follows:  
 

        2020   2019  
 
  Within five years  P 49,847,191 P 28,478,782 
   More than five years to 10 years  11,574,676  13,007,844 
 
      P 61,421,867 P 41,486,626 

 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the 
reporting period is 6.7 years.  
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25. INCOME TAXES 
 

25.1 Current and Deferred Taxes 
 
The components of tax expense (income) reported in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss and consolidated statements of comprehensive income are as follows: 

             
            2020   2019   2018  
   
 Reported in consolidated profit or loss: 
  Current tax expense: 
   Regular corporate 
    income tax (RCIT) at 30%   P 459,891,844   P 965,532,781   P 437,385,496 
   Final tax at 20% and 7.5%    17,916,299    59,723,260    13,251,558 
   Minimum corporate 
    income tax (MCIT) at 2%     -     2,814    25,033 
         477,808,143    1,025,258,855    450,662,087  
  Utilization of excess MCIT over RCIT   -   (    61,278 )   -   
         477,808,143    1,025,197,577    450,662,087 
  Deferred tax expense        
   relating to origination and   
   reversal of temporary differences   144,681,364    50,035,852    206,856,776 
 
        P 622,489,507   P 1,075,233,429  P 657,518,863 
 Reported in consolidated other 
  comprehensive income (loss) – 
   Deferred tax expense (income) 
    relating to remeasurement of  
    retirement benefit obligation  (P 11,529,599 )  P 8,254,490  ( P 7,632,344) 
 

The reconciliation of tax on pretax profit computed at the applicable statutory rates to tax 
expense reported in the consolidated statements of profit or loss is as follows: 

           
            2020   2019   2018  
 
 Tax on pretax profit at 30%   P 836,009,594   P 998,161,184   P 773,494,560 
 Adjustment for income   
  subjected to lower tax rates  ( 8,503,152) (  29,559,371 ) (  4,611,353) 
 Tax effects of: 

  Excess of optional standard deduction 
   (OSD) over itemized deductions ( 174,575,821 ) (  447,627,912) (   122,029,220 ) 

  Non-taxable income  ( 51,255,470)  (  60,441,740 ) (  3,914,058 ) 
  Non-deductible expenses and 

   other taxable income eliminated 
   during consolidation     20,090,576     612,064,445    9,306,915   

  Unrecognized deferred tax on net 
   operating loss carryover (NOLCO)   
   and other temporary differences   754,166    2,748,326    4,840,404  
  Applied NOLCO  (  30,386 ) (  20,766 ) (  199,309 ) 
  Applied MCIT    -   (   61,278 )   - 

  Utilization of previously unrecognized    
   DTA on NOLCO    -   (   29,459 )   - 

  Derecognition of deferred tax asset   
   on expired  NOLCO and MCIT   -     -      630,924  

 
        P 622,489,507   P 1,075,233,429   P 657,518,863 
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The net deferred tax liabilities relate to the following as of December 31:   
             
        2020   2019  
  
 Net deferred tax assets:    
  Excess deferred gross profit       
   on sale of condominium units    P 193,045,439    P 170,306,215 
  Commissions   (  1,548,819 )   -  
  Allowance for impairment 
   of receivables    720,275      629,774  
  Unrealized foreign currency loss    57,244    -   
          192,274,139    170,935,989 
 
 Net deferred tax liabilities: 
  Accrued rent income based on PFRS 16 
   (previously PAS 17)   (  1,266,933,803 ) (  1,104,421,225 ) 
  Advance rentals    86,328,284     134,591,368 
  Allowance for impairment 
   on receivables    51,581,482     28,021,475 
  ROU and lease liabilities      42,030,519    22,720,110 
  Retirement benefit obligation     35,609,864    22,247,937 
  Revaluation increment on land  (  5,714,368 ) (  5,714,368 ) 
  Unrealized foreign currency loss    388,360    293,175 
        (  1,056,709,662 ) (  902,261,528 ) 
 
 Net deferred tax liabilities  ( P 864,435,523 ) (P 731,325,539 ) 
 

Movements in net deferred tax liabilities for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 
2018 are as follows: 
 

   Profit or Loss   Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  
      2020   2019   2018   2020   2019   2018  
 
   Accrued rent income based 

    on PFRS 16 (previously 
PAS 17)  P 162,512,578   P 163,184,829   P 215,842,863  P -  P -  P -  

   Advance rentals   48,263,084    46,681,553    17,161,035    -     -   - 
   Allowance for impairment  
    of receivables ( 23,650,508) ( 14,303,027) ( 574,560)  -   -   - 
   Excess deferred gross profit on 
    sale of condominium units ( 22,739,224) ( 122,364,499) ( 25,551,237)  -   -   - 
   ROU and lease liabilities  ( 19,310,409) ( 22,720,110)   -    -   -   - 
   Retirement benefit  
    obligation ( 1,832,328) ( 1,968,796) ( 1,191,699) (  11,529,599)   8,254,490 (  7,632,344 ) 
  Commissions - net   1,548,819    -     -    -   -   -  
   Unrealized foreign 
    currency loss ( 160,621) ( 1,177,648)   -    -   -   -  
   NOLCO (  49,973)   2,159,164    2,881,604    -     -   - 
   MCIT   -     544,386    77,182   -   -   - 
   Deferred gain on sale of land    -     -     2,670,540   -   -   - 
   Unrealized foreign 
    currency gains     -     -     882,128   -   -   -  
 
   Deferred tax expense 
    (income) – net   P 144,681,364   P 50,035,852   P 206,856,776   (P 11,529,599) P 8,254,490  (P 7,632,344 )
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The Group is subject to MCIT which is computed at 2% of gross income, as defined 
under the tax regulations or RCIT, whichever is higher.  The Group is liable for RCIT  
in 2020, 2019 and 2018 since RCIT was higher than MCIT, except for R-1 which was 
subjected to MCIT in 2019 and 2018, and ACTTC in 2018. 

 
The Group did not recognize deferred tax assets on NOLCO and MCIT of certain 
subsidiaries as management has assessed that those subsidiaries may not be able to realize 
their related tax benefits within the prescribed availment period.  The total recognized and 
unrecognized deferred tax assets relating to NOLCO and MCIT is presented below. 
  

     2020   2019  
     Recognized   Unrecognized   Recognized   Unrecognized  
 
  NOLCO P -  P 6,042,914 P -  P 9,327,847 
  MCIT  -   27,847  -   336,851 
 
    P -  P 6,070,761 P -  P 9,664,698 

    
The details of NOLCO and MCIT related to the Parent Company’s certain subsidiaries, 
which can be claimed as deduction from future taxable income and regular corporate income 
tax liabilities, respectively, within three to five years from the year the NOLCO and MCIT 
were incurred are shown below.  Specifically, NOLCO incurred in 2020 of such subsidiaries 
can be claimed as deduction for the next five consecutive taxable years or until 2025 in 
accordance with Section 4 of R.A. 11494, Bayanihan to Recover as One Act. 

 
              Remaining 
  Year Incurred   Amount   Applied   Expired    Balance   Valid Until   
  
 NOLCO: 
 
  2020  P 1,398,990 P -  P -  P 1,398,990  2025 
  2019   9,122,820  -   -   9,122,820  2022  
  2018   9,621,235  -   -   9,621,235  2021  
  2017   12,348,767   -   (  12,348,767 )  -    
  
    P 32,491,812  P -   ( P 12,348,767 ) P 20,143,045 
 
 MCIT: 
 
  2019  P 2,814 P -  P -  P 2,814  2022  
  2018   25,033  -   -   25,033  2021 
  2017   370,282 (  61,278 ) (  309,004 )  -    
   
    P 398,129 (P  61,278) (P 309,004 ) P 27,847 

 
In 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Group claimed itemized deductions in computing its income 
tax due, except for the Parent Company and AHI, which opted to claim OSD in 2020, 
2019 and 2018; BAHI, which opted to claim OSD in 2020 and 2019; and ARHC, which 
opted to claim OSD in 2020. 
 

  

- 98 - 
 

25.2 Corporate Recovery and Tax Incentives for Enterprises (CREATE) Bill 
 

As of the date of the issuance of the 2020 consolidated financial statements of the Group, 
the CREATE Bill is yet to be enacted into a law. The CREATE Bill aims to lower certain 
corporate taxes and rationalize tax incentives given to certain taxpayers.  When enacted, 
based on the Bicameral Committee’s approved version, the effective regular corporate 
income tax rate applicable to the Group from January 1, 2020 to June 30, 2020 and 
July 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020 will be 30% and 25% , respectively.  Pending the 
enactment of the CREATE Bill, the Group used the prevailing regular corporate income 
tax rate of 30% as of December 31, 2020 in determining its current and deferred taxes in 
its 2020 consolidated financial statements.   
 
If the CREATE Bill is enacted into law before the filing of the annual income tax return 
(ITR) by the Parent Company and its subsidiaries, current income tax expense and income 
tax payable as presented in the annual ITR would be lower as compared to the amount 
presented in their respective 2020 financial statements. In addition, the recognized net 
deferred tax assets and liabilities as of December 31, 2020 would be remeasured at 25% in 
their respective 2021 financial statements. This will result in a decline in the recognized net 
deferred tax assets and liabilities in 2020 by P32.0 million and P176.1 million, respectively, 
and will be charged to 2021 profit or loss, unless it can be recognized in other 
comprehensive income as provided in applicable financial reporting standard. 
 

 
26. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
 

The Group’s related parties include its Ultimate Parent Company, associates, joint venture, 
related parties under common ownership and management, stockholders and key 
management personnel as described below.   
 
The summary of the Group’s transactions in 2020, 2019 and 2018 with its related parties 
and the outstanding balances as of December 31, 2020 and 2019 are presented below and 
in the succeeding pages. 

          
   Related Party      Outstanding Balances    Amount of Transactions   
   Category   Note   2020   2019   2020   2019   2018   
  
  Ultimate parent company: 
   Cash advances granted    26.1   P 440,851,531    P 436,680,854   P 4,170,677    P 6,325,443    P 29,930,357  
   Advances from purchase of land  26.2  ( 3,990,125,069) (  4,311,708,305)   321,583,236    292,458,713     40,000,000  
   Transfer of parcels of land   26.10    -     -     -   (  262,230,400 ) (  215,909,600 ) 
   Cash advances assumed   26.2  ( 42,993,085)   -   ( 42,993,085)   -     - 
   Right-of-use assets   26.3    152,548,532    158,198,478  ( 5,649,946)   158,198,478    -  
   Lease liability   26.3  ( 165,526,914) (  164,383,712) ( 1,143,202) (  164,383,712 )   -   
   Depreciation   26.3    -     -     5,649,946    5,649,946    -   
   Interest expense   26.3    -     -     12,425,602    11,299,906    -   
 
  Associates: 
   Cash advances granted    26.1    7,555,429     7,352,828    202,601    202,398     367,850  
   Rentals   26.3    -       -     -     -     55,405  
 
  Joint venture: 
   Cash advances granted (collected)  26.1    37,583,941     44,999,065  ( 7,415,124)  ( 51,068,314)   563,814  
   Construction contracts   26.5    27,673,758    55,570,424  ( 27,896,666)     26,657,431      -   
  
  Co-joint venturer - 
   Cash advances transferred  
   (obtained)   26.2    -   (         40,026,017) ( 40,026,017) (  40,026,017)   -   
 
  Related parties under common 
   ownership and management: 
   Cash advances granted  
   (collected)   26.1    168,244,877     171,615,532  ( 3,370,655)  ( 8,140,027 )   7,484,049  
   Cash advances paid (obtained)   26.2    -                 -     28,642,185    7,007,796   ( 6,578,958 ) 
   Association dues   26.7    39,439,101     17,428,870    32,476,130     32,618,698     26,177,767  
   Contracts of services   26.8    -       -     15,063,235     26,498,598     28,254,600  
   Other income   26.6    -        -        24,138,804    14,400,000    14,400,000  
   Rentals   26.3    -        -        -     58,175     115,795  
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   Related Party      Outstanding Balances    Amount of Transactions   
   Category   Note   2020   2019   2020   2019   2018   
 
  Stockholders: 
   Cash advances granted   26.1      97,055,100       84,003,075    13,052,025     9,009,168     22,893,817  
   Cash advances paid    26.2    -        -        -     -     11,461,396  
 
  Key management personnel –    
   Compensation   26.9    -     -     59,771,967     56,202,722     53,507,930  
 
  Retirement Fund     26.4    41,857,802   53,419,139  ( 11,561,337)  10,744,336   42,644,803 

 
The outstanding balance of receivables and payables from these transactions are 
unsecured, noninterest-bearing and due upon demand, unless otherwise stated.  
 
The Group’s outstanding receivables with related parties were subjected to impairment.  
The application of the ECL methodology and the corresponding movements in the 
allowance for ECL relating to the outstanding balances with related parties is fully 
disclosed in Note 5.2(b). 

 
26.1 Advances to Related Parties 
 
In the normal course of business, the Group grants unsecured and noninterest-bearing 
cash advances to related parties for working capital requirements and other purposes.  The 
advances have no fixed repayment terms and collectible upon demand. 

 
Certain advances to related parties are secured by an undertaking of another related party 
to pay in case of default.  These advances are presented as Advances to related parties 
under Receivables account in the consolidated statements of financial position  
(see Note 9). 

 
        2020   2019  
    
  Ultimate parent company     P  440,851,531 P  436,680,854 
 Related parties under common  
  ownership and management      168,244,877   171,615,532 
  Stockholders      97,055,100   84,003,075 
  Joint venture      37,583,941   44,999,065 
  Associates      7,555,429  7,352,828 
  
       P  751,290,878 P  744,651,354 

 
The movements in the carrying amount of the advances to related parties in 2020 and 2019 
are as follows:  

 
        2020   2019  
 
 Balance at beginning of year     P 744,651,354 P 788,322,686 
 Additions       31,185,660   376,675,636 
 Collections     (  24,546,136 ) (  420,346,968 ) 
    
 Balance at end of year     P 751,290,878 P 744,651,354 
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26.2 Advances from and Due to Related Parties 
 
The Group has outstanding amount due to the Ultimate Parent Company representing a 
payable for certain land acquired in prior years.  The Group also obtains cash advances 
from other related parties to assist its daily operational and other requirements.  These also 
include the portion of advances owed to ADI, which is presented as part of Advances 
from a Co-Joint Venturer in the 2019 consolidated statement of financial position.  In 
2020, the remaining advances owed to ADI amounting to P40.0 million are reclassified as 
part of advances from related parties due to the assumption of the liability by the Ultimate 
Parent Company. 
  
Advances from and due to related parties, which is presented as current liabilities consist 
of:  
 

        2020   2019  
     
 Ultimate parent company     P 4,033,118,154 P 4,311,708,305 
 Co-joint venturer      -    40,026,017
  
       P 4,033,118,154 P 4,351,734,322 
 

Advances from and due to related parties and the portion of advances owed to arise from 
and are considered as financing activities.  The reconciliation of the carrying amounts of 
these accounts with movements during the reporting periods as presented in the 
consolidated statements of cash flows is shown below. 

   
        2020   2019  
 
 Balance at beginning of year     P 4,351,734,322 P 4,611,174,814 
 Repayments     (  318,616,168 ) (  323,999,539 ) 
 Advances assumed due to 
  consolidation of ABCC        -    64,559,047 
   
 Balance at end of year     P 4,033,118,154 P 4,351,734,322 
 

Outstanding balances with related parties are unsecured, noninterest-bearing, have no 
fixed repayment and settlement terms, except as disclosed in Note 5.3, and are presented 
as Advances from and Due to Related Parties account in the consolidated statements of 
financial position. 
 
26.3 Rentals 

 
The Group leases certain parcels of land and portion of a building to its associates and 
other related parties under common ownership and management for terms ranging from 
one to 12 years and with annual escalation rate of 2.00%.  Rental income from these 
transactions amounted to P0.1 million in 2019 and P0.2 million in 2018.  There was no 
similar transaction in 2020.  There were no outstanding receivables from these transactions 
as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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The Group entered into a lease agreement with the Ultimate Parent Company for certain 
parcels of land with lease term of 30 years.  In 2019, in accordance with PFRS 16  
(see Note 16), the Group recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability amounting to 
P163.8 million for this lease arrangement.  The Group incurred amortization expense 
amounting to P5.6 million both in 2020 and 2019, and interest expense amounting to  
P12.4 million and P11.3 million in 2020 and 2019, respectively. 

 
26.4 Transactions with the Retirement Fund 
 
As discussed in Note 24.2, the Group is in the process of establishing a non-contributory 
post-employment benefit plan that is being administered by a trustee bank.  The quoted 
equity securities included in the plan assets pertain to the shares of the Parent Company 
measured at its fair value as of December 31, 2020.  

 
26.5 Contract Revenues and Receivables 
 
The Group and BRADCO entered into certain construction contracts in 2016 and prior 
years whereby the Group undertook to complete the design and construction of the roads 
and drainage system of certain lots situated at ABP.  The construction was completed in 
2017.  The related contract receivable, which is unsecured, noninterest-bearing and payable 
in 90 days, amounting to P22.7 million and P50.9 million and retention receivable 
amounting to P5.0 million and P4.7 million as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively, are included as part of Contract receivables and Retention receivables under 
Receivables account in the consolidated statements of financial position (see Note 9).   

 
26.6 Other Income from Rendering of Administrative Services 

 
The Group recognized income amounting to P24.1 million in 2020 and P14.4 million in 
2019 and 2018 from rendering of various administrative services to its related parties and 
are included as part of Other Operating Income account in the consolidated statements of 
profit or loss (see Note 22.3).  There are no outstanding receivables related to these 
transactions. 
 
26.7 Association Dues 
 
The Group incurred association dues amounting to P32.5 million in 2020, P32.6 millon, and 
P26.2 million and in 2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively, as member of Aseana Business Park 
Estate Association and Aseana Power Station Association, Inc., which are presented as part 
of Association dues under General and Administrative Expenses account in the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss (see Note 23).  Outstanding payables, which are due upon 
demand, related to these transactions amounting to P39.4 million and P17.4 million as of 
December 31, 2020 and 2019, respectively, are included as part of Trade payables under 
Trade and Other Payables account in the consolidated statements of financial position  
(see Note 19).  
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26.8 Contracts of Services 
 
On October 13, 2010, the Group renewed its contract of services with a certain related 
party under common ownership and management.  Under such contract, the same related 
party will provide consultancy, management and labor services to the Group upon the 
latter’s request.  Total costs incurred related to these contracts amounted to P15.1 million 
P26.5 million, and P28.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 and 2018, 
respectively, and are shown as part of Cost of construction contracts under Costs of 
Services and Sales account in the consolidated statements of profit or loss (see Note 21.1).  
There was no outstanding liability related to this transaction as of December 31, 2020 and 
2019.  

 
26.9 Key Management Personnel Compensation 

 
Compensation paid to key management personnel consist of short-term benefits, which 
include among others, salaries and allowances, bonuses and other employee benefits 
amounting to P59.8 million, P56.2 million, and P53.5 million in 2020, 2019, and 2018, 
respectively.  There are no outstanding liabilities arising from this transaction. 

 
26.10 Transfer of Land to ARHC 

 
In 2017, the Group purchased certain property from WHI to be used for the Group’s 
residential project.  The property is presented as part of Property Development Costs 
account while the liability, which was noninterest-bearing and due upon demand, was  
fully paid in 2019. 

 
 
27. EARNINGS PER SHARE 
 

Basic and diluted earnings per share were computed as follows: 
 
            2020   2019   2018  
 
 Net profit attributable to the equity  
  shareholders of the Parent Company  P 2,130,725,241   P 2,374,037,110   P 1,911,245,490 
 Divided by weighted average number 
  of outstanding common shares*    3,395,864,100    3,395,864,100    3,056,277,650 
 
 Basic and diluted earnings per share   P 0.627   P 0.699   P 0.625 
 

*The Group has no potential dilutive common shares as of December 31, 2020, 2019 and 
2018. 
 
 

28. EQUITY  
 

28.1 Capital Stock 
 

The Parent Company has an authorized capital stock of P4,000,000,000 divided into 
4,000,000,000 shares with a par value of P1 per share, of which 3,395,864,100 shares or 
P3,395,864,100 are issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2020 and 2019. 
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On March 6, 2018, the Parent Company filed its application with the PSE for the listing  
of its common shares, which was approved by the PSE on May 23, 2018.  Also on  
March 6, 2018, the Parent Company filed a Registration Statement covering the Initial 
Public Offering (IPO) of its common shares with the PSE, in accordance with the 
provisions of the SEC’s Securities Regulation Code.  Pursuant to its filing with the PSE,  
on June 29, 2018, the Parent Company issued through the IPO the additional 679,172,800 
common shares at P12.00 price per share generating offering proceeds of P8,150.1 million.  
The related additional paid-in capital arising from the IPO, after deducting transaction 
costs associated with the issuance of shares, amounted to P6,964.6 million.  The common 
share price closed at P7.6 per share and P9.9 per share as of December 31, 2020 and 2019, 
respectively. 
 
In 2015, the Parent Company issued 3,216,910 common shares at par value of  
P100.00 per share to a certain individual stockholder pursuant to a deed of exchange  
(see Note 15). 

 
On May 14, 2020, the Parent Company’s BOD unanimously approved a P1,000.0 million 
buyback program of the Parent Company’s shares through the open market on the PSE 
subject to applicable SEC and PSE rules, for a period of two years or upon full utilization 
of the appropriated amount, whichever comes first.  The Parent Company acknowledges 
that the share buyback program shall have an effect on the Parent Company’s Minimum 
Public Ownership (MPO), and that it commits to bringing the MPO to the required 
percentage within a period of twelve months.  As of the date of issuance of the 2020 
consolidated financial statements, the SEC is yet to approve the Parent Company’s 
buyback program. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, there are 12 holders of the listed common shares owning at 
least one board lot of 100 shares.  The public float lodged with PCD Nominee is counted 
as one stockholder only. 
 
28.2 Revaluation Reserves  
 
The movements of this account in 2020, 2019 and 2018 are as follows:  
  
      Retirement    
      Benefit     
    Investment  Obligation  Financial Assets    
    Properties   (see Notes 24.2   at FVOCI   
    (see Note 2.25)   and 25)   (see Note 17.2)   Total  
 
 Balance as of 
  January 1, 2020 P 19,047,893 (P 27,491,376)  P 299,863  (P 8,143,620)  
 Remeasurements of 
  post-employment 
  defined benefit plan  -  ( 38,431,996)   -   ( 38,431,996) 
 Fair value loss on  
  financial assets    
  at FVOCI  -    -   ( 26,205,316) ( 26,205,316)  
 Other comprehensive 
  loss before tax  -  ( 38,431,996) ( 26,205,316) ( 64,637,312) 
 Tax income  -    11,529,599               -     11,529,599  
 Other comprehensive 
  loss after tax  -  ( 26,902,397) ( 26,205,316) ( 53,107,713) 
   
 Balance as of 
  December 31, 2020 P 19,047,893 (P 54,393,773) (P 25,905,453) (P 61,251,333)  
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      Retirement    
      Benefit     
    Investment  Obligation   Financial Assets    
    Properties   (see Notes 24.2   at FVOCI   
    (see Note 2.25)   and 25)   (see Note 17.2)   Total  
 
  
 Balance as of 
  January 1, 2019 P 19,047,893 (P 46,751,853) (P 820,375) (P 28,524,335) 
 Remeasurements of 
  post-employment 
  defined benefit plan  -    27,514,967    -     27,514,967  
 Fair value gain on  
  financial assets    
  at FVOCI  -    -     1,120,238    1,120,238   
 Other comprehensive 
  income before tax  -    27,514,967    1,120,238    28,635,205   

  Tax expense  -  ( 8,254,490)   -   ( 8,254,490) 
 Other comprehensive 
  income after tax  -    19,260,477    1,120,238    20,380,715 
      
 Balance as of 
  December 31, 2019 P 19,047,893 (P 27,491,376)  P 299,863  (P 8,143,620) 
 
 Balance as of 
  January 1, 2018 P 19,047,893 (P 28,943,049) (P 1,040,020) ( P 10,935,176) 
 Remeasurements of 
  post-employment 
  defined benefit plan  -  ( 25,441,148)   -   (  25,441,149) 
 Fair value gain on  
  financial assets    
  at FVOCI  -    -     219,645    219,645   
 Other comprehensive 
  income (loss)    
  before tax  -  ( 25,441,148)    219,645  (  25,221,503) 
 Tax income  -    7,632,344    -     7,632,344  
 Other comprehensive 
 income (loss) after tax              -  ( 17,808,804)   219,645  ( 17,589,159) 
   

 Balance as of 
  December 31, 2018 P 19,047,893 (P 46,751,853) (P 820,375) (P 28,524,335) 

  
In 2003, certain parcel of land located in Quezon City, classified as property and equipment, 
was appraised by independent appraisers and resulted in revaluation increment of  
P19.0 million.  In 2007, upon change of the intention of the management, such parcel of 
land was transferred from property and equipment to investment property at the appraised 
amount of P30.4 million.  As of December 31, 2020, the parcel of land is held by the 
management for capital appreciation.  The amount of revaluation reserves of the land 
remains to be recognized under equity until the land is derecognized.   
 
28.3 Unrestricted Retained Earnings 
 
Under the Philippine Corporation Code (the Code), stock corporations are prohibited 
from retaining surplus profits (or retained earnings) in excess of their paid-in capital, 
except when justified by any of the reasons mentioned in the Code. 

 
 
 
 



178   |  D.M. WENCESLAO & ASSOCIATES, INCORPORATED 2020 ANNUAL AND SUSTAINABILITY REPORT   |  179

- 105 - 
 

In meetings held on December 23, 2013 and October 8, 2012, the Parent Company’s 
BOD approved the appropriation of the unrestricted retained earnings of the Parent 
Company amounting to P500.0 million and P700.0 million, respectively, necessary to cover 
the business expansion of the Group as part of its long term corporate strategy.  Relative 
to this, the Group was able to complete two additional buildings under similar nature and 
purpose of its existing investment properties in 2017 and 2018.  Also in 2018, the Group 
commenced the construction of a new building, which was completed in 2020.  As of 
December 31, 2020, the Group has two additional ongoing projects for leasing activities, 
which are expected to be completed on various dates within 2022 to 2024.  Accordingly, 
the management has retained the appropriation until the expected completion of the  
on-going development of its most recent projects, which shall add to its existing portfolio 
of investment properties. 

 
As a matter of policy, stockholders may be entitled to receive, upon declaration by the 
Parent Company’s BOD and subject to the availability of unrestricted retained earnings, 
dividends equivalent to at least 30% of the prior year’s net income after tax based on the 
Parent Company’s audited financial statements as of such year, except when: (i) justified by 
definite corporate expansion projects or programs approved by the Parent Company’s 
BOD; (ii) when the Group is prohibited under any loan agreement with any financial 
institution or creditor, whether local or foreign, from declaring dividends without its 
consent, and such consent has not been secured; or (iii) when it can be clearly shown that 
retention of earnings is necessary under special circumstances obtaining in the Group, such 
as when there is a need for special reserves for probable contingencies. 
 
In 2020 and 2019, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends 
of P0.047 per share or equivalent to P160.0 million and P0.035 per share or equivalent to 
P120.0 million out of its unrestricted retained earnings as of December 31, 2019 and 2018 
to stockholders of records as of March 11, 2020 and March 4, 2019, respectively.  Such 
dividends were fully paid in the same year of declaration.   
 
Also in 2020 and 2019, BAHI’s BOD approved the declaration of cash dividends of  
P100 per share and P200 per share to its stockholders of records as of August 13, 2020 
and October 31, 2019, respectively.  Of the total cash dividends, P200.0 million and  
P404.5 million is attributable and fully paid to other shareholders of BAHI in 2020 and 
2019, respectively. 
 
Subsequently in March 2021, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of 
cash dividends, which shall be taken out of the unrestricted earnings of the Parent 
Company as of December 31, 2020 (see Note 32). 

 
28.4 Other Reserves 

 
Other Reserves account in the consolidated statements of financial position includes the 
excess of the consideration paid by the Group for the additional 40% direct ownership in  
FI and the excess minority share in net assets of UCTPI over the cost of additional 
investments acquired by the Group in previous years which amounted to P297.4 million  
and P21.4 million, respectively. 
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29. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

The following are the significant commitments and contingencies involving the Group: 
 

29.1 Operating Leases – Group as a Lessor 
 
The Group is a lessor under operating leases covering certain real estate properties 
presented in the consolidated statements of financial position as Investment Properties.  
Lease agreements with large tenants have terms ranging from five to 45 years with monthly 
rental payment on certain rate per square meter of leased area subject to annual escalation 
rates of 5.00% to 10.00% per annum.  Some lease agreements have a term of one year, 
subject to annual renewal and monthly payment of minimum rental plus additional rental 
based on certain percentage of the lessee’s gross sales.   

 
The future minimum lease collections under these operating leases as of the end of the 
reporting periods are as follows: 
 

            2020   2019   2018  
 
 Within one year   P 1,125,340,220   P 1,188,416,411   P 1,051,641,523 
  After one year but not more than 
   two years     1,116,198,259    1,144,817,861    1,154,348,489 
  After two years but not more than  
   three years     789,636,576    1,115,943,947    1,099,540,645 
  After three years but not more than 
   four years     599,029,983    793,305,118    1,047,622,338 
  After four years but not more than 
   five years     508,305,072    602,117,416    664,091,062 
 More than five years    31,861,464,258    32,319,145,099    32,173,993,819 
 
        P35,999,974,368   P37,163,745,852   P37,191,237,876 
 

The total rent income recognized on investment properties amounted to P1,787.6 million, 
P1,772.5 million and P1,727.4 million, including rent income resulting from the application 
of the straight-line basis of revenue recognition in accordance with PFRS 16 (previously  
PAS 17) amounting to P500.5 million, P568.1 million and P716.8 million in 2020, 2019 and 
2018, respectively, and are presented as Land and Building Rentals under Revenues account 
in the consolidated statements of profit or loss.   
 
Variable rent, which pertains to a certain percentage share in the lessees’ revenues, is included 
as part of total rent income amounting to P22.0 million, P28.6 million and P13.0 million in 
2020, 2019 and 2018, respectively. 
 
29.2 Legal Claims 

 
There are pending claims and legal actions filed by the Group or against the Group arising 
from the normal course of its business.  Management believes that the ultimate liability, if 
any, with respect to such litigations, claims and disputes will not materially affect the financial 
position and results of operations of the Group.  
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29.3 Deficiency Tax Assessments 
 

The Group has certain final deficiency tax assessment and has received letters of authority 
from the BIR, pursuant to which the BIR has sought to investigate certain tax periods of 
the Group and consequently examine certain books, records and accounts that relate to 
transactions in the ordinary course of business.  There are final deficiency tax assessments 
in the ordinary course of business against the Parent Company that are pending with the 
BIR covering taxable years 2013 and 2009.  Pursuant to the Group’s policy of addressing 
such actions in line with prudent business practice, the Group has engaged tax counsels 
and advisors in relation to these matters. 

 
As of December 31, 2020, the final deficiency tax assessments are still under protest. 
Management believes that the Group has enough legal basis under the law, Supreme Court 
and Court of Tax Appeals decisions and evidence to support their claim; hence, no 
provisions were recognized in the consolidated financial statements. 
 
29.4 Capital Commitments in Aseana City 

 
Aseana City is an integrated community currently being developed by the Group, which  
is situated on the land reclaimed by the Group and home of several entertainment, 
commercial and residential establishments.  The Group has capital commitments 
pertaining to the estimated development costs (i.e., civic and structural works; power, 
water and telecommunication distribution systems; roadworks and streetlights; drainage 
and sewerage systems; and, the estimated restoration costs thereto) of such parcels of  
land whereby the Group has an unconditional obligation to complete the development  
of the parcels of land in accordance with the entire estate of Aseana City.  The estimated 
liability for land development costs is based on the estimates of the engineering 
department of the Parent Company.  The details of these capital commitments in  
Aseana City are shown below. 

 
           Land and Land   Land under 
           Development  Investment 
           Costs   Properties 
           (see Note 11)   (see Note 15)   Total  

 
December 31, 2020: 

   Gross valuation    P 3,025,260,857   P15,584,518,464   P  18,609,779,321 
   Estimated liability for  
    land development costs   ( 912,724,133 ) (  5,680,228,573 ) (  6,592,952,706 ) 
  
 Net amounts     P 2,112,536,724   P 9,904,289,891   P  12,016,826,615 

 
December 31, 2019: 

   Gross valuation    P 3,025,260,857   P14,954,518,464   P  17,979,779,321 
   Estimated liability for  
    land development costs   ( 1,012,767,207 ) (  6,086,976,154 ) (  7,099,743,361 ) 
  
 Net amounts     P 2,012,493,650   P 8,867,542,310   P  10,880,035,960 
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The movements in the estimated land development costs are as follows: 
 
        2020   2019  
 
 Balance at beginning of year     P 7,099,743,361 P 7,398,607,928 
  Development costs incurred during the year  (  506,790,655 ) (  298,864,567 ) 
  
   Balance at end of year       P 6,592,952,706 P 7,099,743,361 
 
 

29.5 Reclaimed Land and Others 
 
The Group’s existing land holdings in Aseana City, which were obtained pursuant to  
certain series of agreements involving reclamation and related projects with the Philippine 
Government, are entirely located on reclaimed foreshore land.  Although the Group holds 
registered titles to these land holdings, Philippine law provides that issuance of titles does 
not create or vest title, but only constitutes evidence of ownership over such properties.  In 
view of this, the Group’s ownership, registration, and possession of titles and actual 
possession of these land holdings do not negate the possibility that the Philippine 
Government or third parties may at any time, file lawsuits to challenge the Group’s rights  
to these land holdings.  While the PRA and the Philippine Office of the Government 
Corporate Counsel (OGCC) are of the opinion that the Group’s titles can no longer be 
invalidated, there is no assurance that the Philippine Government or third parties will not 
challenge the Group’s rights to such reclaimed lands in the future.  Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, the Group is not aware of the validity of the Group’s titles being questioned, 
impugned, challenged or invalidated by the Philippine Government or any other third party 
since the time the Group acquired ownership over these land holdings in Aseana City and 
up to the audit report date.  In addition to the opinions of the PRA and OGCC, 
management believes that the Group has enough basis in law and in the decisions of the 
relevant courts, to support the validity of its titles and ownership over these subject 
properties. 
 
There are other commitments, litigations and contingencies that arise in the normal course 
of the Group’s operations which are not reflected in the consolidated financial statements.  
As of December 31, 2020, management is of the opinion that losses, if any, from these 
commitments and contingencies will not have material effects on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

30. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES, POLICIES AND PROCEDURES 
 

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure that the Group maintains a strong 
credit rating and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business and maximize 
shareholder value.  
 
The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it, in the light of 
changes in economic conditions primarily those current and expected future events that 
affect or likely to affect the real estate and leasing sector.  To maintain or adjust the capital 
structure, the Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, pay-off existing 
debts, return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. 
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The Group monitors its capital gearing by measuring the ratio of loans and borrowings to 
total capital and net loans and borrowings to total capital.  Loans include all short-term and 
long-term borrowings while net interest-bearing loans include all short-term and  
long-term loans net of cash and cash equivalents.  

 
As of December 31, 2020 and 2019, the Group’s ratios of net interest-bearing loans to 
total capital are as follows:  

             
     Notes   2020   2019  
 
 Total loans and borrowings  18 P 1,397,020,000  P 511,720,000 
 Less: Cash and cash equivalents   
  and short-term placements  8, 12 (  5,014,489,615 ) (  7,271,402,211 ) 
 Net loans and borrowings (a)  (  3,617,469,615 ) (  6,759,682,211 ) 
  
 Total equity    22,284,284,887   20,533,182,994  
 
 Net loans and borrowings   
  and equity (b)  P18,666,815,272   P 13,773,500,783 
  
 Gearing ratio (a/b)   -19%  -49% 
 

Certain loans with a local bank are subject to a cross default arrangement wherein if  
the Group fails to pay or default in the payments of any installment of the principal or 
interest, the Group’s obligation will become due and demandable without the need for  
notice of demand for payment.  Moreover, if the Group fails to comply with or commits 
breach or violation of any term, condition or stipulation of any other agreement, contract,  
or document with the lending bank, the Group’s obligation to the lending bank and any of 
the lending bank’s related parties will only become due and demandable upon notice of 
demand for payment. 
 
With regard to the loans of the Group, it has complied with the financial, affirmative and 
negative covenants except that a subsidiary exceeded the required current ratio in its own 
financial statements.  The Group has been up to date in servicing of the loans and has not 
received any written notice, as of the date of the issuance of the consolidated financial 
statements, that the loans are due and demandable, which is also as provided for in the loan 
covenants as a basis to reclassify the loan to current as discussed above.  Moreover, the fair 
value of the properties used as collaterals exceed the carrying value of the Group’s loans and 
borrowings. 
 
The Group has no other significant loan covenants in 2020 and 2019 (see Note 18). 
 

 
31. SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION ON NON-CASH ACTIVITIES 

 
The following discusses the supplemental information on non-cash activities as presented 
in the consolidated statements of cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2020, 2019 
and 2018: 

 
 In 2020, Advances from Co-joint Venturer amounting to P40.0 million was reclassified 

as part of Advances from and Due to Related Parties due to the assumption of the 
liability by the Ultimate Parent Company (see Note 26.2). 
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 In 2019, the Group reclassified certain parcels of land which were previously presented 
under Land and Land Development Costs to Investment Properties amounting to 
P231.6 million (see Notes 11 and 15).  There was no similar transaction in 2020 and 
2018. 

 
 In 2019, total advances amounting to P64.6 million were assumed by the Group due 

to the consolidation of ABCC [see Notes 13.2(b) and 26.2].  There was no similar 
transaction in 2020 and 2018. 
 

 In 2019, the Group reclassified certain parcels of land amounting to P397.8 million 
from investment properties to property development costs (see Notes 10.1 and 15).  
There was no similar transaction in 2020 and 2018. 
 

 In 2019, the Group reclassified a portion of the investment properties amounting to 
P231.7 million to property and equipment representing the portion of a certain 
building held for administrative purposes (see Notes 14 and 15).  There was no similar 
transaction in 2020 and 2018. 

 
 In 2019, the Group reclassified Investment in Joint Venture Held for Termination to 

Land under Investment Properties amounting to P163.3 million [see Note 13.2(b)].  
There was no similar transaction in 2020 and 2018.  

 
 In 2019, the Company recognized right-of-use asset and lease liability both amounting 

to P163.8 million (see Note 16). 
 

 In 2020, 2019 and 2018, the Group capitalized certain portion of depreciation of 
property and equipment amounting to P39.2 million, P36.1 million and P14.6 million, 
respectively, as part of land and land development costs [see Notes 2.5(a) and 14]. 
 

 In 2018, the Group reclassified its investment in a joint venture which was previously 
presented under Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures to Investment in Joint 
Venture Held for Termination amounting to P127.1 million (see Note 13).  There was 
no similar transaction in 2020 and 2019. 
 

 In 2018, capitalized borrowing costs to investment properties amounted to  
P28.3 million (see Notes 15 and 18).  There was no similar transaction in 2020 and 
2019. 

 
 
32. EVENT AFTER THE END OF THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
On March 3, 2021, the Parent Company’s BOD approved the declaration of cash 
dividends of P0.047 per share or equivalent to P160.0 million to stockholders of record  
as of March 22, 2021.  The dividends which is payable on April 8, 2021, shall be taken  
out of the unrestricted earnings of the Parent Company as of December 31, 2020. 
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Certified Public Accountants 
Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A) is the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). 
 
Offices in Cavite, Cebu, Davao 
BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 
SEC Accreditation No. 0002-FR-5  

grantthornton.com.ph 

 
Report of Independent Auditors  
to Accompany Supplementary  
Information Required by the  
Securities and Exchange Commission  
Filed Separately from the Basic  
Consolidated Financial Statements 

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
(A Subsidiary of Wendel Holdings Co., Inc.)
15th Floor, Aseana 3 
D. Macapagal Blvd. corner Asean Ave., Aseana City 
Parañaque City

We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated and Subsidiaries 
(the Group) for the year ended December 31, 2020, on which we have rendered our report 
dated March 3, 2021.  Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on the basic 
consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.  The applicable supplementary information 
(see List of Supplementary Information) is presented for purposes of additional analysis in 
compliance with the requirements of the Revised Securities Regulation Code Rule 68, and is 
not a required part of the basic consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with 
Philippine Financial Reporting Standards.  Such supplementary information is the responsibility 
of the Group’s management.  The supplementary information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic consolidated financial statements and, in 
our opinion, is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to the basic consolidated financial 
statements taken as a whole.

   PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

By: John Endel S. Mata
Partner

CPA Reg. No. 0121347
TIN: 257-622-627
PTR No. 8533233, January 4, 2021, Makati City
SEC Group A Accreditation

Partner – No. 121347-SEC (until Dec. 31, 2023)
Firm – No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024)

BIR AN 08-002551-040-2019 (until Dec. 15, 2022)
Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Jul. 24, 2021)

March 3, 2021
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Punongbayan & Araullo 
20th Floor, Tower 1 
The Enterprise Center 
6766 Ayala Avenue 
1200 Makati City 
Philippines 
 

T +63 2 8988 22 88 

   

Certified Public Accountants 
Punongbayan & Araullo (P&A) is the Philippine member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). 
 
Offices in Cavite, Cebu, Davao 
BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 
SEC Accreditation No. 0002-FR-5  

grantthornton.com.ph 

Report of Independent Auditors  
on Components of Financial  
Soundness Indicators 
 
 
 
 
The Board of Directors and Stockholders
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated and Subsidiaries
(A Subsidiary of Wendel Holdings Co., Inc.)
15th Floor, Aseana 3 
D. Macapagal Blvd. corner Asean Ave., Aseana City 
Parañaque City
 
We have audited, in accordance with Philippine Standards on Auditing, the consolidated 
financial statements of D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated and Subsidiaries (the 
Group) for the year ended December 31, 2020 and 2019, on which we have rendered our 
report dated March 3, 2021.  Our audit was made for the purpose of forming an opinion on 
the basic consolidated financial statements taken as a whole.  The Supplementary Schedule 
on Financial Soundness Indicators, including their definitions, formulas, calculation, and their 
appropriateness or usefulness to the intended users, are the responsibility of the Group’s 
management.  These financial soundness indicators are not measures of operating 
performance defined by Philippine Financial Reporting Standards (PFRS) and may not be 
comparable to similarly titled measures presented by other companies.  This schedule is 
presented for the purposes of complying with the Revised Securities Regulation Code 
Rule 68 issued by the Securities and Exchange Commission, and is not a required part of the 
basic consolidated financial statements prepared in accordance with PFRS.  The components 
of these financial soundness indicators have been traced to the Group’s consolidated 
financial statements as at December 31, 2020 and 2019 and for each of the two years in the 
period ended December 31, 2020 and no material exceptions were noted.
 
 

     PUNONGBAYAN & ARAULLO 

By: John Endel S. Mata
Partner

CPA Reg. No. 0121347
TIN: 257-622-627
PTR No. 8533233, January 4, 2021, Makati City
SEC Group A Accreditation

Partner – No. 121347-SEC (until Dec. 31, 2023)
Firm – No. 0002 (until Dec. 31, 2024)

BIR AN 08-002551-040-2019 (until Dec. 15, 2022)
Firm’s BOA/PRC Cert. of Reg. No. 0002 (until Jul. 24, 2021)

March 3, 2021
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D.M. WENCESLAO AND ASSOCIATES, INC. 
Supplemental Schedule of Financial Soundness Indicators 

December 31, 2020 and 2019 
 
 

Ratio Formula 2020 Formula 2019 
Current 
ratio 

Total Current Assets divided by Total 
Current Liabilities 
 
Total Current Assets 12,249,418,082 
Divide by: Total Current 
 Liabilities 8,356,600,808 
Current ratio 1.47 
 

1.47 Total Current Assets divided by Total 
Current Liabilities 
 
Total Current Assets       13,509,277,300 
Divide by: Total Current 
 Liabilities          8,400,854,268 
Current ratio 1.61 

 

1.61 

Acid test 
ratio 

Quick assets (Total Current Assets less 
Other Current Assets) divided by Total 
Current Liabilities 
 
Total Current Assets        12,249,418,082 
Less:  Contract Assets          (92,002,207) 
          Land and land   
              Development  
              Costs                 (2,112,536,724) 
          Property Development 
              Costs                 (1,068,576,685) 
 Other Current  
              Assets*              (1,288,156,315) 
Quick Assets 7,688,146,151 
Divide by: Total Current 
 Liabilities                  8,356,600,808 
Acid test ratio 0.92 
 

0.92 Quick assets (Total Current Assets less 
Other Current Assets) divided by Total 
Current Liabilities 
 
Total Current Assets        13,509,277,300 
Less:  Contract Assets         (54,191,980) 
          Land and land   
              Development  
              Costs                 (2,012,493,650) 
          Property Development 
              Costs                 (1,168,060,707) 
 Other Current  
              Assets*                 (826,384,807) 
Quick Assets 9,448,146,156 
Divide by: Total Current 
 Liabilities                   8,400,854,268 
Acid test ratio  1.12 
 

1.12 

Solvency 
ratio 

Total Assets divided by Total Liabilities 
 
Total Assets 32,857,021,502 
Divide by: Total  
    Liabilities 10,572,736,615 
Solvency ratio 3.11 
 

3.11 Total Assets divided by Total Liabilities 
 
Total Assets 31,266,798,209 
Divide by: Total  
    Liabilities 10,733,615,215 
Solvency ratio 2.91 
 

2.91 

Debt-to-
equity 
ratio 

Total Loans and Borrowings divided by 
Total Equity Attributable to Owners of 
Parent Company 
 
Total Loans and  
    Borrowings 1,397,020,000 
Divide by: Total Equity 
    Attributable to Owners    
    of Parent Company 21,704,354,107 
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.06 
 

0.06 Total Loans and Borrowings divided by 
Total Equity Attributable to Owners of 
Parent Company 
 
Total Loans and  
    Borrowings 511,720,000 
Divide by: Total Equity 
    Attributable to Owners    
    of Parent Company 19,986,736,113 
Debt-to-equity ratio 0.03 
 

0.03 

Assets-
to-equity 
ratio 

Total Assets divided by Total Equity 
Attributable to Owners of Parent 
Company 
 
Total Assets 32,857,021,502 
Divide by: Total Equity 
    Attributable to Owners    
    of Parent Company 21,704,354,108 
Asset-to-equity ratio 1.51 
 

1.51 Total Assets divided by Total Equity 
Attributable to Owners of Parent 
Company 
 
Total Assets 31,266,798,209 
Divide by: Total Equity 
    Attributable to Owners    
    of Parent Company 19,986,736,113 
Asset-to-equity ratio 1.56 
 

1.56 

Interest 
rate 
coverage 
ratio 

Earnings before interest and taxes (EBIT) 
divided by Interest expense 
 
EBIT 2,875,377,130 
Divide by: Interest expense 23,602,439 
Interest rate coverage ratio 121.83 
 

121.83 EBIT divided by Interest expense 
 
 
EBIT 3,624,124,718 
Divide by: Interest expense 82,227,742 
Interest rate coverage ratio 44.01 
 

44.01 

*Excluding Short-term placements 
 

Ratio Formula 2020 Formula 2019 
Return on 
equity 

Net Profit divided by Total Equity  
 
Net Profit 2,164,209,139 
Divide by:  Average 
                 Total Equity  21,408,733,940 
Return on equity 0.10 
 

0.10 Net Profit divided by Total Equity  
 
Net Profit 2,251,970,516 
Divide by:  Average 
                 Total Equity   19,699,580,687 
Return on equity 0.11 
 

0.11 

Return on 
assets 

Net Profit divided by Average Total 
Assets 
 
Net Profit 2,164,209,138 
Divide by: Average  
                   Total Assets 32,061,909,855 
Return on assets 0.07 
 

0.07 Net Profit divided by Average Total 
Assets 
 
Net Profit 2,251,970,516 
Divide by: Average 
                  Total Assets 30,527,756,895 
Return on assets 0.07 
 

0.07 

Net profit 
margin 

Net Profit divided by Total Revenue 
 
Net Profit 2,164,209,139 
Divide by: Total Revenue 2,734,364,926 
Net profit margin 0.79 
 

0.79 Net Profit divided by Total Revenue 
 
Net Profit 2,251,970,516 
Divide by: Total Revenue 3,513,391,951 
Net profit margin 0.64 
 

0.64 

Debt Ratio Total Loans and Borrowings divide by 
Total Assets 
 
Total Loans and  
    Borrowings 1,397,020,000 
Divide by: Total Assets 32,857,021,502 
Debt ratio 0.04 
 

0.04 Total Loans and Borrowings divide by 
Total Assets 
 
Total Loans and  
    Borrowings 511,720,000 
Divide by: Total Assets 31,266,798,209 
Debt ratio 0.02 
 

0.02 

Gross Profit 
Margin 

Gross Profit divided by Total Revenue 
 
Gross Profit 2,071,234,775 
Divide by: Total Revenue 2,734,364,926 
Gross profit margin 0.76 
 

0.76 Gross Profit divided by Total Revenue 
 
Gross Profit 2,819,084,125 
Divide by: Total Revenue 3,513,391,951 
Gross profit margin 0.80 
 

0.80 
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Our common shares are traded on the Philippine Stock Exchange 
under the stock ticker symbol DMW. 

Investor Relations Office
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated
15th Floor, Aseana 3 Building,
Pres. D. Macapagal Boulevard corner Asean Avenue,
Parañaque City, Metro Manila, Philippines
Tel:  +632 8854 5711 
Email:  iro@dmwai.com 

For inquiries about dividend payments, or to report a change of 
address or lost stock certificate, or to request account information 
changes, please contact our stock transfer agent: 

RCBC Stock Transfer Processing Section
G/F Grepalife Bldg., 219 Sen. Gil Puyat Ave., Makati City, Metro Manila
Tel:  +632 8894 9000 locals 3690, 3691, 3693, 3694
Fax:  +632 8892 3139
Email:  rcbcstocktransfer@rcbc.com

Corporate 
 Information

CREDITS

Concept and Design:
D.M. Wenceslao & Associates, Incorporated
Raymund M. Vicente
Cybele Aimee J. Manlapaz 
 
Portraiture:
Carla Barretto Productions

Operational Photography:
Angelo Carpio and Van Rafael Libao
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15th Floor Aseana 3 Building 
Pres. D. Macapagal Boulevard corner Asean Avenue 

Aseana City, Parañaque City, Philippines 
Tel:   +632 854 5711
 info@dmwai.com
www.dmwai.com


